
 
 

 
 
 

A G E N D A 
 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

Monday 23 November 2020 at 6.30 pm 
Virtual Meeting - Online 

 
 

 

Members:  Councillor Woodward (Chairman), Councillors Thomson (Vice-Chairman), Atwood, 
Bland, Chapelard, Hayward, Morton, Neve, Ms Palmer, Pound, Scholes and 
Stanyer 

Quorum:  3 Members 

 
 

1   Apologies for Absence 
To receive any apologies for absence. 

(Pages 5 - 6) 

2   Declarations of Interest 
To receive any declarations of interest by members in items on 
the agenda in accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct. 
For any advice on declarations of interest, please contact the 
Monitoring Office before the meeting. 

(Pages 7 - 8) 

3   Notification of Persons Registered to Speak 
To note any Visiting Members or members of the public wishing to 
speak, of which due notice has been given in accordance with 
Council Procedure Rule 18 or 19, and which item(s) they wish to 
speak on. 

(Pages 9 - 10) 

4   Minutes of the meeting dated 12 October 2020 
To approve the minutes of a previous meeting as a correct record. 
The only issue relating to the minutes that can be discussed is 
their accuracy. 

(Pages 11 - 16) 

5   Items Called-In 
To consider any items ‘Called-In’ under Overview and Scrutiny 
Procedure Rule 13, details of which will have been circulated to 
Members under separate cover. 

(Pages 17 - 18) 

6   Portfolio Holder Update - Finance and Governance 
To consider and decide on the recommendations set out in the 
associated report. 

(Pages 19 - 26) 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 
 

 

7   Five Year Plan Update 
To consider the proposals to Cabinet set out in the associated 
report. 

(Pages 27 - 132) 

8   Poverty Task and Finish Group: Terms of Reference 
To consider and decide on the recommendations set out in the 
associated report. 

(Pages 133 - 140) 

9   Consultation and Engagement Task and Finish Group: 
Update 
To receive a verbal update. 

(Pages 141 - 142) 

10   Work Programme 
To consider the Committee’s future work programme. 

(Pages 143 - 144) 

11   Urgent Business 
To consider any other items which the Chairman decides are 
urgent, for the reasons to be stated, in accordance with Section 
100B(4) of the Local Government Act 1972. 

(Pages 145 - 146) 

12   Date of the next meeting 
To note that the next scheduled meeting is Monday 18 January 
2021. 

(Pages 147 - 148) 

 

 
 
Mark O'Callaghan Town Hall 
Scrutiny and Engagement Officer ROYAL TUNBRIDGE WELLS 
Tel:      (01892) 554219 Kent   TN1 1RS 
Email:  Mark.O'Callaghan@TunbridgeWells.gov.uk  
 

 

Watch Live 
 

Watch this meeting online, live via the Council’s website. 
Archived recordings of previous meetings are also available. 
 

Visit   www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/webcasts  

 

 

mod.gov app – go paperless 
 

Easily download, annotate and keep all committee paperwork on your 
mobile device using the mod.gov app – all for free!. 
 

Visit   www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/modgovapp   

Page 2

http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/webcasts
http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/modgovapp
http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/modgovapp
http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/modgovapp


 
 

 
During the Coronavirus outbreak, and the recovery which follows, the way we conduct 
meetings will change. This page summarises the process. If you have any questions 
please contact Democratic Services via the contact details on the previous page. 
 
Attending meetings 
 
Meetings will not be held in the town hall, instead they will be held virtually using the Council’s 
skype system and webcast live online. 
 
Any member of the public may watch/listen to the meetings online live via our website on the 
relevant committee’s meeting page. A recording of the meeting will also be available shortly 
after the end of the meeting. 
 
All meetings and agenda are open to the public except where confidential information is being 
discussed. The agenda of the meeting will identify whether any meeting or part of the meeting is 
not open to the public and explain why. 
 
All public meetings will start at 10.30am. This is to reduce the draw on the council’s resources at 
this time. 
 
Speaking at meetings 
 
Members of the public are encouraged to participate and those wishing to comment on an 
agenda item will need to register with Democratic Services in advance. Registration opens 
when the agenda is published and closes at 4pm on the last working day before the meeting.  
 
There may be up to 4 speakers per agenda item and speakers have up to 3 minutes each. 
 
Once registered, speakers may submit their comments in writing to Democratic Services no 
later than 4pm on the last working day before the meeting. Your comments will then be read 
during the meeting by an independent officer. Alternatively, speakers may join the meeting via 
telephone. Speakers will need to provide contact details and the Clerk will send joining 
instructions to enable them to speak. 
 
Comments should be in the form of a statement giving your opinion on the matter. Members of 
the committee may not answer questions or get into a debate with you. 
 
Further details are available on the website (www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk) or from Democratic 
Services. 
 

If you require this information in another format 
please contact us, call 01892 526121 or email 

committee@tunbridgewells.gov.uk 

Page 3

http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/
mailto:committee@tunbridgewells.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

Page  

1 of 1 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Apologies for Absence 

 

Apologies for Absence  

For Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 23 November 2020

 

Procedural Item 

To receive any apologies for absence. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Page  

1 of 1 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Declarations of Interest 

 

Declarations of Interest 

For Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 23 November 2020

 

Procedural Item 

To receive any declarations of interest by members in items on the agenda in accordance 

with the Members’ Code of Conduct. For any advice on declarations of interest, please 

contact the Monitoring Office before the meeting. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Page  

1 of 1 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Notification of Persons Registered to Speak 

 

Notification of Persons Registered to 

Speak 

For Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 23 November 2020

 

Procedural Item 

To note any Visiting Members or members of the public wishing to speak, of which due 

notice has been given in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 18 or 19, and which 

item(s) they wish to speak on. 

 

Information for members of the public wishing to speak 

Members of the public are encouraged to participate and those wishing to comment on an 

agenda item will need to register with Democratic Services in advance. Registration opens 

when the agenda is published and closes at 4pm on the last working day before the meeting. 

There may be up to 4 speakers per agenda item and speakers have up to 3 minutes each. 

Once registered, speakers may submit their comments in writing to Democratic Services no 

later than 4pm on the last working day before the meeting. Your comments will then be read 

during the meeting by an independent officer.  

Alternatively, speakers may join the meeting online or by telephone. Speakers will need to 

provide contact details and the clerk will provide joining instructions to enable them to speak. 

Comments should be in the form of a statement giving your opinion on the matter. Members 

of the committee may not answer questions or get into a debate with you. 

Page 9

Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 
 

 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

Monday, 12 October 2020 
 

Present: Councillor Chris Woodward (Chairman) 
Councillors Thomson (Vice-Chairman), Atwood, Hayward, Morton, Ms Palmer, Pound 

and Stanyer 
 

Officers in Attendance: Stephen Baughen (Head of Planning Services), Jane Clarke (Head 
of Policy and Governance), Freya Jackson (Graduate Planning Assistant) and Mark 
O'Callaghan (Scrutiny and Engagement Officer) 
 

Other Members in Attendance: None 
 

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

OSC46/20 
 

Apologies were received from Councillor Bland. Councillors Chapelard, Neve 
and Scholes were not present. 
 

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

OSC47/20 
 

There were no disclosable pecuniary or significant other interests declared at 
the meeting. 
 

NOTIFICATION OF PERSONS REGISTERED TO SPEAK 
 

OSC48/20 
 

There were no Visiting Members or members of the public registered to 
speak. 
 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING DATED 21 SEPTEMBER 2020 
 

OSC49/20 
 

Members reviewed the minutes. An amendment was proposed to clarify 
comments made by Councillor Bailey during the Call-In item. The minute read 
that “Putlands was the only indoor leisure centre in Paddock Wood and 
provided services to other organisations such as the rugby club.” There was 
no rugby club as such in Paddock Wood but there were a number of sports 
pitches that were affected by the closure of Putlands. 
 

RESOLVED – 
 

1. That minute OSC41/20 (page 5, paragraph 4, bullet point 3) be 
amended to replace “rugby club” with “adjacent sports pitches”; 
and 

 

2. That, subject to the above amendment, the minutes of the meeting 
dated 21 September 2020 be approved as a correct record. 

 

ITEMS CALLED-IN 
 

OSC50/20 
 

There were no items which had been called-in. 
 

COVID-19 PANEL UPDATE 
 

OSC51/20 
 

The Chairman gave a verbal update on the Covid-19 Panel which included 
the following comments:  

 Since the last Overview and Scrutiny meeting there had been one 
meeting of the Covid-19 Panel which was held on 6 October.  

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



2 
 
 

 
 

 The recent changes which required pubs and bars to close at 
10pm was discussed and on the whole these new rules were 
being respected. A small number of incidents had been quickly 
resolved.  

 Several premises who were not required to close had voluntarily 
agreed to close at 10pm to help the enforcement of the rules.  

 The Panel also discussed the £500 support payment announced 
by the government to help those on low incomes who were 
required to isolate after getting, or coming into contact with 
someone with, Covid-19. 

 The Panel were pleased to note that the Council had gone from 
announcement to implementation in 1 week with all the systems in 
place to process claims and make payments, an extraordinary 
effort by all involved. 

 The Panel then heard from the next in the series of the Community 
Recovery Groups, this time on Housing: 

o Approaches from people either homeless or at threat from 
homelessness had increased and the Housing team were 
dealing with an average 100 approaches per month. A new 
member of the team had been recruited.  

o The council had been successful in its bid for £153k from 
the ‘Next Steps Accommodation Programme which would 
be used to support the provision of emergency 
accommodation. 

o The Recovery Group were now looking at medium and 
long term solutions which may involve the Council building 
its own affordable housing, support for long-term private 
rentals through an investment company and further 
initiatives to encourage private landlords to work with the 
Council to return empty properties to the market. 

 Next the Panel heard from the Business Recovery Group which 
consisted of Council officers and business partners with member 
oversight through the Covid-19 Panel. Their plan was built on the 
existing Economic Development Strategy: 

o There would be a number of significant changes to the 
business world which would require restructuring in both 
the high street and business in general. 

o The Council had commissioned some independent work on 
the future of the town centre and the repurposing of empty 
properties. 

 Emergency Active Travel Fund Schemes: 
o Feedback on the High Street was generally positive, and a 

number of improvements were under consideration. 
o ‘Parklets’ to replace the plastic barriers were being 

considered, these would increase pavement space, seating 
or cycle parking over road. 

o Traffic on Vale Road was no worse than normal before the 
lockdown. 

o ‘Wands’ had been installed on the A26 cycle route, some 
of them had either been deliberately or accidentally 
removed but KCC had investigated how to make them 
more secure. 

o It was suggested that restrictions on Reynolds Lane were 
being ignored. KCC implemented traffic monitoring and the 
Panel was awaiting the results. 

Page 12

Agenda Item 4



3 
 
 

 
 

o The council had not received any negative feedback in 
relation to the town centre 20mph zone so this was 
expected to proceed shortly. 

o In Paddock Wood the restrictions were regularly ignored by 
road users and utility works were due to start soon so it 
was expected that the scheme would be temporarily 
suspended. 

 The Panel continued to receive a considerable amount of 
statistical information to help monitor the situation. 

 
PROPOSED REVISION OF THE STATEMENT OF COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT 
 
OSC52/20 
 

Stephen Baughen, Head of Planning introduced the report set out in the 
agenda which provided details on the consultation undertaken by Planning 
Services related to the Statement of Community Involvement (SCI), including 
the comments received and how they are being considered, and provided 
details on the updates which had been introduced to the SCI. 
 
Discussion included the following comments: 

 There was a detailed document available on the Council’s website 
which outlined a step by step guide, including screenshots, on how 
to set up an area of search and Communications would be asked 
to publicise this via social media. 

 The ‘Have Your Say’ document, available on the website, gave a 
detailed description on how consultation was undertaken on 
Planning applications. Communications would again be asked to 
broaden the publication of this via social media and this included 
Next Door as well as Facebook and Twitter. 

 The regulatory requirement was that Councils undertook 
consultation by either sending a letter or putting up a site notice or 
both. It was then advised that Planning Services had met these 
regulatory requirements given that they had put up site notices 
and the ‘Have Your Say’ document set out examples of where site 
notices were placed dependent on the position of the site relative 
to the street. 

 Planning Services had continued to use technology to the best of 
their ability to engage with communities and had undertaken 
consultation through consultants, areas of collaborative working 
and engagement opportunities for remote collaborative working. 
The Council would continue to explore new emerging techniques 
in the years ahead. 

 
RESOLVED – That the report be noted. 
 

WORK PROGRAMME 
 
OSC53/20 
 

The Chairman presented the Work Programme and outlined the dates for the 
forthcoming meetings, comments included: 

 The next meeting was scheduled for Monday 23 November and 
was the first after the normal schedule was resumed. 

 It was advised that a resumption of the portfolio holder reports was 
requested and the proposed schedule was outlined: 

o Finance and Governance in November to coincide with the 
presentation of the Draft Budget; 

o Sustainability in January; and 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



4 
 
 

 
 

o Communities and Wellbeing in March to coincide with the 
review of the Community Safety Partnership Plan. 

 It had been agreed before the lockdown that the previous scope of 
the portfolio holder reports was too broad to be considered in 
detail at a regular meeting so the portfolio holder report would be 
distributed by the Clerk three weeks before the relevant meeting 
and the Chairman would ask Members for feedback on any 
specific areas they would like examined. The portfolio holder 
would be asked to focus on the particular issues identified at the 
meeting. 

 If any issues are identified or any queries are unsatisfied the 
Committee may ask for a more detailed look at specific topics. 

 The Committee could voice their opinion on both where they 
wanted to focus their attention but also where not to focus. 

 Whilst not listed on the work programme the Five Year Plan was 
scheduled to come to the Committee at the November meeting. 

 Consultation and Engagement Task and Finish Group: 
o The Chief Executive had not identified any particular issues 

that may impede the Committee resuming work. It was 
proposed that the Group got together with officers outside 
this meeting to review its terms of reference and aim to 
bring proposals back for the November meeting. 

o If it were found that new solutions for communication and 
engagement were needed the Group should focus more on 
what was to be achieved rather how it was to be achieved. 

o Membership of the Group was previously Councillors 
Hayward, Pound, Bruneau and Reilly. Councillor Pound 
had stepped back to lead on the Deprivation Task and 
Finish Group. Councillors Bruneau and Reilly were no 
longer on the Committee but could be re-invited on the 
Group. 

o Resources may be limited in supporting two Task and 
Finish Groups and it may be prudent to delay. 

 This could be considered alongside the terms of reference for the 
Deprivation Task and Finish Group being worked up by Councillor 
Pound and others including Councillors Thomson, Atwood, 
Woodward. 

 There was sufficient resources for senior Officers to give expert 
advice to both working groups. 

 The Committee would have the opportunity to scrutinise the draft 
invitation to tender in respect of the Parks and Gardens 
Maintenance Contract and subsequently the choice of contractor. 

 The Committee would also consider the Equality Action Plan in 
due course. 

 

Actions: 
1. Councillor Hayward to review the membership and terms of 

reference for the Consultation and Engagement Task and Finish 
Group to put together proposals for consideration at the November 
meeting; 

 

2. Councillor Pound, in consultation with the members of the 
Deprivation Task and Finish Working Group and officers, to 
finalise terms of reference for consideration at the November 
meeting; 

Page 14

Agenda Item 4



5 
 
 

 
 

 
3. Councillor Morton to consult colleagues on potential membership 

of the Task and Finish Groups; and 
 

4. Members to give ideas for future meetings. 
 

URGENT BUSINESS 
 
OSC54/20 
 

There was no urgent business for consideration. 
 

DATE OF THE NEXT MEETING 
 
OSC55/20 
 

The next meeting was scheduled for Monday 23 November 2020. 
 

 
 NOTE: The meeting concluded at 7.35 pm. 
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Page  

1 of 1 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Items Called-In 

 

Items Called-In 

For Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 23 November 2020

 

Procedural Item 

To consider any items ‘Called-In’ under Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 13, details of 

which will have been circulated to Members under separate cover. 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Page  

1 of 6 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Portfolio Holder Update: Finance and Governance 

 

Portfolio Holder Update: Finance and 

Governance  

For Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 23 November 2020

 

Summary 

Lead Member: Councillor Tom Dawlings – Portfolio Holder for Finance and 

Governance 

Lead Directors: Lee Colyer – Director of Finance, Policy and Development, Steve 

McGinnes – Mid Kent Services Director (MKS) 

Heads of Service: David Candlin – Head of Economic Development and Property, 

Nicky Carter – Head of HR, Customer Services and Culture, Jane Clarke – Head of 

Policy and Governance, Rich Clarke – Head of Internal Audit (MKS), Sheila Coburn – 

Head of Revenues and Benefits (MKS), Jane Fineman – Head of Finance and 

Procurement, Denise Haylett – Head of Facilities and Community Hubs, Ian Hirst – 

Head of Digital Services and Communication, Patricia Narebor – Head of Legal 

Partnership (MKS) 

Report Author: Mark O’Callaghan – Scrutiny and Engagement Officer 

Classification: Public document (non-exempt) 

Wards Affected: All 

Approval Timetable Date 

Portfolio Holder 9 November 2020 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 23 November 2020 

Recommendations 

Officer recommendations as supported by the Portfolio Holder: 

1. That the Portfolio Holder’s Update be noted.  

Page 19

Agenda Item 6



 

Page  

2 of 6 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Portfolio Holder Update: Finance and Governance 

 

1. Introduction and Background 

1.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings with the Cabinet members 

throughout the municipal year to discuss the progress made towards the 

Council’s priorities. This programme was suspended during the Council’s initial 

response phase to the Coronavirus pandemic which is now sufficiently stable to 

allow the meetings to resume. 

1.2 Statements provided by the Portfolio Holder are attached at Appendix A to the 

report detailing their responsibilities, partnership involvement, plans and 

strategies and projects for the year ahead. 

1.3 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee is keen to understand from the Portfolio 

Holder their ambitions for the year ahead and how those ambitions will be 

realised. In particular, Portfolio Holders should focus on how our residents, 

businesses and visitors will see a difference a result of the actions the Council 

has taken. The meetings are an opportunity for the Portfolio Holder, in their own 

words, to explain to the Committee and the public how the Council is making a 

difference to the lives of residents in the Borough. 

Drafting Procedure 

1.4 In a slight change to the process as it was before the lockdown, the Committee 

were concerned that the scope of the portfolio holder reports was too broad for a 

meaningful examination and they would like the opportunity to focus on a smaller 

number of specific issues. The following procedure was therefore established: 

1.4.1 In the fourth week before the meeting, the Clerk will draft and distribute a copy of 

the relevant portfolio holder statement which includes their standing 

responsibilities as portfolio holders and ask the Portfolio Holder to add any 

details of their forthcoming plans. 

1.4.2 In the third week before the meeting, the Clerk will send the completed 

statements to the members of the Committee and ask them to identify the issues 

they are most interested in. 

1.4.3 In the second week before the meeting, the Clerk will distribute the list of items 

the Committee has identified and the Portfolio Holder may at this stage wish to 

provide further supporting information, copies of strategies, plans, etc. for 

inclusion in the report. 

1.4.4 In the final week before the meeting, any final arrangements will be made. 

Supporting officers may be invited to attend, further supporting documents may 

be submitted. 

Page 20

Agenda Item 6



 

Page  

3 of 6 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Portfolio Holder Update: Finance and Governance 

 

Meeting Procedure 

1.5 At the meeting the procedure is flexible, this is as much an opportunity for the 

Portfolio Holder to engage with the Committee as for the Committee to scrutinise 

the Portfolio Holder. The following guidance is offered as a general rule to help 

maximise the time. 

1.5.1 Portfolio Holders are invited to spend up to five minutes giving an overview of the 

portfolio and key responsibilities. Information contained in the statement may be 

taken as read but the Portfolio Holder may set out their personal priorities and 

discuss some of the issues which are important but that the Committee has not 

identified as its priorities. 

1.5.2 Up to 10 minutes may be spent on presenting on the issues which have been 

identified by the Committee. 

1.5.3 Any members of the public who have registered to speak will be invited to 

address the Committee after the presentation and before the Committee’s 

questions. 

1.5.4 The majority of the time is expected to be spent on questions and answers. 

Officers may be brought in to provide specific information. 

2. Options Considered 

2.1 The Portfolio Holder’s plans and progress update is for information purposes and 

the Committee will be asked to note the content of the report. However, 

members may wish to ask questions of the Portfolio Holder and, if necessary, 

ask that additional information be provided to the Committee at a later date. 

3. Preferred Option and Reason 

3.1 The Committee and Portfolio Holder will work together to identify the best ways 

of doing things in the future – based on learning from past successes – and how 

the Overview and Scrutiny Committee can help with achieving the Five Year 

Plan. The Committee would also like to provide effective scrutiny, including 

opportunities for public engagement to help ensure that the outcomes provide 

value for money and improvements to public services. 

4. Implementation 

4.1 The views of the Portfolio Holder and the Committee will be on public record 

through the webcast and minutes of the meeting. 

Page 21

Agenda Item 6



 

Page  

4 of 6 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Portfolio Holder Update: Finance and Governance 

 

5. Appendices and Background Documents 

Appendices: 

 Appendix A: Portfolio Holder Statement: Finance and Governance 

Exempt appendices (if any): 

 None 

Background Papers: 

 None 

 

Page 22

Agenda Item 6



 

Page  

5 of 6 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Portfolio Holder Update: Finance and Governance 

 

6. Cross Cutting Issues 

A. Legal (including the Human Rights Act) 

The Local Government Act 2000, section 21 enables an Overview and Scrutiny Committee to 

undertake the following functions: 

(a) Make reports and recommendations to the Executive or Council; 

(b) Review or scrutinise executive decisions; 

(c) Review or scrutinise non-executive decisions; 

(d) Report on any matter affecting the Council’s area. 

The arrangements outlined in this report are in accordance with functions permitted to be 

discharged by the Committee. 

Patricia Narebor, Head of Legal Partnership, 13 November 2020. 

B. Finance and Other Resources 

The report of for information. As there are no decisions from this report there are no 

implications. 

Mark O’Callaghan, Scrutiny and Engagement Officer, 12 November 2020. 

C. Staffing 

The report of for information. As there are no decisions from this report there are no 

implications. 

Mark O’Callaghan, Scrutiny and Engagement Officer, 12 November 2020. 

D. Risk Management 

The report of for information. As there are no decisions from this report there are no 

implications. 

Mark O’Callaghan, Scrutiny and Engagement Officer, 12 November 2020. 

Page 23

Agenda Item 6



 

Page  

6 of 6 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Portfolio Holder Update: Finance and Governance 

 

E. Environment and Sustainability 

The report of for information. As there are no decisions from this report there are no 

implications. 

Mark O’Callaghan, Scrutiny and Engagement Officer, 12 November 2020. 

F. Community Safety 

The report of for information. As there are no decisions from this report there are no 

implications. 

Mark O’Callaghan, Scrutiny and Engagement Officer, 12 November 2020. 

G. Equalities 

The report of for information. As there are no decisions from this report there are no 

implications. 

Mark O’Callaghan, Scrutiny and Engagement Officer, 12 November 2020. 

H. Data Protection 

The report of for information. As there are no decisions from this report there are no 

implications. 

Mark O’Callaghan, Scrutiny and Engagement Officer, 12 November 2020. 

I. Health and Safety 

The report of for information. As there are no decisions from this report there are no 

implications. 

Mark O’Callaghan, Scrutiny and Engagement Officer, 12 November 2020. 

J. Health and Wellbeing 

The report of for information. As there are no decisions from this report there are no 

implications. 

Mark O’Callaghan, Scrutiny and Engagement Officer, 12 November 2020. 

Page 24

Agenda Item 6



Portfolio Holder Statements 2020-21 

Portfolio Holder for Finance and Governance, Councillor Tom Dawlings 

Portfolio Holder Responsibilities 

Service Areas: 

 Finance 

 Operational partnerships 
(including Mid Kent Services) 

 Revenues and benefits 

 Fraud and debt recovery 

 Internal audit 

 Legal services 

 ICT/Digital transformation 

 Project & programme 
management 

 Performance management 

 Data protection 

 Democratic services 

 Human resources (including 
learning and development) 

 Property and estates 

 Facilities 

Priority Projects: 

 Balancing the budget 

 Property and asset disposals and 
acquisitions 

Partnerships: 

 Mid Kent Services Board 

Plans and Strategies: 

 Annual Budget  

 Statutory Accounts 

 MTFS 

 ICT Strategy 

 Risk Register and Management 
Plan 

 Treasury Management Strategy 

 People Strategy 

 Asset Management Plan 

Additional Responsibilities 

Other posts held: 

 Chairman of the Finance and Governance Cabinet Advisory Board 

Plans for the year ahead 

When presenting a balance budget to the Full Council in February, I focused my 
comments on how constrained the Council's finances are. Our two main income 
sources are from Fees and Charges (budget £21.4 million) and from Council Tax 
(budget £8.5 million) and there is little or no flexibility in how these can be increased. 
Economic growth in the Borough encouraging new businesses provides the only 
means of increasing the Council's income as we are permitted to retain a larger 
share of new business rates. All these matters have been adversely affected by 
Covid-19 and lockdowns. 

For existing small businesses in the retail, hospitality and leisure sectors, many of 
our staff were involved in the distribution of Government grants amounting to £28 
million to some 2,000 small businesses (those with Rateable Values of £51k and 
under) in the retail, hospitality and leisure sectors. 

Page 25

Appendix A



Our focus now is to continue to support the funding and provision of essential local 
services throughout the national emergency. Our staff will again be assisting local 
businesses through the distribution of business grants and supporting residents with 
financial difficulties and in need of food and shelter. TWBC entered the pandemic in 
a relatively healthy financial position but the entire country now finds itself in a 
precarious financial situation. Through effective financial and cash-flow management 
we will use all available resources until the Government is able to set a recurring 
funding package for local government as part of the delayed Comprehensive 
Spending Review. 

We will continue to lobby for greater financial support and local decision-making. In 
addition to meeting our statutory responsibilities which have continued we are also 
looking ahead to enable the borough to achieve a sustainable economic recovery. 

On property, we cannot ignore the high cost of running and maintaining many of the 
Council's properties, especially the Town and Assembly Hall. In recent weeks we 
have seen the Cinema site put up for sale again and there is obviously continuing 
uncertainty about demand for business and office premises in the town. 

The Council has a new Corporate Property Manager, Katie Exon, who joined in 
October (replacing Dianne Brady who left at the end of June). 

 

Councillor Tom Dawlings 
Tom.Dawlings@TunbridgeWells.gov.uk 

Page 26

Appendix A

mailto:Tom.Dawlings@TunbridgeWells.gov.uk


 

Page  

1 of 23 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Five Year Plan Update 

 

Five Year Plan Update  

For Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 23 November 2020

 

Summary 

Lead Member: Alan McDermott, Leader of the Council 

Lead Director: William Benson, Chief Executive 

Head of Service: Jane Clarke, Head of Policy and Governance 

Report Author: Jane Clarke, Head of Policy and Governance 

Classification: Public document (non-exempt) 

Wards Affected: All 

 

Approval Timetable Date 

Management Board Various dates 

Portfolio Holder 29 October 2020 

Planning and Transportation CAB 9 November 2020 

Finance and Governance CAB 10 November 2020 

Communities CAB 11 November 2020 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 23 November 2020 

Cabinet 3 December 2020 

Recommendations 

Officer recommendations as supported by the Portfolio Holder: 

1. That, given the current exceptional social and economic context, Cabinet 

focuses on the delivery of an updated set of priority projects and action plans in 

response to impact assessments associated with Covid-19. 

2. That Cabinet notes and approves a set of long-term priorities and that further 

work is undertaken to develop and deepen these themes over the course of 

2020 and 2021 as the financial context in which we will be operating becomes 

clearer and as the environment for external consultation improves. 

 

Page 27

Agenda Item 7



 

Page  

2 of 23 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Five Year Plan Update 

 

1. Introduction and Background 

1.1 This report considers the current social and economic context that the Council is 

operating in, and how this affects our ability to strategically plan in the short and 

medium term. 

1.2 The report sets out our thinking around dealing with the immediate crisis caused 

by the Covid-19 pandemic and the plans we have in place to deal with this in the 

short to medium term (12-24 months); highlights our remaining plans for 

delivering out the viable projects within the existing Five Year Plan; sets out new 

future priorities, and considers how we can establish an evidence base to 

support future plans or projects we might develop. 

2. Immediate Recovery  

The Covid-19 Pandemic 

2.1 The unprecedented impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on our residents, 

businesses and partners has meant that the Council has had to focus its 

attention and resources on responding to the worst public health emergency to 

affect us in a century.  

2.2 The pandemic has affected almost every part of society and the economy, both 

here and across the world. Countries have raced to respond by imposing strict 

limits on social contact to limit the spread of disease. The tragic health 

consequences of the pandemic have seen many thousands lose their lives and 

there have been other significant social and economic impacts – some of which 

will have a long-lasting impact. 

2.3 Alongside the many negative impacts there have also been some positive 

outcomes including the mass mobilisation of residents, businesses and 

community organisations to support local people who have been affected by the 

pandemic and changes to working patterns and a reduction in commuting with 

associated environmental benefits. 

2.4 The pandemic has had and will have both short-term and long-term impacts on 

the Borough. The short-term to medium-term impacts have been highlighted 

thorough our impact assessments and action plans, and national evidence is 

emerging to show that the pandemic will have a disproportionate impact on the 

economies of destination towns and on the hospitality industry and also that it 

will exacerbate disadvantage and inequalities. 

2.5 The pandemic has also had a significant impact on the Council’s finances. 

Details are set out elsewhere in this agenda but, put simply, it has required the 

Council to commit all of its reserves to absorbing the loss of income, meeting the 

challenges of the pandemic and maintaining service delivery. Whilst there has 

been some support from government, at the time of writing this report, the 

Page 28

Agenda Item 7



 

Page  

3 of 23 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Five Year Plan Update 

 

Council is looking at a shortfall of over £2 million for the current year and a highly 

uncertain outlook for subsequent years. This is clearly not a sustainable position 

going forward and greater clarity will be required before the Council can fully set 

out its ambitions for the future. 

2.6 In this environment of uncertainty and change, the pandemic has created an 

opportunity for the Council to re-think how it works and how best to deliver public 

services in the most cost-effective way. 

2.7 The immediate need to support our residents and the economy, coupled with an 

uncertain future for the state and nature of the economy, means that we are now 

looking to revisit our Five Year Plan at the earliest in 2021/22. Other factors to 

consider are the future of our high streets, how resident and customer 

behaviours and expectations may have changed as a result, our reduced income 

streams and the funding likely to be made available to local authorities and the 

public sector more generally.  

2.8 However, this does not mean that we are foregoing planning in the short to 

medium term. In fact the Council has worked over the summer and autumn with 

a range of stakeholders, including Kent County Council, Parish and Town 

Councils, the Federation of Small Business, Kent Invicta Chamber of Commerce, 

Tunbridge Wells Together, Tunbridge Wells Citizen’s Advice Bureau, and Town 

and Country Housing to establish impact assessments and action plans over a 

wide range of workstreams, which deal with different aspects of recovery 

(attached at appendices A-M). 

2.9 The impact assessments, covering the business sector; housing; community 

safety; financial inclusion; health; and the voluntary and community sector (VCS) 

and local councils sector (Parish and Town Councils) show that the pandemic 

has had a significant impact on business and society, which is predicted to 

increase over future months.  

 Businesses 

2.10 In terms of businesses, the impact assessment shows that unemployment has 

already significantly increased in the borough, with over 1,000 businesses 

responding that they only have cash reserves to cover the next 1-3 months. 

Turnover for businesses in the Borough has been negatively affected, with the 

hospitality and leisure amongst the worst affected.  

2.11 Following national expectations and trends, existing employers within the 

Borough may be looking to downsize office accommodation requirements, with 

more working-from-home opportunity, which will have an impact on the way in 

which our town centres work, and there may be greater need for more flexible 

space to be provided. 

2.12 Employers in London may also be looking to do something similar however, 

which may mean local residents spend more time working from home and can 

Page 29

Agenda Item 7



 

Page  

4 of 23 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Five Year Plan Update 

 

more often stay local and shop local. This could be an emerging opportunity for 

our towns and villages. 

2.13 The action plan that has been developed to support business recovery focusses 

on skills, so that businesses can move from recovery to growth. It also 

recognises the importance of providing opportunities for younger employees (as 

the 18-24 age group has been most affected by unemployment), and actions 

have been included to create a Kickstart Gateway for the Borough. 

2.14 Five key objectives of place-shaping and promotion; accessibility and 

connectivity; skills and employability; rural economy; and supporting enterprise; 

have been included in the Business Recovery Plan.  

 Housing 

2.15 Housing need and availability within the Borough was already acute before the 

pandemic, and affordability for residents was a particular concern. Plans to 

address this are coming forward as part of our emerging Local Plan (our 

strategic document for planning homes, business and leisure sites, and 

protecting green space across the Borough).  

2.16 The Plan recognises the importance of protecting the Borough’s highly valued 

green spaces and historic built environment, whilst at the same time enabling 

economic and housing growth. It also emphasises the need to provide affordable 

housing (in all its forms) for young people and older households. 

2.17 This pre-existing need is likely to have been exacerbated by the pandemic, and 

our Housing Services department’s impact assessment shows that placements 

in emergency housing (where households are in priority need and at immediate 

threat of homelessness) have already increased. 

2.18 Moving households on from this emergency accommodation is likely to be 

challenging given the lack of affordable rental accommodation across the 

Borough. This may be further exacerbated in the coming months by the end of 

the furlough scheme, and national trends which are seeing more people move to 

areas outside of London for larger homes (given that working-from-home makes 

this a more viable option) and with more open space, putting further pressure on 

the housing market. 

2.19 Priorities for the housing action plan include moving the rough sleepers who 

were accommodated as part of the ‘Everyone In’ policy into more stable 

accommodation during the lockdown, to ensure that they remain in secure 

accommodation, focusing on negotiating with private landlords on behalf of 

residents at risk of homelessness to try to maintain their current housing 

wherever possible, and using Discretionary Housing Payments to help prevent 

homelessness for those who have been financially affected by the pandemic. We 

are also considering the potential conversion of a number of our existing 

properties. 

Page 30

Agenda Item 7



 

Page  

5 of 23 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Five Year Plan Update 

 

 Financial Inclusion 

2.20 Evidence suggests virus has impacted heavily on the economy, with job losses 

being felt across all sectors, but with a particularly hard impact being felt by the 

young and the lower skilled. 

2.21 The number of out-of-work benefits claimants has increased most dramatically in 

the younger age groups in the Borough, with the 25-29 age group seeing a 270 

percent increase in unemployment levels between March and July. This is often 

a crucial time in people’s lives, as they start to consider taking the next steps in 

their careers, first home buying and planning to start families. The loss of work at 

this age can have a devastating impact on these fundamental life plans and can 

have a negative impact that is experienced over a lifetime. 

2.22 The financial inclusion impact assessment highlights that the hospitality and 

retail sectors, where many young people start their employment, have been hit 

the hardest, with job vacancies advertised in Tunbridge Wells decreasing by 72 

percent. Low income families with children (who were already struggling before 

the pandemic) are 50 percent more likely to have lost their jobs than those with 

children who were not struggling.  

2.23 Nationally, the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme, and the Self-Employment 

Income Support Scheme (the largest public intervention in job preservation ever 

seen, by some distance) has meant that at one point, nearly a third of all 

employees were on some type of furlough. These schemes have undoubtedly 

been significantly beneficial for low income families, and those at greatest risk of 

jobs losses, but this level of support cannot continue. With the schemes set to 

unwind from October, and the prospect of further local lockdowns on the horizon, 

the issues around financial inclusion are likely to become more acute in the 

coming months. 

2.24 Actions for the financial inclusion plan include joint working between the Council, 

Tunbridge Wells Citizen’s Advice Bureau and Debt Advice to support residents, 

identifying those who may be vulnerable and/or are behind on rent and helping 

them maximise income through benefit take up, improving accessibility to the 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme support, reviewing and adapting the Council’s 

approach to debt recovery, signing up to the Citizen’s Advice Bureau Council 

Tax portal, sending communications out to communities about what financial 

help is available, and running a targeted benefits campaign to maximise takeup. 

 Health 

2.25 The coronavirus, and it associated affects, has had a significant impact on 

physical and mental health and wellbeing. For those who have directly suffered 

directly from the virus, this impact has at times been devasting and tragic. But 

the impacts on health and wellbeing have been much more widespread, ranging 

from cancelled operations and services for other diseases that would have 

normally been critical to support good health, to increased anxiety and stress 

Page 31

Agenda Item 7



 

Page  

6 of 23 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Five Year Plan Update 

 

caused by job losses and reduced social interactions – in particular reduced 

contact from family members or support networks who would normally provide 

mental health support in a crisis. 

2.26 Nationally, we know that Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic populations are more 

likely to be affected by Covid-19 and, when they do contract it, it is more likely to 

be severe. Reasons for this are still being understood, but the evidence points to 

a range of socio-economic factors, including a higher likelihood of suffering from 

co-morbidities which exacerbate Covid-19 and which are linked to economic 

disadvantage, the higher likelihood of working as a ‘key worker’ and/or using 

public transport to access work which increases the chances of exposure, and a 

higher likelihood of living in cramped or overcrowded accommodation which 

reduces the ability to apply social distancing measures. 

2.27 Whilst these issues exist at a national and structural level, the Borough Council 

needs to consider what it can do to mitigate any disadvantage or inequality 

through its plans and policies. 

2.28 Health data for Tunbridge Wells Borough is not easily accessible at a local level, 

although the data sources we do have available indicate that there has been an 

increase in demand for mental health support and an increase in hospital 

admissions for alcohol-related harm. 

2.29 Actions within the health action plan include promoting and extending physical 

activity opportunities, improving cycling access through the Cycling Strategy and 

promoting alternatives to the car through the Local Cycling and Walking 

Infrastructure Plan. Alongside this, networking with health care professionals 

across Kent, developing digital access to ‘One You Kent’ services, promoting the 

Everyday Active Campaign, developing better awareness and understanding of 

local communities and needs, and working in partnership to promote and provide 

mental health services have also been included. 

 Community Safety 

2.30 Local data is more readily available for understanding community safety issues, 

in particular from our domestic abuse service partners, DAVSS and from Kent 

Police.  

2.31 The impact assessment shows that anti-social behaviour, in particular around 

noise and nuisance complaints, and neighbour disputes has increased 

significantly since March. The Police nationally have been given the 

responsibility and powers to enforce restrictions to public and private life that 

have been brought in to manage the pandemic, and locally are dealing with 

complaints around a lack of social distancing being observed. 

2.32 The impact assessment also shows that need for support around domestic 

abuse issues has increased dramatically since March. This is in line with national 

data, which has shown that the lockdown had a critical adverse effect on those 

Page 32

Agenda Item 7



 

Page  

7 of 23 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Five Year Plan Update 

 

suffering from domestic abuse due to a lack of privacy or ‘safe space’ available, 

which is usually outside the home, to gain respite from abuse or to seek support. 

2.33 Tackling domestic abuse within the Borough was already a priority for the 

Council in its Community Safety Action Plan, and so this has been expanded on 

support DAVSS to apply for extra funding for service provision. Alongside this, 

actions for outreach workers have been identified to help support young people 

during this difficult time and ensuring that networking with other agencies and 

organisations continues to evolve and improve. 

Voluntary and Community Sector and Local Councils  

2.34 Nationally, the voluntary and community sector (VCS) have suffered from 

significant losses in income over the period from March. Whilst this has in part 

been mitigated by government grants to the sector (in particular for larger 

charities) this support has not been universal, and a number of charities are 

struggling with both a lack of resources and increased workloads.  

2.35 Overall, the impact assessment shows that the local position for the VCS is 

relatively secure, but demand for services had increased across the board. At 

the time of the survey The Forum Community Interest Company was concerned 

about their financial position, however in October they were able to secure 

funding from the Government’s Cultural Sector Support Grants, which has 

helped to mitigate the funding pressures in the short-term. Local Councils in the 

area are faring well, however. They do not have significant financial concerns at 

this time and have been able to help mobilise significant community action within 

the areas.  

2.36 It is important to note for the VCS in particular, the local data only gives a 

snapshot of a small part of the sector. Some organisations that were invited to 

take part in the survey did not respond, and there are many others where the 

impact remains unknown – particularly the smaller and more niche organisations 

providing on the ground support. This means that there could be significant 

problems for the sector locally that the Council is currently blind to. 

2.37 The health and vitality of the VCS community is of vital importance to the 

Borough as the services they provide to residents helps to prevent or lessen the 

need for more intensive and costly interventions later on. These later 

interventions are usually borne by the public sector in the form of Police contact, 

enhanced benefits and/or housing support, Social Services contact and NHS 

contact. 

2.38 Actions included in the action plan centre around exploring the provision of a 

‘community hub’ for the VCS, which will promote networking opportunities and 

resource sharing, ensuring that we further understand the local situation, in 

particular for those organisations that have not responded, providing support 

around digital skills and training and to access funding opportunities, and 

ensuring that Local Councils are as prepared as possible for winter business 

continuity planning. 

Page 33

Agenda Item 7



 

Page  

8 of 23 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Five Year Plan Update 

 

 Council Services 

2.39 The Council has worked exceptionally hard to support local residents, 

businesses and voluntary and community organisations during the pandemic. 

This has included the establishment of a ‘community hub’ to support vulnerable 

and isolated residents access food and household essentials, ‘TWSocial’ – a 

website to tackle social isolation, the distribution of £27 million in business grants 

and providing support to voluntary and community sector organisations. The 

Council has set up a ‘Covid-19 Panel’ involving representatives from business, 

residents’ associations and parish and town councils to oversee the Council’s 

response to the pandemic and to promote a sustainable recovery.  

2.40 The impact assessment and action plan on the Council’s services highlights the 

extreme level of uncertainty that the authority is now operating in. The move to 

flexible and digital working, which was already underway well before the 

pandemic, has been crucial in ensuring that the Council was able to continue to 

deliver a high level of service whilst staff work almost exclusively at home. This 

has created an opportunity to redefine the Council’s accommodation needs and 

working patterns for the future. Whilst it is incredibly difficult to set plans and 

priorities in the current environment, the Council has identified that it will need to 

prepare for increased demand in the future, review key plans and policies, 

continue to engage with residents, businesses, and Councillors, consider 

accommodation requirements and flexible working needs, ensure the ICT 

strategy continues to meet the needs of the organisation, and continue the 

Modern Ways of Working Programme. 

3. Delivering Current Projects 

 Current Projects 

3.1 The current Five-Year Plan lists a set of eight priority projects which had been 

identified as important to meeting the vision and priorities set out in the Plan. 

Some of these projects have now been delivered, and others are no longer 

relevant due to political decisions made last year within the Council. This 

affected three projects which were collectively known as ‘Calverley Square’, and 

included the provision of a Theatre, new Town Hall and office space, and 

underground parking. These projects are now no longer being progressed, and 

therefore need to be removed from the Five Year Plan. The Council has also 

completed the project to deliver an enhanced public realm in Royal Tunbridge 

Wells and so this too can be removed from the Plan. 

3.2 That leaves four other projects: delivering the Local Plan; supporting the delivery 

of community hubs in Cranbrook, Paddock Wood and Southborough; delivering 

the Sports Facilities Strategy; and delivering the Amelia Scott Cultural and 

Learning Hub. These remain as key projects for the Council to deliver over the 

short to medium term. 

Page 34

Agenda Item 7



 

Page  

9 of 23 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Five Year Plan Update 

 

 Delivering the Local Plan 

3.3 Following widespread consultation on the Draft Local Plan in autumn 2019, work 

has been progressing at pace on the “Pre-Submission version the Local Plan”.  

We are scheduled and on track to undertake consultation on this in spring 2021, 

before submitting to the Planning Inspector in summer 2021, ahead of formal 

Examination by the Planning Inspector in late 2021.   

3.4 In the autumn, the Government undertook two consultations on proposed 

changes to the national planning system.  The Council made strong 

representations on both.   

3.5 The first consultation relates to changes to the current system.   It includes 

proposed changes to the ways that the amounts of housing to be planned for are 

calculated, unless a Council is able to finalise work on its emerging Local Plans 

within a “transition” window.  For Tunbridge Wells the proposed changes would 

result in a 32% increase in housing requirement above that which formed the 

basis of the Draft Local Plan (rising from  693 homes per year to 895).  This 

would provide huge increased pressure on the Green Belt, Area of Outstanding 

Natural Beauty, heritage designations and infrastructural capacity of the 

borough.  However, the timetable for the Local Plan should fall, just, within the 

“transition window” meaning that we can progress on the current, lower housing 

figures.   

3.6 The second Government consultation is a “White Paper” on longer term 

fundamental and widespread changes to the national system.  Having a 

submitted, and adopted Local Plan, will put the borough in the best position as 

these longer term changes are introduced over the coming years: it will provide 

clarity and certainty on where growth should go, and reduce the risk of 

speculative development, whilst work then starts on the new style Local Plan.   

3.7 The development and submission of a Local Plan will require the Council to 

make difficult decisions on balancing the need and Government requirements for 

housing, employment and infrastructure development, but it is a fundamental 

priority for the Council to undertake the consultation on, and submission of, the 

Local Plan within the current timetable.   

 Delivering Community Hubs 

3.8 There has been significant progress on the delivery of the Hubs over the 

previous Five Year Plan period. These community facilities will ensure that key 

services are retained in local areas, and will be used as a space for communities 

to come together. 

3.9 Southborough Hub is under construction and will be opened in 2021 which will 

see the delivery of a GP surgery, library, theatre/hall, community rooms, retail 

unit, football pavilion, increased parking and public realm open to the public.  

3.10 Paddock Wood Community Centre will deliver a community facility including 

community rooms, catering facilities, parking, pre-school and a café on the 

Memorial Field in Paddock Wood. With Baxall now appointed as the contractor, 

Page 35

Agenda Item 7



 

Page  

10 of 23 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Five Year Plan Update 

 

the project will shortly be submitted to planning with construction on site 

anticipated to begin in 2021, should the planning application be agreed.  

3.11 Cranbrook Community Centre will see the delivery of a GP surgery, community 

rooms, catering facilities and a library on the Cranbrook Engineering site in 

Cranbrook. Having completed the feasibility on the project and the NHS having 

confirmed the location is acceptable, the project will shortly start to pull together 

a project team in order to progress through the RIBA stages.  

 Delivering the Sports Facilities Strategy: Hawkenbury Hub 

3.12 This particular strand of work aims to improve football facilities for the Royal 

Tunbridge Wells area through the provision of a new sports hub adjacent to 

Hawkenbury Recreation Ground. Some of the existing underused or poor quality 

football pitches and facilities will be provided through the provision of two senior 

pitches (one of which to be 3G/stadium quality), three youth pitches, and one 

mini pitch at a new sports hub. Outline planning permission was granted in 2017 

for expansion of recreational facilities. 

3.13 Ecology, noise, lighting and traffic surveys are have been completed or are in the 

process of being carried out and an early pre planning application advice request 

will be submitted to the Local Planning Authority and KCC in November.  

3.14 An updated Business Case will be produced in 2021 to take in to account the 

feedback from the pre-application and prevailing market conditions to inform the 

next steps of the development of the project. 

Delivering the Amelia Scott Cultural and Learning Hub 

3.15 The Council has a clear and ambitious vision to “grow our role as the cultural 

centre of the Kent & Sussex High Weald, so that by 2024 the borough of 

Tunbridge Wells is nationally recognised for its vibrant cultural provision”. The 

development and delivery of The Amelia Scott sits at the heart of this vision. 

Likewise, the commitment to enhance the vibrant cultural and arts scene, and to 

further encourage tourism and investment in the economy, is a key component of 

the Council’s current Five Year Plan. 

3.16 The Amelia Scott is a new and exciting cultural and educational concept bringing 

together learning, culture, art and advice in an integrated and expanded Grade II 

listed building. Linked to the heart of the concept is the collection of 60,000 

objects including the important Camden collection, Victorian costume and 

Tunbridge ware which to date have either been displayed or stored at risk of 

deterioration in an old museum which does not meet current standards for the 

storage or display of collections.   

3.17 The project has been widely supported by businesses and residents alike to help 

deliver the wider regeneration of Royal Tunbridge Wells, a destination town that 

relies heavily on footfall and which has, as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic 

seen a five-fold increase in unemployment. This unique space will protect and 

grow the nationally recognised creative economy, promote learning and skills, 

and play a key role in the economic recovery of the town. 

Page 36

Agenda Item 7



 

Page  

11 of 23 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Five Year Plan Update 

 

3.18 In 2015 Cabinet agreed to deliver a joint project with Kent County Council to 

establish a Cultural and Learning Hub to be known as The Amelia Scott. The 

vision for the new hub was for it to become “a vibrant centre for heritage, arts, 

culture and learning, delivering a diverse programme to engage and inspire 

visitors” bringing together the following services; museum, art gallery, library, 

registration, archives, adult education (Community, Learning and Skills), visitor 

information service and Gateway.  

3.19 Since 2015 the project has been overseen and managed by a Partnership Board 

comprising Cabinet Members and senior officers from KCC and TWBC who 

receive regular reports on the programme and its constituent projects, costs and 

timelines for delivery. 

3.20 In December 2017 the Arts Council England (ACE) confirmed their support and 

funding with the Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF) (now National Lottery Heritage 

Fund (NLHF)) confirming their support and funding in March 2018. These 

decisions bookmarked the planning permission and listed building consent for 

the scheme which was granted in January 2018.  

3.21 Further updates to Cabinet were received in June 2018, December 2018 and 

October 2019. These reports progressed the development of the scheme 

including Kent County Council and TWBC signing a Collaboration Agreement 

setting out how the project would be undertaken. The October 2019 Cabinet 

report set out to approve funding, novate contracts, commence construction and 

undertake all necessary construction, ancillary works and fit out works to deliver 

The Amelia Scott project.  

3.22 Now, Willmott Dixon Interiors are appointed as our contractor and work on site 

commenced in January 2020. Despite the Covid-19 pandemic the construction 

work remains on course to complete in May 2021, with the contractor 

approximately 3 weeks ahead of schedule. Alongside the build, the fit-out 

workstream is progressing to timetable and The Amelia Scott remains on track 

for a soft public opening taking place in April 2022. 

 Additional Projects 

 Future of the Town Hall 

3.23 In addition, whilst the Council has decided that it no longer wishes to proceed 

with the Calverley Square group of projects, it has decided that it wants to 

explore options for the Town Hall. This work was begun initially in 2019, but due 

to the pandemic, the context that the Council is working in, the space 

requirements, and flexible working considerations have all changed, and will 

need to feed into this piece of work going forwards. 

 Assembly Hall Theatre 

3.24 With the ending of the Calverley Square scheme, there has been a need to 

review the ongoing future of the Assembly Hall Theatre. This work was due to 

take place this year, but the pandemic has significantly affected the Theatre’s 

Page 37

Agenda Item 7



 

Page  

12 of 23 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Five Year Plan Update 

 

operation, and there is now a need to consider the future landscape of the 

cultural sector and how the Assembly Hall can fit into this. The key aim of this 

review will be to ensure that the Assembly Hall Theatre provides value for money 

for taxpayers. 

4. Our Priorities for the Future 

Consultation 

4.1 The current Five Year Plan comes to an end in 2022, and it had always been our 

intention to revisit and redraft it in 2021 based on a consultation process in 2020.  

4.2 As a result of the pandemic and the consequential restrictions imposed on 

meetings and social gatherings, the plans for extensive consultation this year 

were put on hold, and we are now facing an uncertain future – both nationally 

and locally. 

4.3 However, as a Council, we need to plan for the future. The Council shapes the 

Borough and makes a difference to its residents, businesses and visitors in a 

number of ways – through delivery of our various plans and strategies (most 

particularly the Local Plan which sets out what gets built where), through projects 

and initiatives, through community leadership and through the very many 

services we deliver on a day-to-day basis. This place-shaping function requires 

us to think ahead and plan for what we want the Borough to look like in the 

future, and one of the ways we do this is through the Five Year Plan. 

4.4 Whilst we haven’t been able to conduct significant consultation and engagement 

this year with businesses and residents, we held a consultation event in 2019 for 

local elected leaders, termed the Councillor Convention.  

4.5 Attendees at the Councillor Convention included Kent County Councillors, our 

Borough Councillors, Parish and Town Chairmen, and the Chairman of Royal 

Tunbridge Wells Town Forum. The Convention discussed the broad themes and 

issues that they felt were affecting the Borough, and the outcomes of this 

Convention have informed early thinking on revising the priorities in the Five 

Year Plan.  

4.6 The common themes that came out of last year’s Convention were:  

 Culture 

 Infrastructure 

 Housing 

 Transport, and  

 Environment.  

4.7 Top priorities under these themes (which are expressed as both challenges to 

address and opportunities to take) were: 

 Culture – marketing cultural activities and variation in cultural offer. 

Page 38

Agenda Item 7



 

Page  

13 of 23 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Five Year Plan Update 

 

 Infrastructure – broadband, cycling, population growth, HE/FE offer, 

sports and leisure facilities. 

 Housing – affordable housing, dispersal of housing growth. 

 Transport – condition of the roads, cheaper buses, incentives to 

walk/cycle, better parking, reduced traffic. 

 Environment – EV charging points, grey water recycling, protect the 

countryside, reduce air toxicity. 

4.8 It is important to recognise that the above themes and priorities represent very 

early stage thinking in the strategic planning process, and for many of the 

priorities, Tunbridge Wells Borough Council is not directly responsible for the 

service, and so our role would take the form of lobbying and persuading those 

who do have responsibility (Central Government, Kent County Council, 

Highways England, BT, etc.). 

4.9 To add to the broad strategic aims expressed above, the Council conducted a 

small scale digital consultation in 2020 on setting the budget for 2021 and asking 

what our future priorities might be. The broad issues that came out of this public 

consultation are: 

 Reducing council costs by reducing number of councillors, staff and pay. 

 Sell fixed assets (property). 

 Reduce costs by stopping/reducing some services. 

 Merge with another authority. 

 Review contracts to make savings. 

 Increase on-the-spot fines. 

 Tackle anti-social behaviour. 

 Encourage parking in off-street car parks. 

 Conserve the environment. 

 Invest in green energy projects. 

 Sell stake in RVP or redevelop part for residential. 

4.10 Once there is greater clarity on the national and local economy, our funding and 

the environment in which we operate we will be able to consider the above 

priorities in our new operating context and consult more formally and widely with 

members of the public and businesses on what the list of priorities should be, 

and what form viable projects could take to deliver them. This is likely to be 

towards the end of 2021. 

Future Priorities 

4.11 Whilst the above themes are broad and high level and have not been tested 

against public opinion or deliverability, we want to set out for what our priorities 

are in the longer term, following the recovery period. The below themes and 

priorities set out the direction of travel in our strategic planning, taking into 

account what we are already committed to provide in the future, and what our 

stakeholders have so far said to us. Our ability to deliver on some of these long-

term aims will crucially depend on the availability of external funding from Central 

Page 39

Agenda Item 7



 

Page  

14 of 23 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Five Year Plan Update 

 

Government or elsewhere. By setting out our long-term aims now, we believe we 

will be well positioned to take advantage of external funding opportunities as and 

when they arise. 

  

Future Priority 1 - Sustainable Growth 

4.12 Attract new investment - We want to attract local investment into the borough 

to secure high quality local jobs. To do this we will work with partner 

organisations across the South East to improve the business environment and 

make the borough an attractive and profitable place to do business. We will 

actively seek to encourage Foreign Direct Investment by working with Kent 

County Council to promote the borough, and by supporting economic 

development within our Local Plan. 

4.13 Increase housing provision - Through the Local Plan, we will increase housing 

provision, in particular affordable housing of which we know there is a significant 

lack across the borough. This will need to be done whilst protecting our historic, 

built and natural environment qualities, and having regard to concerns about 

congestion and air quality. 

4.14 Improve infrastructure provision - We will work with relevant organisations to 

secure infrastructure improvements, and if necessary challenge other authorities 

who are responsible for providing the infrastructure to make sure our residents 

get the quality of built environment they need. In particular, we will seek the 

timely delivery of infrastructure to support the delivery of new housing and 

ensure the vitality of our communities. 

   

Future Priority 2 - Green Environment 

4.15 Protect biodiversity – The Council is aiming to protect and improve biodiversity 

across the borough and bring people closer to nature for the benefit of all. The 

Council will move from ensuring no net loss to biodiversity to achieving a 

minimum 10% net gain for biodiversity from all new development through the 

introduction of new planning policies.  The Council has committed to producing 

Supplementary Planning Documents to ensure these polices are implemented, 

that gains are properly measured and secured in the long term and properly 

funded.  

           As part of achieving net gains for biodiversity the Council will explore 

opportunities for enhancing existing sites and creating new sites for nature 

working with Kent Wildlife Trust, and Kent Nature Partnership. Where 

appropriate sites will provide new and improved public access to bring people 

closer to nature, and where possible contribute towards improved ecosystem 

services such as providing timber, improving flood mitigation and carbon storage. 

The Council will continue to work with Kent High Weald Partnership to improve 

biodiversity on council owned sites, raise awareness of nature through education 

and community activities, and to run an accessible programme of volunteering to 

Page 40

Agenda Item 7



 

Page  

15 of 23 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Five Year Plan Update 

 

assist with site management and offer opportunities for  improving physical and 

mental wellbeing. 

4.16 Promote sustainable travel - Sustainable travel includes walking, cycling and 

public transport. We will promote these low environmental impact methods of 

travel in our towns and villages by working with Kent County Council to improve 

the network of lanes for cycling and Light Electric Vehicles. We will seek to 

ensure that this network of lanes can be used by horse-riders, which is 

particularly important in our rural areas. In the centre of Royal Tunbridge Wells 

we will aim to create cycling and Light Electric Vehicle infrastructure to the town 

and the Pantiles with nearby population centres. 

We will work with partners to improve and increase the availability of charging 

points for electric vehicles, encourage low emission zones and 20mph areas, 

improve pedestrian and cyclist safety across the borough and introduce 

pedestrian areas where they are suitable. 

4.17 Reduce carbon emissions - The council has declared a climate emergency and 

set out an ambition to be carbon neutral by 2030. We will deliver an action plan 

to reduce net carbon emissions in our own estate by 2030 and to ensure that all 

new contracts include plans to be carbon neutral by this date.  

 We will explore switching our own vehicle fleet to run on electricity or hydrogen 

and will encourage public transport providers to switch to electric or hydrogen 

powered vehicles. 

We will investigate whether and how hydrogen refuelling facilities can be 

encouraged or provided in the Borough, both for our own vehicles and for private 

vehicles. We will monitor our progress and report it publicly.  

Air quality is improving across the Borough, but we will work with schools in 

particular to ensure that vehicle emissions around children are minimised. We 

will explore whether ‘No Idling Zones’ can be established, particularly in areas 

with high levels of vehicle congestion.  

 

Future Priority 3 - Culture and Leisure 

4.18 Strengthen and preserve the cultural and heritage offering - As we outlined 

in the context section, the town of Royal Tunbridge Wells has a rich history of as 

Spa Town providing cultural and leisure activities. But this extends beyond the 

town itself and into the wider borough, with many of our beautiful towns and 

villages, such as Cranbrook and Hawkhurst being sought after tourist 

destinations because of the high quality of heritage preservation and cultural 

activities available.  

As a Council, we want to strengthen and preserve these borough qualities by 

ensuring our heritage is protected by policies within the Local Plan and 

developing a design guide to ensure new development remains in keeping with 

its surroundings.  

Page 41

Agenda Item 7



 

Page  

16 of 23 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Five Year Plan Update 

 

4.19 Provide leisure opportunities - Participation in sport and active recreation has 

the potential to improve the quality of life for residents and communities and 

deliver wider social, health, economic and environmental benefits. Covid-19 has 

limited some elements of organised sports due to the restrictions put in place to 

control the pandemic but it has reinforced that a healthy active lifestyle can help 

combat the impact of the virus. 

As a Council, we will continue to implement the Sports and Active Recreation 

Strategy, including the provision of sports hubs and facilities at our three leisure 

centres. We will continue to encourage opportunities and facilities for active 

travel on foot, bike and horseback. 

 

4.20 Protect green spaces - Our green spaces are an important asset and access to 

high quality open spaces, and opportunities for sport and recreation, can make 

an important contribution to the health and wellbeing of communities and they 

will be protected by policies within the Local Plan. The Council will continue to 

manage its own parks and grounds to provide environmental enhancements and 

improve biodiversity. 

5. Options Considered 

1. Recovery, Consultation and Future Priorities 

Approach 

5.1 The above outlines an approach to strategic planning over the short to medium 

term, which will enable to Council to both assist in the economic and social 

recovery of the Borough following the pandemic, establish its own recovery, and 

begin to plan for a new future post Covid-19.  

5.2 The approach uses our recovery plans as the basis for planning the work that the 

Council will deliver over the next 12-18 months, and includes commitments to 

deliver on existing projects in the current Five Year Plan, plus two additional 

projects that are considered necessary in the current context (options for the 

Town Hall and AHT).  

5.3 It recognises the work that has already been done regarding setting future 

priorities and the feedback that has been received from stakeholders. This is 

translated into the above initial priorities in section 4, which can be consulted on 

and deepened over the coming months. 

2. Recovery and Future Priorities Approach 

5.4 The Council could choose to take the above approach to strategic planning but 

decide not to consult more widely on its proposed future priorities. This would 

Page 42

Agenda Item 7



 

Page  

17 of 23 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Five Year Plan Update 

 

enable the Council to agree the detail that supports its proposed priorities 

(including project proposals) more quickly. 

3. Recovery Only Approach 

5.5 Given the extraordinary context in which we are now operating, the Council could 

choose to focus only on strategic planning and delivery in the short term, to 

ensure recovery is embedded in both the economy and society, and within the 

Council itself. This approach recognises the extraordinary levels of work being 

undertaken by Council staff at the time to respond to the pandemic and focusses 

on the immediate needs of the Borough’s residents. 

6. Preferred Option and Reason 

1. Recovery and Priorities Consultation Approach 

6.1 The recommended approach is to focus on recovery and delivering the 

remaining projects within the current Five Year Plan over the next 12-18 months, 

and to consult extensively and widely on the proposed priorities within this paper 

towards the end of 2021. 

6.2 This approach means that the Council can focus its resources and energies on 

dealing with the immediate and pressing issues of recovery, and delivering the 

remaining projects in the short term, whilst allowing time for funding certainty to 

become clearer. The priorities can then be consulted on with the benefit of better 

understanding around what the Council is realistically able to deliver within its 

resources. 

6.3 Ensuring there is time and space to conduct deep and meaningful consultation 

on the future priorities will also ensure that there is wide public support for any 

projects that are proposed as a result of the priorities, and will ensure the Council 

delivers its place-shaping role in a way in which residents, businesses and 

stakeholders support and find acceptable.  

7. Consultation on Options 

7.1 The above options have been discussed with Management Board and 

Leadership Board and represent the realistic options that the Council could take 

with regards to strategic planning in the current environment.  

Recommendation from Cabinet Advisory Board 

7.2 The Finance and Governance Cabinet Advisory Board were consulted on 10th 

November 2020 and agreed the following: 

Page 43

Agenda Item 7



 

Page  

18 of 23 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Five Year Plan Update 

 

 To be updated following the Finance and Governance CAB 

meeting. 

8. Implementation 

8.1 Implementation of the actions from the Recovery Action Plans 

9. Appendices and Background Documents 

Appendices: 

 Appendix A – M: Impact Assessments and Action Plans 

Background Papers: 

 None. 

 

Page 44

Agenda Item 7



 

Page  

19 of 23 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Five Year Plan Update 

 

10. Cross Cutting Issues 

A. Legal (including the Human Rights Act) 

The Five Year Plan Update will enable the Council to secure continuous improvement in the 

way in which its functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, 

efficiency and effectiveness as required under section 3 of the Local Government Act 1999.  

The implications arising from the Covid-19 pandemic are addressed within the report since 

they have an impact on the Council’s priorities. These include obligations arising from the 

Coronavirus Act 2010 and related regulations. 

Paragraph 6 of the report outlines the preferred option. The recommended approach is to 

focus on recovery and delivering the remaining projects within the current Five Year Plan 

over the next 12-18 months, and to consult extensively and widely on the proposed priorities 

within this paper towards the end of 2021. The decision falls within the remit of Cabinet 

following consideration by the relevant Cabinet Advisory Board(s) since the proposal is to 

update the priorities within the existing Five Year Plan.  

Human Rights Act 1998:  Council policies and decisions should take into account the 1998 

which protects a number of rights, to include the right to respect for private and family life 

(article 8), the right to a fair trial (article 6) ie criminal and civil proceedings undertaken by the 

Council; and the right to personal liberty (article 5).  The proposals in this report do not 

conflict with the Council’s statutory obligations under the 1998 Act.  

Patricia Narebor, Head of Mid Kent Legal, 29 October 2020 

B. Finance and Other Resources 

The issues in the report relate to the main priorities of the Council and clarify the current work 

that is being undertaken to response to the Coronavirus pandemic. The priorities that the 

Council is currently working on have already been included in this year’s budget and are a 

part of the current Medium Term Financial Strategy. Two new priorities have been added, 

both of which will require additional financial resources to explore further. The priority to 

explore options for the Town Hall will be met within current budgets for the Property Team. At 

such time as further resources are needed that are outside the budgetary framework, a 

report detailing the proposed expenditure, and the effect this will have on the existing budget 

and priorities, will need to be agreed by Cabinet and Full Council at the appropriate time. The 

priority to explore options for the Assembly Hall Theatre will be met within existing resources. 

Again should further funding be required that is outside of the budget framework, a report 

with the proposed expenditure and implications will need to be agreed at Cabinet and Full 

Council. 

Page 45

Agenda Item 7



 

Page  

20 of 23 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Five Year Plan Update 

 

The work to respond to the Coronavirus pandemic has been partly funded by Central 

Government. Where actions within action plans require financial resources to implement, 

these actions, together with proposals for how to fund them (which might include further 

funding from Central Government) will need to be brought forward to Cabinet. If the 

proposals are outside the budgetary framework, this will also need to be agreed by Full 

Council. 

Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Parking and Procurement 

C. Staffing 

The report relates to the current and future priorities and work plans of the Council, and so 

directly impacts on the staffing requirement at the Council. 

The additional work created by responding to the Coronavirus pandemic will need to be 

taken into account when planning the work to progress the longer term priorities of the 

Council, some of which may need to be delayed or postponed until the relevant staffing 

resources are available. This is particularly the case for senior managers, who are required 

to liaise and be a part of the regional and national response, as well as the local response. 

The Council will need to monitor levels of health and wellbeing closely, and be aware of the 

additional ‘asks’ it is placing on staff so that work levels can be managed carefully. 

Nicky Carter, Head of HR, Communities and Culture 

D. Risk Management 

The issues in this report relate to the current and future work programme of the Council, and 

where appropriate, are included in the Council’s main strategic risk register. 

Jane Clarke, Head of Policy and Governance 

E. Environment and Sustainability 

The proposed future priorities that are contained in this report have a direct relevance to the 

requirements in the National Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 and the 

Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000. The proposed priorities seek to preserve bio-

diversity in the Borough and to conserve the Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, through 

specific policies within the emerging Local Plan. As these policies come forward through the 

Council’s decision making processes, further details regarding how they impact on the 

environment and sustainability will be provided for consideration. 

Section 40, National Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 

40(1) Every public authority must, in exercising its functions have regard so 

far as is consistent with the proper exercise of those functions, to the 

purpose of conserving biodiversity. 

Section 85, Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 

Page 46

Agenda Item 7



 

Page  

21 of 23 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Five Year Plan Update 

 

85(1) In exercising or performing any functions in relation to, or so as to 

affect, land in an area of outstanding natural beauty, a relevant authority 

shall have regard to the purpose of conserving and enhancing the natural 

beauty of the area of outstanding natural beauty. 

Karin Grey, Sustainability Officer,  

F. Community Safety 

The majority of proposals within this report have a low relevance to community safety. Where 

the Council has proposed actions around community safety relating to the Coronavirus 

pandemic, this have been developed in accordance with the Council’s Community Safety 

Partnership Plan. 

Section 17, Crime and Disorder Act 1998 

17(1) Without prejudice to any other obligation imposed on it, it shall be the 

duty of each authority to which this section applies to exercise its various 

functions with due regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those 

functions on, and the need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent, crime 

and disorder in its area. 

Terry Hughes, Community Safety Manager 

G. Equalities 

The recovery impact assessments include an assessment of how the Coronavirus pandemic 

has impacted on those with a protected characteristic. Nationally it has been observed that 

the pandemic has a greater impact on the elderly, those with a disability or long term illness, 

and those from BAME groups. Actions and policy interventions to support recovery will need 

to take this into account when being implemented. 

The future priorities of the Council will need to be consulted on, and an Equalities Impact 

Assessment conducted at the relevant time to ensure that none of the proposed policies 

have a detrimental impact in terms of discrimination, harassment or victimisation on those 

with a protected characteristic, and where possible seeks to advance equality of opportunity 

and foster good relations between communities. 

Section 149, Equality Act 2010 

149(1) A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due 

regard to the need to –  

(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct 

that is prohibited by or under this Act; 

(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 

protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; 

(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

Page 47

Agenda Item 7



 

Page  

22 of 23 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Five Year Plan Update 

 

Jane Clarke, Head of Policy and Governance. 

H. Data Protection 

The issues highlighted in this report have a low impact on data protection issues. Where 

consultations with the general public are run in the future, these will need to be conducted in 

accordance with the principles and requirements of relevant data protection legislation. 

Article 5, General Data Protection Regulation 2016 

1. Personal data shall be: 

(a) processed lawfully, fairly and in a transparent manner in relation to the 

data subject; 

(b) collected for specific, explicit and legitimate purposes and not further 

processed in a manner that is incompatible with those purposes; 

(c) adequate, relevant and limited to what is necessary in relation to the 

purposes for which they are processed; 

(d) accurate and, where necessary, kept up to date; 

(e) kept in a form which permits identification of data subjects for no longer 

than is necessary for the purposes for which the personal data are 

processed; 

(f) processed in a manner that ensures appropriate security of the personal 

data, including protection against unauthorised or unlawful processing and 

against accidental loss, destruction or damage, using appropriate technical 

or organisational measures. 

Jane Clarke, Head of Policy and Governance 

I. Health and Safety 

The issues in this report have a low impact on health and safety considerations. 

Jane Clarke, Head of Policy and Governance 

J. Health and Wellbeing 

The Council’s response to the Coronavirus pandemic has a direct impact on the health and 

wellbeing of the residents within the Borough, and specific actions have been proposed 

through the Health impact assessment and action plan.  

These actions have been developed in conjunction with the relevant policies of the Council 

that relate to health an wellbeing, and seek to support the health and wellbeing of all 

residents through the recovery period and afterwards. 

Page 48

Agenda Item 7



 

Page  

23 of 23 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Five Year Plan Update 

 

1. Areas of deprivation: Will the proposal have an impact (positive of 

negative) on those living in areas of deprivation within the borough (40% 

most deprived in the country). These are Sherwood, Southborough and High 

Brooms, Broadwater and Rusthall. 

2. Healthier lifestyle opportunities: Will residents be more or less able to 

make healthier lifestyle choices such as physical activity (e.g. active travel, 

access to green spaces or access to leisure facilities), healthy eating (e.g. 

proximity or access to take away shops, allotments, food stores) and being 

smokefree 

3. Social and Community networks: Will the proposal make it easier for 

people to interact with one another e.g. encouraging community engagement 

4. Living and Working Conditions: does to proposal improve work or home 

environments, increase job, education or training opportunities, improve 

access to health services or housing 

5. General Socioeconomic, cultural and environmental conditions: Are there 

any other factors that may impact the above 

Rebecca Bowers, Healthy Lifestyles Manager 

Page 49

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



K&M Renewal & 

Resilience Plan 

Themes 

Economic 

Development Strategy 

Themes

Topic Actions
Accountable 

Organisation
Lead Name Delivery Partners Target Start Target End

Resource/Capacity 

Required

Priority 

(Essential/ 

Important/ 

Desireable)

TWBC Website Providing up to date information in a format that is accessible for businesses TWBC Hilary Smith TWBC With Partners 23/03/20 Ongoing ED team/budge Important

Covid Business Information Set up Business Conference Calls TWBC Hilary Smith BID, FSB, KICC 01/10/20 31/03/21 ED team/budget Important

Business Recovery Group Set up the Group to over see Action Plan TWBC David Candlin BID, FSB, KICC 01/09/20 24/09/20 ED team/budget Essential

Performance Reporting Collating and reporting on KPIs to BRG, Covid-19 Panel and other Committees. TWBC David Candlin With Partners 24/09/20 Ongoing ED team/budget Essential

Ongoing support for reopening Town Centres through exploring options for projects TWBC Hilary Smith
BID, Parish Councils, 

KCC Highways
01/06/20 31/03/21 ED team/budget Essential

Development of projects funded through Reopening the High Street Safely Fund. TWBC Hilary Smith BID, KCC Highways 23/09/20 31/03/21 ED team/budget Essential

Identify new funding sources for reopening the Town Centre TWBC Hilary Smith BID 01/06/20 Ongoing ED team/budget Important

Installing footfall counters BID Ross Feeney
TWBC, town centre 

businesses
01/11/20 Ongoing BID team/budget Important

Shop in Line not On Line  Campaign BID Ross Feeney
TWBC, town centre 

businesses
01/10/20 Ongoing BID team/budget Essential

Bollard covers and banners BID Ross Feeney
TWBC, town centre 

businesses
01/10/20 31/03/21 BID team/budget Important

Christmas promotional campaign BID Ross Feeney
TWBC, town Centre 

businesses
01/04/20 31/03/21 BID team/budget Essential

Partnership working with town and parish councils across the borough to support Covid-19 safety 

measures and marketing e.g. Hawkhurst

Town & Parish 

councils
Hilary Smith TWBC, local businesses 01/06/20 31/03/21 ED team/budget Essential

Development of projects for other centres funded through Reopening the High Street Safely Fund TWBC Hilary Smith Town & Parish councils 23/09/20 31/03/21 ED team/budget Essential

Identify new funding sources for reopening the other town centres TWBC Hilary Smith
T&P Councils, local 

businesses
24/09/20 Ongoing ED team/budget Essential

Evidence Base Preparation of updated report as part of evidence for Local Plan. TWBC Sharon Evans

Local Agents, Town 

Forum, BID, local 

residents

01/08/20 31/10/20 ED team/budget Essential

WKP Retail Research & 

Support

Develop collateral highlighting the challenges and issues faced by particularly independent retailers 

across West Kent in urban and rural location and seek opportunities to attract funding to support them
WKP Wendy Wood

TWBC, ACRK, local 

businesses
01/08/20 31/03/21 ED team/budget Important

Completion and closure of current EU funded programme
WKP Leader 

ELAG
Wendy Wood TWBC, local businesses 01/09/20 31/03/21 ED team/budget Important

Lobby Government for rural funding in UK Prosperity Fund WKP Wendy Wood Local MPs 01/09/20 Ongoing ED team/budget Essential

Explore new options to support rural businesses WKP Wendy Wood TWBC, local businesses 01/09/20 31/03/21 WKP team/budget Important

Communications, 

Confidence & Trust

Produce newsletter quarterly with relevant information for businesses,  Building on contacts made as a 

result of Covid-19 grants programmes.

Signposting to business information and opportunities

TWBiz Newsletter

TWBiz Social Media

Important

All EDS Themes

Hilary SmithTWBC TWBC With Partners 23/03/20 Ongoing

23/03/20TWBC Hilary Smith With Partners Ongoing ED team/budget Important

ED team/budget

Economy/Business Short Term (6 months) Action Plan

Reopening RTW Town 

Centre

Reopening Rural Town 

Centres

LEADER Rural Programme

Open for Business

Town Centres, Rural 

Economy, Place 

Shaping, Visitor 

Economy

P
age 51

A
ppendix A



Tourist Information Service - Emphasis on activities that can be socially distanced, particularly walking 

and cycling
TWBC Kate Finch

local businesses, Visit 

Kent, Explore Kent
11/08/20 31/03/21 ED team/budget Important

Vtw website. Emphasis on activities that can be socially distanced, particularly walking and cycling. TWBC Emma O'Halloran
local businesses, Visit 

Kent, Explore Kent
23/03/20 31/03/21 ED team/budget Essential

Promoted for Heritage Open Days (11 – 20 Sep) and ongoing promotion TWBC Kate Finch
Amelia Scott, BID, local 

businesses
01/09/20 20/09/20

ED team/budget & 

Amelia team/budget
Desirable

Interreg Experience 

Programme

Participation in Interreg Experience programme with VK and other Kent Districts, including 

comprehensive business development programme for at least 10 businesses looking to develop new 

products

VK Hilary Smith
TWBC, VK, local 

businesses
Ongoing 31/03/21 ED team/budget Important

Visit Kent’s Secret Garden of 

England

Funding contribution to Visit Kent’s Secret Garden of England marketing campaign with the aim of 

lengthening the visitor season into Autumn. Includes an Instagram story for TW Borough on the Visit 

Kent profile, a video, social media, newsletter, radio ads on local radio

VK Emma O'Halloran
TWBC, VK, local 

businesses
01/09/20 01/11/20 ED team/budget Important

Instagram profile for Tourism
Develop and launch new Instagram profile for Tourism – to offer up to date information for events. 

Covid requires agile approach
TWBC Kate Finch

TWBC and local 

businesses
01/08/20 Ongoing ED team/budget Desirable

Communications
Articles / advertorials in the local papers: 10 full pages in the printed version of Times of TW; in the 

printed Courier Newspaper a 10 week run plus 2 online articles
TWBC

Hilary Smith & 

Anne McCarthy

TWBC, ToTW, Courier, 

local businesses
01/07/20 31/03/21 ED team/budget Important

TWBC Business Survey
Explore option of Tunbridge Wells Business Survey to get more detailed data on challenges and 

opportunities. Consider use of KICC survey and promote
TWBC Hilary Smith TWBC 01/10/20 01/12/20 ED team/budget Important

Kent & Medway Growth Hub Continue to support and promote Kent & Medway Growth Hub for business advice KICC Hilary Smith
TWBC, All Kent Districts, 

KCC
01/09/20 31/12/20 ED team/budget Essential

West Kent Business Support 

Programme

New campaign to promote ongoing West Kent Business Support Programme, aimed start-ups and pre 

start-ups. Currently advice meetings held virtually
WKP Wendy Wood

TWBC, WKP, Centre for 

Micro-Business
30/09/20 31/03/21 WKP team/budget Important

Financial Support 

Programmes

Signposting to financial and other support for businesses including grants and loan schemes e.g. Kent 

& Medway Business Fund, LoCase
TWBC Hilary Smith TWBC and partners 31/03/20 Ongoing ED team/budget Essential

WKP Scale Up Programme
Seek opportunities to support potential high growth businesses by delivering a West Kent Scale Up to 

a second cohort of 12 businesses
WKP Wendy Wood KICC, TWBC, WKP 01/12/20 31/03/22 WKP team/budget Desirable

Kent & Medway Employment 

Taskforce
Ensure links to Kent & Medway Employment Taskforce via West Kent Skills Sub-Group WKP Allan Baillie

WKP, Districts, KCC, FE 

Colleges
01/07/20 31/03/21 WKP team/budget Essential

West Kent Kickstart 

Programme
Support set up of West Kent Gateway and promote opportunities to local businesses and at TWBC WKP Wendy Wood

TWBC, WKP, EAN, 

DWP/JCP, local 

businesses

14/09/20 31/12/21 ED team/budget Essential

West Kent Enterprise 

Advisor Network

Deliver a hub-ready EAN by September 21 working with schools to deliver across all 8 Gatsby 

benchmarks and enhance opportunity and experiences within our schools
WKP Wendy Wood

TWBC, WKP, local 

businesses, local 

schools

31/03/20 Ongoing WKP team/budget Essential

Virtual Jobs & Training programmed for November 2020 with Jobscentre Plus and KICC WKP Wendy Wood JCP, TWBC, KICC 01/08/20 15/11/20 WKP team/budget Essential

Promote opportunity to local businesses JCP Mark Lloyd WKP,KICC 01/08/20 15/11/20 JCP Essential

Promote opportunity to jobseekers JCP Mark Lloyd TWBC, WKP, KICC 01/10/20 15/11/20 JCP Essential

Supporting Business

People

ImportantFast-tracked launch of self-guided walk around RTW town centre and make available for download TWBC
Kate Finch & Luke 

Currell

Amelia Scott, BID, local 

businesses
01/04/20 01/08/20

ED team/budget & 

Amelia team/budget

West Kent Virtual Jobs & 

Training Fair

Tales of Tunbridge Wells 

Heritage Walk.

Supporting Enterprise

Training & Employability

Support for reopening visitor 

economy 

Open for Business

Town Centres, Rural 

Economy, Place 

Shaping, Visitor 

Economy

P
age 52

A
ppendix A



Preparation of Local Plan TWBC Stephen Baughen KCC Ongoing 31/03/21 Planning Team Essential

Prepare Transport Strategy TWBC Hilary Smith KCC Ongoing 31/03/21
ED & Planning 

team/budget
Essential

Prepare Local Cycling & Walking Infrastructure Plan TWBC Hilary Smith
KCC, local residents & 

businesses
01/03/20 31/10/20

ED & Planning 

team/budget
Essential

Development of Amelia project for completion in 2022 and ongoing programme development TWBC David Candlin KCC Ongoing 01/02/20
Amelia/Property 

team/budget
Essential

Development of Cultural Compact TWBC

Hilary Smith & 

John-Jackson 

Almond

TWBC, KCC 01/07/20 31/03/20
ED & Culture team 

budget
Essential

Flexible Workspace Work with partners to deliver new flexible workspace in the borough e.g. ASK and other projects. TWBC David Candlin

TWBC, BID, local 

businesses, Locate in 

Kent

Ongoing Ongoing Property team/budget Important

Delivery of tranche 1 schemes - RTW 20mph, A26 Cycle Route, Reynolds Lane, High Street, 

Commercial Road Paddock Wood 
KCC Nikola Floodgate

TWBC, town & parish 

councils, BID, RTWTF 
01/08/20 18-Sep-20

KCC Schemes 

team/budget
Essential

Camden Road TWBC Hilary Smith TWBC, KCC, BID 01/08/20 31/03/21
ED team/Traffic 

Officer/budget
Important

Delivery of Forest Road tranche 2 scheme KCC Nikola Floodgate
TWBC, town & parish 

councils, RTWTF 
01/10/20 31/03/21

KCC Schemes 

team/budget
Important

Transport Funding Funding bids and negotiation for s106 funding for transport infrastructure. TWBC
Hilary Smith & 

Stephen Baughen

KMEP, SELEP, Central 

Government, KCC, 

developers

Ongoing Ongoing
ED & Planning 

team/budget
Essential

Public Transport Forum - Partnership working with public transport operators TWBC Beth Parsons

KCC, Bus operators, 

Network Rail. 

Southeastern, town & 

parish councils

Ongoing Ongoing
ED &Planning 

team/budget
Important

Quality Bus Partnership - Partnership working with public transport operators. Consider West Kent 

QBP 
KCC Beth Parsons TWBC, Bus operators Ongoing Ongoing ED team/budget Important

Identify ‘cold spots’ of broadband connectivity in the borough. KCC Beth Parsons KCC, TWBC Ongoing 31/03/21 ED team/budget Essential

Rural Gigabit Connectivity Programme - promotion in the Business e-newsletter, local newspapers, 

TWBC Local Magazine and via the TWBC website. 
TWBC Beth Parsons

Central Government, 

town & parish councils
01/07/19 31/03/21 ED team/budget Essential

Community Fibre Partnerships - Working in partnership with local parishes to set up several community 

partnerships 
TWBC Beth Parsons

KCC, town & parish 

councils, BT
Ongoing 31/03/21 ED team/budget Essential

BT Openreach commercial programme to roll out fibre broadband e.g. RTW town centre. BT Beth Parsons BT, TWBC, KCC Ongoing Ongoing ED team/budget Essential

Investment

Place Shaping & 

Promotion, Accessibility 

& Connectivity

Broadband infrastructure

Public Transport

Tunbridge Wells Local Plan

Creative Economy

Emergency Active Travel 

Schemes

P
age 53

A
ppendix A



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Draft Tunbridge Wells Economic Recovery Plan 

Forward 

This Economic Recovery Plan forms an addendum to the current Economic 

Development Strategy 2018 – 2021. The Economic Development Strategy will be 

reviewed fully in 2021. 

Since lockdown in March 2020, the Council has mobilised its resources to support 

businesses and communities in the borough through this difficult time. Specifically in 

relation to businesses the Council has: 

 Distributed the Retail, Leisure & Hospitality, Small Business and Discretionary 

Grants schemes, with approximately £28 million sent on to borough 

businesses; 

 Contributed to the funding for the Kent & Medway Growth Hub Covid-19 

support website and phone line, with over 850 contacts from Tunbridge Wells 

businesses between March and September (4th highest demand for the 

service across the county); 

 Held conference calls for local businesses with representatives from the 

Council, local business organisations and Greg Clark MP in March, April and 

October 2020; 

 Supported the reopening of the borough’s town centres in June 2020; and 

 Supported the reopening of the hospitality sector and the wider visitor 

economy across the borough in July 2020. 

Throughout the pandemic the Council and partners have played a critical role in 

supporting business and the economy. As we have moved into recovery, that role 

has transitioned with a need to effectively plan and ensure delivery of services for 

the longer term. 

 

In preparing this plan, we recognise the uncertainty surrounding the impact of Brexit 

on our businesses from January 2021. The Council will need to keep a watching 

brief over the next six months and, working with partners, seek to support our 

businesses as they address the challenges and embrace opportunities as these 

arise.  

 

1. Impact of Covid-19 on the local economy 

This section of the recovery plan provides some information about the impact of the 

pandemic on the local economy to date. The statistics presented have been collated 

from a number of data sources including the Kent County Council Economic 

Recovery Dashboard. 

Page 55

Appendix B



 

 

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

4,000

Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20 Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20

Figure 1 below shows the percentage of the working age population that are 

unemployed in Tunbridge Wells borough (claiming either Jobseekers Allowance or 

Universal Credit principally for the reason of being unemployed) and compared to 

that of Kent & Medway and Great Britain.  

Fiigu 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 2 below shows the number of people unemployed in the borough (based 

claiming either Jobseekers Allowance or Universal Credit principally for the reason of 

being unemployed).  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0.00%

1.00%

2.00%

3.00%

4.00%

5.00%

6.00%

7.00%

Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20 Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20

Tunbridge Wells

Kent & Medway

Great Britain

Page 56

Appendix B



 

 

Figure 3 below shows the percentage of unemployed people in Tunbridge Wells 

borough across the different age groups (based on those claiming either Jobseekers 

Allowance or Universal Credit principally for the reason of being unemployed).  

 

 

Figure 4 provides a breakdown of the percentage of unemployment across the 

various wards within the borough, comparing March with August 2020. 

 

 

0.00%

1.00%

2.00%

3.00%

4.00%

5.00%

6.00%

7.00%

8.00%

9.00%

10.00%

Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20 Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20

18-24

25-49

50-64

0.00%

1.00%

2.00%

3.00%

4.00%

5.00%

6.00%

7.00%

B
e

n
en

d
en

 &
 C

ra
n

b
ro

o
k

B
re

n
ch

le
y 

&
 H

o
rs

m
o

n
d

e
n

B
ro

ad
w

at
e

r

C
ap

e
l

C
u

lv
er

d
e

n

Fr
it

te
n

d
e

n
 &

 S
an

d
h

u
rs

t

G
o

u
d

h
u

rs
t 

&
 L

am
b

e
rh

u
rs

t

H
aw

kh
u

rs
t 

&
 S

an
d

h
u

rs
t

P
ad

d
o

ck
 W

o
o

d
 E

as
t

P
ad

d
o

ck
 W

o
o

d
 W

e
st

P
an

ti
le

s 
&

 S
t 

M
ar

k'
s

P
ar

k

P
e

m
b

u
ry

R
u

st
h

al
l

St
 J

am
e

s'

St
 J

o
h

n
s'

Sh
e

rw
o

o
d

So
u

th
b

o
ro

u
gh

 &
 H

ig
h

 B
ro

o
m

s

So
u

th
b

o
ro

u
gh

 N
o

rt
h

Sp
e

ld
h

u
rs

t 
&

 B
id

b
o

ro
u

gh

March

August

Page 57

Appendix B



 

 

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

7000

8000

Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20 Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20

Not in work

In work

Figure 5 below provides a breakdown of the numbers of people unemployed in the 

borough by ward, comparing March with August 2020. 

 

Figure 6 shows the number of people claiming Universal Credit in Tunbridge Wells 

borough (both in and not in work). 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

March

August

Page 58

Appendix B



 

 

Figure 7 shows the percentage of people that are self employed in the borough (as a 

proportion of the working age population). The data compares Tunbridge Wells 

residents to Kent & Medway and Great Britain. 

 

The following information is taken from the KCC Economic Dashboard, derived from 

responses to the Government’s Business Impact of Coronavirus Survey and then 

applied to the number of enterprises within each of the individual Kent local 

authorities. The data therefore gives an indication of the position that businesses find 

themselves in across Tunbridge Wells. The data is a snapshot for August 2020. 

Figure 8: Has your business received funds from any of the schemes? 

 

0.00%

2.00%

4.00%

6.00%

8.00%

10.00%

12.00%

14.00%

16.00%

18.00%

20.00%

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Tunbridge Wells

Kent & Medway

Great Britain

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

Job retention
scheme

Government
backed

loans/finance

Not using any

Job retention scheme

Government backed
loans/finance

Not using any

Page 59

Appendix B



 

 

Figure 9 Is your business currently using any of the following initatives?  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 10: How long do you think your cash reserves will last? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

Business
rates holiday

Deferring
VAT

payments

HMRC time
to pay

scheme

Not using
any of these

initiatives

Business rates holiday

Deferring VAT payments

HMRC time to pay scheme

Not using any of these
initiatives

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

Less than a
month

1-3 months 4-6 months More than 6
months

No cash
reserves

Not sure

Page 60

Appendix B



 

 

Figure 11: In the last two weeks, how has the coronavirus pandemic affected your 

business's turnover, compared to what is normally expected for this time of year?  

 

Information about the impact of the pandemic on sectors in Kent & Medway is shown 

in Appendix A, with tourism and hospitality severely impacted. 

The Council runs a Tourism Information Service (including the Tourist Information 

Centre in the Pantiles and the visittunbridgewells website), in order to support our 

businesses and employees in the local visitor economy. The impact on the sector 

has been clear in the borough. Visits to the visittunbridgewells website have fallen 

significantly as follows: 

 April 2020 down 72% on previous year 

 May 2020 down 59% on previous year 

 August 2020 down 21% on previous year 

The Tourist Information Centre was closed in March and reopened on 11 August. 

Since reopening our visitor figures have been steadily rising.   

 August saw a footfall of 10-15 visitors a day, 10 phone calls and 10 emails. 

 September footfall rose to 30 visitors a day with up to 10-15 phone calls and 

10-15 emails.  

 September has seen 3 coach parties visiting the Pantiles, with a peak to date 

of 52 visitors on Friday 11 September.  

The key attractions in the Borough are mostly now open, with limited 

hours/service and many with a pre-book only policy.  All the hotels Royal 

Tunbridge Wells have now reopened with limited capacity. The new Premier Inn 

opened on 21 August offering 65 or their 120 rooms.  

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

2000

Turnover
down by

up to 20%

Turnover
down

between
20-50%

Turnover
down by

more than
50%

Turnover
up by up
to 20%

Turnover
up

between
20-50%

Turnover
not

affected

Not sure

Page 61

Appendix B



 

 

Visitors returning to date are almost exclusively from the UK with many in the age 

group 50 plus. They have often replaced European/International travel with a tour of 

the South East (Kent & Sussex), with a strong interest in camping and caravanning. 

2. Policy Context & Partnership working 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council works with a wide range of partners on economic 

development matters and we have continued this partnership working throughout the 

Covid-19 emergency. A number of our partner organisations have or are preparing 

their own Recovery Plans and these are summarised below:  

South East Local Enterprise Partnership 

The South East Local Enterprise Partnership (SELEP) is one of 38 LEPs, 

established to provide the clear vision and strategic leadership to drive sustainable 

private sector-led growth and job creation in their area. LEPS were set up by the 

government to be the key body determining strategic economic priorities while 

making investments and delivering activities to drive growth and create jobs. LEPs 

are responsible for preparing Local Industrial Strategies (LIS). SELEP’s final 

production of this document is currently on hold as a result of Covid-19. However, 

SELEP has identified a number of Recovery & Renewal priorities as follows: 

 

 Support trade & growth post Covid-19 and Brexit 

 Support businesses to adapt 

 Secure investment and accelerate planned growth 

 Re-skill workforce and support people to (re)enter work 

 Drive innovation and Research & Development 

 Enable a clean recovery 

 Improve digital infrastructure and skills 

 
Kent & Medway Economic Partnership 

The Kent and Medway Economic Partnership (KMEP) is the economic partnership 

for Kent and Medway which aims to drive forward economic growth and prosperity 

throughout the region. It was set up in 2013. KMEP is governed by a Board and 

chaired by the private sector, with membership drawn from business, local 

government, further and higher education. KMEP published its Renewal & Resilience 

Plan in August 2020. The Plan sets out 5 ‘channels’ of activity, as follows: 

 

 Communications, Confidence and Trust – providing better intelligence to 

inform our actions and ensuring collaboration and partnership to drive our 

activity  

Page 62

Appendix B



 

 

 Open for Business – taking action to build confidence and demonstrate that 

the Borough is open and accessible  

 Supporting Business – supporting resilient and innovative businesses to 

drive future growth  

 People – enabling people to access work and skills and reach their potential  

 Investment – planning and investing now for a sustainable future.  

 

These are also underpinned by three key principles  

 cleaner and greener;  

 productive and open and better opportunities 

 fairer chances.  

 
A Kent & Medway Employment Task Force is to be set up. This will be temporary, 

task-oriented and focused on the central challenge of rising unemployment and what 

partners collectively need to do to limit and reverse it. It will exist in the context of the 

Government’s proposed interventions, and will identify how these can be best 

supported, and where they can be supplemented by additional local action.  

 

West Kent Partnership 

The West Kent Partnership is the strategic economic partnership covering the local 

authority areas of Sevenoaks, Tunbridge Wells and Tonbridge & Malling. The WKP 

seeks to address economic, transport and infrastructure issues to create a stronger 

West Kent economy and conditions for businesses to thrive. In 2018 the WKP 

prepared the West Kent Economic Priorities for Growth Strategy (WKPEG). An 

addendum to this strategy has been prepared in response to Covid-19. The 

addendum proposes some potential short term measures to deliver more resilience 

in recovery in West Kent. An Action Plan has been developed to serve as a bridge 

between these shorter term priorities and the medium term aspirations of the 

WKPEG.  

The Action Plan has an increased emphasis on the importance of skills to support 

sector needs moving into growth from recovery. The WKP will support the work of 

the Kent & Medway Employment Task Force.  

Young people are particularly at risk of disadvantage by the fall-out from Covid-19 

impacting on future career opportunities. In West Kent unemployment for 18-24 year 

olds has risen from under 2% and 480 young people in August 2019 to around 8.5% 

and 1920 young people in August 2020 (Nomis). It is significantly higher now than for 

the West Kent population aged 25-64 which stands at 4.5%.  With this priority in 

mind the West Kent Partnership has registered as a Kickstart Gateway and aims to 

Page 63

Appendix B



 

 

be facilitating placements for young people with West Kent businesses in the first 

tranche of the scheme.   

 

TWBC Plans & Strategies 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Five Year Plan 2017 – 2022: The Five Year Plan 

is the Council’s corporate strategy and focuses on what we want to achieve for our 

borough and for the services provided. It has an overarching vision of what we want 

the borough and our council to look like in the next five years, and the priorities that 

we believe will achieve this vision. The vision in the current Five Year Plan is ‘to 

encourage investment and sustainable growth, and to enhance quality of life for all’. 

The Five Year Plan is currently being reviewed. 

Emerging Tunbridge Wells Local Plan: The Local Plan sets out the strategy for 

growth in the borough, both housing and business uses. The Draft Plan (Regulation 

19) will be published for consultation in Spring 2021.   

Economic Development Strategy 2018 – 2021: The Tunbridge Wells Economic 

Development Strategy was published in 2018 with the overall aim: to seek to create 

the best possible conditions for business investment and sustainable growth in the 

borough. Further details of the Strategy objectives are set out in Section 3 of this 

Plan. 

Cultural Strategy 2014 – 2024: The Borough’s Cultural Strategy sets out the aim ‘To 

grow our role as the cultural centre of the Kent & Sussex High Weald, so that by 

2024 the Borough of Tunbridge Wells is nationally recognised for its vibrant cultural 

provision’.  TWBC is part of an Arts Council England pilot to set up a Cultural 

Compact. This is a new model of governance, setting up a locally determined 

strategic partnership to create ‘whole place leadership’ for culture. It is designed to 

create a sustainable local framework to replicate the impact of a major cultural 

programme. It will significantly raise levels of ambition and align investment and 

resources towards shared priorities’….‘Compact partners will work together to create 

and deliver a plan to maximise social and economic benefits from a thriving cultural 

ecosystem.’ 

3. Key Issues & Objectives 

The 2018 Tunbridge Wells Economic Development Strategy sets out the following 

objectives:  

Objective 1: Place Shaping and Promotion – Enhance the attractiveness of Royal 

Tunbridge Wells and the other town centres in the borough as thriving cultural places 

to visit, shop, work and do business. 

Objective 2: Accessibility & Connectivity – Develop efficient transport & digital 

communication networks to support the vitality and competitiveness of the borough’s 

local economy. 

Page 64

Appendix B



 

 

Objective 3: Skills & Employability – Develop a workforce equipped with appropriate 

skills to capitalise on local employment opportunities. 

Objective 4: Rural Economy – Develop a strong, diverse rural economy to sustain 

local communities. 

Objective 5: Supporting Enterprise – Encourage the continued development of a 

wide range of enterprises in the borough, including through the provision of new 

workspace. 

The Council considers that these objectives remain valid in the medium term, 

however, the Covid-19 pandemic and the challenges and opportunities relating to 

Brexit, necessitate some re-emphasis and additions or amendments to actions in the 

short term. In the short term the issues that need further focus include: 

Business Support & Engagement – Ensuring suitable provision and signposting of 

appropriate support, advice and financial assistance through government and other 

loans and grants as a consequence of the economic impact of Covid-19 and 

potential impact of Brexit  

 

Visitor and Hospitality Sector Reopening – To understand and support the visitor 

and hospitality sector issues as restrictions are lifted. To understand and plan for 

impact associated with an emerging local outbreak plan.   

 

Employment – Identify businesses requiring support to maintain employment and 

growth in the borough. To understand and plan for impact associated with an 

emerging local outbreak plan.   

 

Training & Skills – Ensure provision and signposting to provision of skills and 

training for businesses and individuals to re-skill and seek new employment. 

 

Local Pan – Co-ordinate with the local plan for the repurposing of town centres and 

employment space demand in response to Covid-19 and Brexit. 

 

Transport & Infrastructure – Ensuring the approach to infrastructure meets wider 

requirements and builds on social and policy changes. 

An updated set of actions are presented in the attached Business Recovery Action 

Plan. 

4. Delivery of the Action Plan  

The recently convened Tunbridge Wells Business Recovery Group (BRG) will 

oversee delivery of this Recovery Action Plan. Members include Tunbridge Wells 

Borough Council, Royal Tunbridge Wells Together Business Improvement District, 

the Federation of Small Businesses and Kent Invicta Chamber of Commerce. The 

Page 65

Appendix B



 

 

BRG will work with other recovery groups within and external from TWBC as shown 

in the Figure 12 below: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The purpose of the Business Recovery Group (BRG) is to provide liaison and 

support to the business community, understand the impact of Covid-19 on 

businesses and the economy and assist in recovery, particularly where protections 

are lifted and further to monitor, understand and respond to the impact of Brexit. 

The Action Plan has been prepared recognising that the levers for local economic 

intervention are limited in relation to the significant impact of Covid-19. However, 

actions in the plan include those that involve: 

 lobbying central government to ensure that any new support packages 

address the issues faced by our businesses; 

 applying/bidding for new government funding as it becomes available; and 

 targeted supplementary programmes aimed at filling gaps provision with the 

resources available to the Council and its partners. 

 

 

  

Page 66

Appendix B



 

 

Appendix A: Impact of Covid-19 on sectors from Kent & Medway Renewal & 

Resilience Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 67

Appendix B



 

 

Appendix B: Links to Background documents 

SELEP Covid-19 Economic Response Statement 

https://www.southeastlep.com/app/uploads/2020/08/SELEP_Economic_Response_s

tatement-_PDF_EC2.pdf 

Kent & Medway Renewal & Resilience Plan 

https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0014/112280/Economic-Renewal-

and-Resilience-Plan-Backing-Jobs-and-Businesses-Plan.pdf 

Council’s Five Year Plan 

https://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/council/strategies-plans-and-policies/the-five-

year-plan 

Draft Local Plan 

https://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/343718/Consultation-

Draft-Local-Plan.pdf 

Economic Development Strategy 

https://tunbridgewells.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0009/357075/6E87D299523404

14E0531401A8C0B054_FINAL_Economic_Development_Strategy_2018-

21_TW1623.compressed.pdf 

Cultural Strategy 

https://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0011/366086/cultural-

strategy-June-2016-low-res.pdf 

 

 

 

 

Page 68

Appendix B

https://www.southeastlep.com/app/uploads/2020/08/SELEP_Economic_Response_statement-_PDF_EC2.pdf
https://www.southeastlep.com/app/uploads/2020/08/SELEP_Economic_Response_statement-_PDF_EC2.pdf
https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0014/112280/Economic-Renewal-and-Resilience-Plan-Backing-Jobs-and-Businesses-Plan.pdf
https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0014/112280/Economic-Renewal-and-Resilience-Plan-Backing-Jobs-and-Businesses-Plan.pdf
https://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/council/strategies-plans-and-policies/the-five-year-plan
https://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/council/strategies-plans-and-policies/the-five-year-plan
https://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/343718/Consultation-Draft-Local-Plan.pdf
https://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/343718/Consultation-Draft-Local-Plan.pdf
https://tunbridgewells.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0009/357075/6E87D29952340414E0531401A8C0B054_FINAL_Economic_Development_Strategy_2018-21_TW1623.compressed.pdf
https://tunbridgewells.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0009/357075/6E87D29952340414E0531401A8C0B054_FINAL_Economic_Development_Strategy_2018-21_TW1623.compressed.pdf
https://tunbridgewells.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0009/357075/6E87D29952340414E0531401A8C0B054_FINAL_Economic_Development_Strategy_2018-21_TW1623.compressed.pdf
https://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0011/366086/cultural-strategy-June-2016-low-res.pdf
https://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0011/366086/cultural-strategy-June-2016-low-res.pdf


Community Theme Action Plan

Timescale Action

Action to 

Mitigate or 

Opportunity

Accountable 

organisation
Lead Name

Target 

Start
Target End

Resource/Capacit

y required

Priority Essential 

Important 

Desirable

Continue to provide emergency housing for rough sleepers Mitigate

Housing 

Team

Jane Lang/Chris 

White 26.3.20 31.3.21

Funding of 

£253.54 per week 

per person; 

£8873.90 per 

week based on 

current numbers. 

MHCLG bid below 

includes request 

for funding Essential 

Continue to provide a support package for rough sleepers, to 

address mental and physical health problems plus drug and alcohol 

issues Opportunity

Housing 

Team/Porchli

ght/NHS

Jane Lang/Chris 

White 26.3.20 31.3.21

Outreach work 

funded through 

existing Rough 

Sleeper Initiative 

budget Essential 

Submit bid to MHCLG for housing rough sleepers. Bid will include: 

Funding to renovate empty TWBC owned homes to create 6 

bedspaces for rough sleepers;funding for 3 bedspaces for ex 

offenders in supported housing in Maidstone; funding for 

emergency housing and rent deposits; tenancy sustainment 

support Opportunity

Housing 

Team

Jane Lang/Chris 

White 1.8.20 20.8.20

Officer time - 2 

full time 

members of 

Housing team, 

Property and 

Estates Team Essential 

Contact landlords of tenants who have been given Notice to try to 

prevent tenancies ending Mitigate

Housing 

Team

Wendy 

Hogg/Sophie 

Valentine 1.9.20 31.10.20

Officer time - to 

run reports to 

identify affected 

tenants and to 

contact the 

landlords Important

Short Term 

within 6 mths

P
age 69

A
ppendix C



Target Discretionary Housing Payments to people who are 

adversely affected financially by Covid 19 and are facing 

homelessness Mitigate

Housing 

Team/Benefit

s Team

Wendy 

Hogg/Sophie 

Valentine 1.9.20 28.2.21

Officer time - to 

identify people 

who would 

benefit from a 

DHP and to help 

them complete 

the application Important

Progress TWBC acting as a Rent Guarantor Opportunity

Housing 

Team

Jane Lang/Shaun 

Gilbert 1.9.20 31.1.21

Officer time - to 

write report to 

obtain 

internal/political 

sign off for TWBC 

to act as a 

Guarantor and to 

get the scheme in 

place Important

Explore option of voluntary sector supporting tenants facing 

eviction at Court; potentially representing them at Hearings Mitigate

Housing 

Team Liz DeVilliers 30.9.20 31.12.20

CAB's officer time 

to explore this 

and make 

arrangements for 

Court 

representation Important

Explore referrals route for debt advice and family mediation to give 

priority to residents facing homelessness Mitigate

Citizens 

Advice 

Bureau Liz DeVilliers 30.9.2020 31.12.20

CAB's officer time 

to explore this 

and to share 

referral routes Important

Planning for a local lockdown; provision of emergency housing Mitigate

Housing 

Team Jane Lang 1.9.20 31.10.20 Officer time to speak to emergency housing providers/hotelsEssential 

Short Term 

within 6 mths

P
age 70

A
ppendix C



TWBC to decide if an Affordable Housing Company should be set 

up, in order to develop more affordable housing for residents who 

cannot afford private rent or home ownership Opportunity

Housing 

Team Jane Lang 1.10.20 31.3.21

Officer time to 

organise and 

develop this 

project; Member 

time to consider 

proposals. Costs 

of carrying out a 

detailed options 

appraisal Important

TWBC to progress long term private rentals funded through 

investment company; TWBC has nomination rights and covers void 

costs, then becomes owner of property after 25 years Opportunity

Housing 

Team Jane Lang 1.10.20 31.3021

Officer time to 

research and 

present proposals 

to Members; 

Members' time to 

consider 

information and 

decide if TWBC 

should go ahead Important

Making contact with private landlords via the Benefits system Opportunity

Benefits & 

Housing 

teams

Nick 

Saunders/Jane 

Lang 1.10.20 30.4.21

Officer time in 

both Benefits and 

Housing teams Important

Medium Term  6 - 

12 mths

P
age 71

A
ppendix C



Revisiting the Empty Property list to identify potential properties 

for people in housing need Opportunity

Private Sector 

Housing 

Team/Housin

g Needs Team

James Cox/Jane 

Lang 1.12.20 31.3.21

Officer time for 

going through the 

list and 

contacting 

potential 

landlords, 

explaining what 

would be 

involved in them 

letting their 

empty homes, 

explaining the 

grants they could 

apply for, 

managing the 

grant process and 

advising on the 

legal/safety 

requirements for 

the properties Important

Medium Term  6 - 

12 mths

Long Term   later 

than 12 

P
age 72

A
ppendix C



Community Theme - Impact Assessment - Housing 

The following graphs provide a comparison between Mar-Aug 2019 and 2020. Firstly, the number of people 
approaching the Council because they are homeless, or threatened with homelessness. 
 
 

 
 
The following two graphs show the main reasons for homelessness between March and August 2019 and 2020. 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug

Homeless approaches  

2019

2020

P
age 73

A
ppendix D



 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug

Reasons for homelessness 2019 

End of private rental

Family and friends eviction

Relationship break up

Domestic Abuse

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug

Reasons for homelessness 2020 

End of private rental

Family and friends eviction

Relationship break up

Domestic abuse

P
age 74

A
ppendix D



 
 
What does the data identify in terms of impact?  Are there any gaps in the data? 
 
The data reflects that we have a higher than usual number of placements in emergency housing. Pre Covid 19, we 
would have around 25 households in emergency housing. Most of those would be families with children. 
 
As of 31 August, we have 51 households in emergency accommodation. Most of these (36) are single people or 
couples who are not in priority need under the homelessness legislation, who would not usually be entitled to 
emergency accommodation. Currently we have 36 single people, one couple and fourteen families with children. 
 

What local knowledge do we have on the impact which is not reflected in the data? 
 
We are anticipating a spike in family homelessness post lock down, due to family/friends no longer being able to 
accommodate people and also an increase in tenants approaching for help because their landlord has served them 
with a Notice. The eviction ban was due to be lifted on 23 August but has been extended until 20 September. On 21 
August, Communities Secretary Robert Jenrick stated that landlords are required to serve six month Notice periods for 
the majority of tenants (exceptions including tenants causing anti social behaviour and domestic abuse perpetrators.) 
 

P
age 75

A
ppendix D



 
 
 

Overall, what do you think are the biggest risks/consequences of the impact? 
 
Moving homeless applicants on from emergency housing, which is challenging due to the lack of availability of private 
rentals for people on a low income/benefits. As of 31 August 2020, we have 36 single people being housed in 
emergency housing who have been accommodated due to Covid 19. This puts additional pressure on the Housing 
Service’s staffing resources and rent deposit scheme. 
 
We are also likely to experience difficulties finding alternative accommodation for families where we can’t prevent 
their evictions from private rentals. Letting agents have advised that the rental market is very competitive since 
moving house has been permitted again. This means that our customers, who are often in receipt of benefits or on a 
low income, are likely to find it more difficult to secure a private rental. 
 
Whilst the Housing Service has not as yet seen an increase in approaches from owner occupiers, we are predicting in 

0 5 10 15 20 25

March

April

May

June

July

August

People approaching due to Notice from private landlord 

2020 2019P
age 76

A
ppendix D



the forthcoming months once furlough arrangements end, more people contacting us because of problems paying 
their mortgage. 
 

Overall, what do think are the biggest opportunities? 
 

Ending rough sleeping 
 
The Government asked all local authorities to get ‘Everyone in’ by 27 March. This meant TWBC provided emergency 
accommodation to single people who were sleeping rough, or were at risk of sleeping rough. We have kept these 
bookings going, and will continue to do so until 31 March 2020. The Government have launched the Next Steps 
Accommodation Programme, which provides £105m revenue funding and £161m capital funding for local authorities 
to bid for, in order to fund longer term homes for rough sleepers. 
 
The fact that most of our rough sleepers are now off the streets in emergency housing means that we have a better 
opportunity to end rough sleeping for good. We have moved on 40 rough sleepers already since the ‘Everyone in’ 
initiative started.  

P
age 77

A
ppendix D



 
 
 
As of 31 August 2020, we have 36 rough sleepers in emergency housing. TWBC has applied to the Next Steps 
Accommodation Programme to request a mixture of Revenue and Capital funding. We have requested funding for the 
following: 

 Further emergency accommodation  

 To fund rent deposits for privately rented accommodation 

 Funding for two support workers to help sustain the private tenancies we want to set up 

 Capital funding to renovate three empty TWBC owned houses into 6 one bedroom flats for rough sleepers 

 Funding to provide support staff for the rough sleepers who move into the flats 
 
 
 
Are there any quick wins? 
 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

Move ons after 'Everyone in' 

Type of move on

P
age 78

A
ppendix D



The Housing team intend to contact the customers we are already aware of who have been served with a Notice pre 
and during Covid-19, to try and save their tenancies. 
 
The increase to the Local Housing Allowance (LHA) rates has made renting privately a more realistic option for many 
people in a homeless situation.  
 
Using Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP) to prevent homelessness for people who have been affected financially 
by Covid-19 is another quick win. 

Is there anything we should stop doing now to aid recovery? 
 

 Providing a ‘gold standard’ service in terms of timescales for contacting customers. We have set up an 
automatic email that customers receive when they complete an online referral form for housing 
advice/homelessness help. This manages customers’ expectations more effectively- it explains that we will 
respond within 5 working days. Previously we were usually contacting customers the following working day. 

 

Are there any media/communications issues or requirements that need to be flagged as a result? 
 
We may want to consider doing a piece for the paper on how to keep a private rental and how to contact us if 
someone has been given a Notice or is struggling to pay their rent etc. 
 
The Communications Team are putting some wording in the next Local which will explain about our rough sleeper 
work and asks for private landlords to contact us if they have a property to rent. 
 
Does the impact have a disproportionate impact on those with protected characteristics? 
 
It is reasonable to anticipate that more vulnerable residents may be disproportionately affected by Covid-19, including 
those with underlying health conditions such as mental health issues, and those experiencing financial challenges. 
Also, as contracting Covid-19 is considered more serious for those over 70 years old, older people may not have been 
able to obtain face to face advice and help with their housing issues, and could therefore be more at risk of eviction. 
Relevant protected characteristics: Disability and Age 

P
age 79

A
ppendix D



 

P
age 80

A
ppendix D



Community Theme Action Plan - Financial Inclusion

Timescale Action

Action to 

Mitigate or 

Opportunity

Accountable 

organisation
Lead Name Target Start Target End

Resource/Ca

pacity 

required

Priority Essential 

Important 

Desirable

Identify and promote availability of free 

internet access for those needing to apply 

for benefit. Public access PC's not generally 

available  athe moment - to be revised at 

Gateway Mitigate TWBC Revs and Bens Inclusion Group/Nicky Carter 31.10.2020 Important

Promote the availability of emergency 

assistance through KSAS and local food 

banks Mitigate TWBC Communications/Gateway 31.10.2020

Promote the availability of local advice 

agencies for welfare/debt advice support Mitigate CAB CAB (Liz De Villiers)

Progress 'Pathways' project to formalise 

referral process for welfare/debt and health Opportunity CAB CAB (Liz De Villiers)

Progress benefit take up campaign to 

maximise household incomes  (DHP, Pension 

Credit, Severe Disablity Premium) Opportunity TWBC Revs and Bens Inclusion Group 30.11.2020

Explore opportunity to introduce a 

moratorium on court costs for low income 

households falling into Ctax arrears - plan to 

be drafted for dealing with CTS cases. Mitigate TWBC Sheila Coburn/Stephen Smith 15.11.2020 Essential

Review Ctax recovery process to increase 

engagement and limit the number of cases 

progressing to court action - plan to be 

drafted for dealing with CTS cases Mitigate TWBC Sheila Coburn/Stephen Smith 15.11.2020 Essential

Review Ctax Hardship Policy and action a 

targeted take up campaign for households at 

risk Mitigate TWBC Sheila Coburn/Jo Denny/Liz Norris 30.11.2020 Important

Review DHP Policy and action a targeted 

take up for households at risk Mitigate TWBC Sheila Coburn/Liz Norris/Jo Denny 30.11.2020 Important

Simplify CTRS claims process to encourage 

take up from households receiving UC Opportunity TWBC Sheila Coburn /Jo Denny 

Work with Utility companies to promote low 

cost tariffs and hardship schemes for 

vulnerable households Opportunity CAB CAB (Liz De Villiers)/Sheila Coburn

Short Term 

within 6 mths

P
age 81

A
ppendix E



Award CTRS Hardship Payments in line with 

Govt Guidance - ongoing throughout the 

year Mitigate TWBC Sheila Coburn/Jo Denny/Liz Norris

Completed/o

n-going  Essential

Review CTRS/HB awards for self employed 

households to reflect reduced incomes and 

maximise awards. Comms - promote. Look at 

those self employed following 2nd trance of 

SEISS. Opportunity TWBC Sheila Coburn /Jo Denny/Communications 15.11.2020

Adopt the CAB Ctax recovery protocol Opportunity TWBC/CAB Sheila Coburn/Liz De Villiers 15.11.2020

Review safeguarding training and links to 

households in poverty Mitigate TWBC Revs and Bens Inclusion Group 30.11.2020

Explore opportunities to increase home 

internet access to those households that are 

digitally excluded due to low income

Opportunity TWBC CAB (Liz De Villiers)

Introduce system to identify and track 

outcomes for households at risk as part of 

County Financial Inclusion Group Mitigate TWBC Revs and Bens Inclusion Group 31.12.2020

Adopt a multi agency approach to  identify 

and support households in financial crisis Opportunity TWBC/CAB Revs and Bens Inclusion Group/Liz De Villiers 15.11.2020

Implement revised CTRS and address any 

new vulnerabilities created Mitigate TWBC Sheila Coburn /Jo Denny 01.10.2020 01.04.2021

Support vulnerable households with the 

migration to Universal Credit Mitigate TWBC/CAB Revs and Bens Inclusion Group /Liz De Villiers On-going

Support households where they are 

adversely affected by being either under or 

over accommodated Mitigate TWBC Revs and Bens Inclusion Group/Jane Lang 31.12.2020

Short Term 

within 6 mths

Medium Term  6 - 

12 mths

Long Term   later 

than 12 

P
age 82

A
ppendix E



 Community Theme - Impact Assessment 

Financial Inclusion 
 
Data: 
 
Employment (out of work benefits) 
 
The number of claimants significantly increased in May and has continued to stay high for June and July. The data shows that the impact is being felt 

most by younger age groups, the 18-24- and 25-29-year-old age groups, which have increased by 215 percent and 270 percent respectively. The over 

65 age group has increased by 500 percent, but this was from a very low start base. 

There continues to be a higher number of male claimants than female claimants for Tunbridge Wells, however the expectation nationally is that the 

economic impact will be felt more significantly by females, who are over-represented in the industries most affected. 

 

 
 
Many young people are employed in the hospitality industry, which was largely shut down from 23 March. The retail sector, another source of jobs for 
younger people, has also been hard hit by the lockdown. Nationally, a fifth of all of those claiming out-of-work benefits, 514,770, are aged between 18 
and 24. The number of young new claimants who have signed on between March and June is 276,000 - more than doubling over three months. 
 
Nationally, between March and June 2020, the number of employees on payrolls has decreased by 649,000. 

P
age 83

A
ppendix F



Source: Office for National Statistics (ONS) 
 
The job vacancies in Tunbridge Wells borough at 31 May 2020 have decreased by 72% since 15 March 2020. 
Source: Institute for Employment Studies 
 
Self employed 
The Self-Employed Income Support Scheme (SEISS) provides support for self-employed individuals whose business has been adversely affected by 
Covid-19. From 13 May eligible self-employed individuals could claim a grant worth 80% of their average monthly trading profits, paid out in a single 
instalment covering three months’ worth of profits, capped at £7,500 in total. The second stage of the Self Employment Income Support Scheme (SEISS) 
opened for applications 17 August 2020. Those eligible will now be able to receive a second and final grant worth 70% of their average monthly trading 
profits, paid out in a single instalment covering 3 months’ worth of profits, and capped at £6,570 in total. 
  
The following shows the potential numbers eligible for the (SEISS) at 31 July against the number of claims made for Tunbridge Wells.     
 

 Total potentially 
eligible 
 

Total no. of claims 
made to 30/6/2020     

Total value of claims 
made to 30/6/202 (£)     

Take-Up Rate 

Tunbridge Wells     6,900     5,100     15,700,000     74% 

Source: HMRC 
 
 
Council Tax Support 
 
March-June the number of Council Tax Support applications increased and this is expected to peak again when companies come out of furlough.  
 

Council Tax Support applications received  

March - June 2020    955 

March - June 2019    404 

 
The number of self-employed claimants in receipt of Council Tax support in Tunbridge Wells is 45. 
 
Universal Credit (UC) 
 
DWP stats: 

Period 01/03/2020 - 14/05/2020   

Authority 
% Increase in mean 
contracts   

% Increase in mean 
claimants  

Tunbridge Wells 546% 599% 
 
Since 16 March 2020, when social distancing measures were first advised just before the lockdown, DWP has seen 3 million individual applications 
nationwide for Universal Credit.  
 
Between March 2020 and June 2020, Tonbridge Job Centre (covering Tunbridge Wells, Sevenoaks and Tonbridge) received 5,000 new claims for UC. 

P
age 84

A
ppendix F



Of these, 2,000 were self-employed and 300 had been furloughed. 
 
The number of Tunbridge Wells UC claimants in and out of work are: 
In work – 2,375 
Out of work – 4,121 
 
UC helps to encourage full-time work through incentives to increase hours, a general expectation that lone parents and partners should work (unless 
caring for young children or a disabled person). The Government implemented a £20 per week increase to the standard allowance of Universal Credit 
and basic element of Working Tax Credit. For Tunbridge Wells this affected 1,400 claimants. 
 
Universal Credit includes a 'Minimum Income Floor' (MIF) if someone is self-employed, and their business has been running for more than 12 months. 
The MIF is an assumed level of earnings. This is based on what we would expect an employed person to receive in similar circumstances. For COVID19, 
the minimum income floor used to calculate UC entitlement for the self-employed has been suspended. 

 
Government action 
 
The Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme (CJRS) has protected approximately 8.9 million jobs nationally and made a substantial impact in preventing 
families from being swept into poverty.  
 
12,400 households have been furloughed in Tunbridge Wells through the Govt support scheme with a potential reduction in income. Reduced incomes 
and financial insecurity will result in increasing debt issues.   
Source: Social Mobility Commission June 2020 
 
Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP) 
 
The government committed an extra £40 million in Discretionary Housing Payments for 2020-21 to help those facing affordability challenges in the 
private rented sector. 
Tunbridge Wells has had a low take up so far this year 2020-21 compared to last year.  

DWP applications Applications received Applications approved Applications refused 

April - June 2020 78 46 32 

April - June 2019 71 44 27 

Source: TWBC Revenues and Benefits 
 
 
Benefit changes  
 
Local Housing Allowance (LHA)  
LHA rates are used to calculate housing benefit for tenants renting from private landlords. From 1 April 2020, the amounts increased. This means more 
households benefitted from having a higher rent for their Housing Benefit to be calculated on, making housing more affordable.  
 
Number of households affected in Tunbridge Wells 995 
 
The two-child limit will continue to have an impact. Poorer families with children are especially sensitive to these benefit changes because benefits make 
up a larger share of their household income. The two-child limit will also cause significant losses in household income for homes with three or more 

P
age 85

A
ppendix F



children. In 2018/19, 44% of children living in poverty were in households with three or more children; indicating that the two-child limit will negatively 
affect almost half of children currently living in poverty. 
Source: Social Mobility Commission June 2020 
 
The number of households affected in Tunbridge Wells 1,593 
 
The Benefit cap maximises the amount in state benefits that an individual household can claim per year. Nationally, 93% of households who are limited 
by the benefit cap are families with children, losing on average £52 per week; 72% of capped households are single parents, including many with very 
young children, despite the benefit rules not requiring them to look for work.  
 
For Tunbridge Wells, the number of households affected by the benefit cap are 40 
 
Low income families 
 
Parents with children who were in poverty pre-crisis are around 50% more likely to have lost their jobs than those with children but not in poverty.  
Families where at least one parent has become unemployed have lost around £50 per week – equivalent to an average single-parent family's entire 
weekly food spend. 
Source: Social Mobility Commission June 2020 
  
Absolute low income 

Absolute low-income is defined as a family whose household income is below 60 per cent of the 2010/11 median income adjusted for inflation. Gross 

income measure is Before Housing Costs (BHC) and includes contributions from earnings, state support and pensions. 

 
Tunbridge Wells is showing as the lowest affected in Kent. 2019-20 figures not due until Spring 2021. 
 

Year 
 

2014/15 

 

2015/16 
2016/17 2017/18 

 

2018/19 

  

Tunbridge 

Wells 2,569 2,485 2,590 2,677 2,708 

       
 
 
Childcare  
The government has spent around £3.5 billion in entitlement offers, such as the 15-hour and 30-hour childcare offers for certain ages and groups. It has 
provided further detail on tax-free childcare provisions and reimbursement of 85% of childcare costs for those on Universal Credit 
 
Single parents earning £7,000 (£14,000 for couples) are eligible for the 30-hour entitlement. 26% of mothers worked more due to the entitlement. This 
increased to 56% of mothers on low incomes. (Pre-COVID as of February 2020 there were record numbers in work, employment was up in every region 
of the UK, and the jobless rate remained the lowest in over 40 years). 
 
Source: Monitoring social mobility June 2020 
 
Debt 
 

P
age 86

A
ppendix F



Many families have fallen into debt with an estimated 60% taking out some sort of loan including credit cards and pay day loans and around 51% being 
behind on Council Tax, rent or other bills. 
 
The Tunbridge Wells CAB has during the lockdown period seen a reduction in residents contacting them for Debt advice. This could be because most 

lenders have allowed for a payment holiday/break on repayments. However, they are starting to see a rise in these contacts as holidays/breaks end. 

Also, as the CAB were unable to arrange face-to-face visits with clients during lockdown, this could have impacted generally on their overall contacts. 

 
Around 65% of families with children claiming Universal Credit and Child Tax Credit have had their mental health impacted by concerns about money 
since the start of the crisis.  
Source: Monitoring social mobility June 2020 

 
 
Reduction in Council Tax collection 
 

Month 2019-20 2020-21 Reduction 

APRIL 10.74% 10.14% 0.60% 

MAY 20.12% 19.09% 1.03% 

JUNE 29.30% 27.88% 1.42% 

JULY 38.52% 37.40% 1.12% 

 

A reduction in 1.12% equates to £1 million. Tunbridge Wells Borough Council will only pick up around 10% of that amount.  

 

Budgeting 

 
It is estimated around 7 in 10 families with children claiming Universal Credit or Child Tax Credit are having to cut back on essentials including food, 
utilities, nappies and activities for children such as books and toys, with around 50% cutting back on food. 
Source: Monitoring social mobility June 2020 
 
Free school meals 
Nationally 1.5 million children should be getting free school meals. 

 

Source: gov.uk  

 
Poverty 
 
Nationally, the risk of poverty is amplified for single parents – of whom 43% were living in poverty in 2017/18. It is estimated 8.4 million working age 
adults live in relative poverty; an increase of 500,000 since 2011/12. 
 
Source: Monitoring social mobility June 2020 
  
Estimates indicate UC will reduce the number of people in poverty in working families by 300,000 but will put 200,000 out of work families into poverty. 
The DWP monitors poverty, including child poverty, annually through the Households Below Average Income (HBAI) publication (most recent March 
2020). 72% of children living in poverty live in households where at least one adult is in work. The Institute for Fiscal Studies predicted an increase in 
absolute child poverty of around 4% between 2015/16 and 2021/22, linked to planned welfare changes. These changes included a continuation of the 

P
age 87

A
ppendix F



benefit freeze, removing the family allowance, and the two-child limit of UC and tax credits. 
 
Source: Monitoring social mobility June 2020 
 
Housing 
 
Property options are limited for low-income households, with roughly 70% of private rental properties still inaccessible for Local Housing Allowance (LHA) 
recipients, even after recent uplifts.  
Source: Monitoring social mobility June 2020 
 

What does the data identify in terms of impact?  Are there any gaps in the data? 
 
An increasing number of households requiring financial support through the welfare system as a consequence of economic impact of Covid-19 with 
increasing number of Universal Credit, Statutory Sick Pay, DHP, Housing Benefit or CTRS applications. 
 
The DWP monitors poverty, which reflects growing employment, but it also demonstrates that employment does not provide a guaranteed route out of 
poverty. 
 
UC helps to encourage full-time work through incentives to increase hours, a general expectation that lone parents and partners should work (unless 
caring for young children or a disabled person). 
 
Some families might normally be able to escape the benefit cap by moving to a cheaper property or raising their income through work – two options that 
are particularly difficult during this health and economic crisis. The high costs associated with moving property and added complications of social 
distancing hamper the abilities of families to move home during the pandemic. 

 
Furloughing, job losses and reduced hours have been much more common experiences for lower-earning employees, creating hardship for many 
families and children. Around one-third of lower-paid employees have lost jobs or been furloughed, compared to less than one tenth of top earners. 
 
Families on low incomes have to manage extremely tight budgets with careful planning and resourcefulness, but COVID19 has meant many parents are 
struggling to put food on the table, let alone find the resources to support play and learning at home.   
 
With families stuck at home, they have incurred extra costs for heating, electricity and water. Access to adequate heating, electricity and water is 
imperative for families with children, particularly those living with an illness or disability. For those living with respiratory conditions, warmth provides an 
important safeguard in terms of managing symptoms – essential during the COVID-19 crisis. 
 
The use of a pre-pay utility meter costs users up to £300 more than the cheapest monthly tariff. This is a feature of life for many low-income households 
who are unable to access monthly contracts. There is no room for manoeuvre with a pre-pay meter: when the money runs out, families cannot switch on 
the lights, heat the room, boil the kettle or keep food fresh in the fridge.  
 
Polls suggest that those who say they are coping with additional costs are doing so by cutting back on essential items such as food, utilities, internet or 
items for children. 
Source: Monitoring social mobility June 2020 
 
Early in the pandemic, the Government implemented the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme (CJRS) and Self-Employment Income Support Scheme 

P
age 88

A
ppendix F



(SEISS). Whilst the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme (CJRS) and Self-Employment Income Support Scheme (SEISS) were positive, some families 
have still fallen through the cracks. 
 
Persons clinically vulnerable received letters from the NHS to isolate.  

 
The £20 increase to each household for UC/Child Tax Credit was the same for everyone and did not allow for the additional costs faced by families who 
have children – those who are most vulnerable to economic shocks. For instance, a couple with two children receive the same amount as a single 
person despite having more mouths to feed and higher household costs - they would need around 2.4 times the increase in income than a single adult to 
experience the same uplift in their living standards. 
 
7 out of 10 families with children claiming Universal Credit or Child Tax Credit has shown that the crisis has caused these families to cut back on 
essentials, 6 in 10 to borrow money and over 5 in 10 to be  behind on rent or other essential bills. 

 
In the months ahead, many job losses are likely, and it will take time for prospects to pick up.  
 
Uplift in the child element of Universal Credit and Child Tax Credit will provide families with much needed support so that parents can purchase the 
essentials their children cannot go without. However, parents with three or more children who need support from the social security system due to the 
crisis may find they are unable to claim it for their youngest child or children as a result of the two-child limit. 
 
Council Tax arrears - uncertainty with future earnings 
 
Council Tax Support cases - not being currently chased for Council Tax payment but will receive an amended Council Tax bill with less months to profile 
instalments over. 
 
UC helps to encourage full-time work through incentives to increase hours, a general expectation that lone parents and partners should work (unless 
caring for young children or a disabled person). 
 

What local knowledge do we have on the impact which is not reflected in the data? 
Before COVID19 parents were more likely to be in poverty than working-age adults without children. It is likely that 10 children out of an average 
classroom of 30 were already experiencing poverty before the pandemic. 

 
The CAB has been collecting information on those contacting them with the most enquiries at present around people worried about losing their jobs. 
Currently debt is not one of the main queries.  
 
Interrogation of our Benefit system may provide local knowledge on those with protected characteristics/vulnerable. 
 
Local information is available from DWP on the following link https://stat-xplore.dwp.gov.uk/webapi/jsf/dataCatalogueExplorer.xhtml  

 

Overall, what do you think are the biggest risks/consequences of the impact? 
 
Any DWP rate increases are not felt by the families that are often struggling the most. Nationally, as of February 2020, 79,000 families were subject to 
the benefit cap, with Child Poverty Action Group predicting a 50% increase as a result of COVID-19. We need to be able to identify those families in 
Tunbridge Wells.  

P
age 89

A
ppendix F

https://stat-xplore.dwp.gov.uk/webapi/jsf/dataCatalogueExplorer.xhtml


 
Nationally, over 12,500 families are predicted to be capped as a result of the standard allowance increase alone, with others affected by increases to 
Local Housing Allowance. The nine-month grace period that exempts people from the benefit cap if they have recently lost their job does not always 
protect families: it relies on people having a consistent work history over the past year, which not all families have – for example, due to single parents 
taking time out to care for their children. People must also have earned at least £604 in each of the previous 12 months, meaning many with insecure or 
fluctuating work hours may not be covered. We need to be able to identify those families in Tunbridge Wells.  
 
Many families on Universal Credit or Child Tax Credit are not eligible for Free School Meals, but for those who do normally receive this support, feeding 
children these additional meals have been an extra financial hurdle whilst in lockdown. Many families have been unable to access or spend their 
vouchers, due to technical difficulties and limitations in where the vouchers can be spent. The Revenues and Benefits team will be promoting Free 
School Meals and contacting those families we believe are eligible.  

 
Debt – reduced incomes and lifting of temporary support such as mortgage holidays increasing the risk that more families will increase debt or be unable 
to manage existing debt.  
 
Increasing reliance on the welfare system – many for the first time, issues around awareness and access to available support. Many of these will be 
families who encountered the social security system and Universal Credit for the first time as a result of the crisis. One in 5 parents on Universal Credit 
had not previously claimed an income-related benefit. These families are likely to have higher outgoings (for example, higher rents and other fixed costs) 
than the current social security entitlements can meet. 

 
Child poverty and safeguarding issues 

 
Impact on health 
 
Lack of finances, uncertainty of future.  
 
Rising unemployment. 
 
Reduced hours – many residents on zero hours contracts will see a reduction in hours, prompting a need for change and increased support in UC, Tax 
Credits, Housing Benefit and CTRS.. 
 
Council Tax - other priorities rather than paying Council Tax bill - not seen as the most important debt to customers.  This could see residents enter a 
cycle of arrears where the cost of court action and enforcement fees prevents council tax being paid in the year its due and then immediately building 
arrears and repeating the recovery cycle in subsequent years. 
 
Spiralling rents and benefit caps pushing some of the poorest groups into the hands of rogue landlords or even into homelessness. 

 

Overall, what do think are the biggest opportunities? 
 
DHP - Work to be done with Housing team and Housing Associations, as well as CAB and Debt Advice agencies to be able to support  
 
Interrogate our system for any vulnerable or those behind on rent – campaign to maximise income through benefit take up 
 

P
age 90

A
ppendix F



Accessibility to CTRS through changes to the claim process 
 
Ensure all those that should be claiming Council Tax Support are claiming 
 
Review and adapt the Council’s own approach to debt recovery 
 
Sign up to the CAB Council Tax Protocol 
 
Getting the message out in the communities of where assistance is available 
 
Maximising the income of low-income households through a targeted benefit take up campaign. Eg Free School Meals and  Pension Credit 

 

Are there any quick wins? 
 
DHP - work closer with Housing, housing associations and Debt Advice agencies.  
 
Interrogate our system for any vulnerable or those behind on rent – campaign to maximise income through benefit take up 
 
Accessibility to CTRS through changes to the claim process 
 
Review and adapt the Council’s own approach to debt recovery  
 
Contacting those we believe are entitled to Free School Meals. 
 
Contacting those who we believe should be on Pension Credit to receive a free TV licence. 

 

Is there anything we should stop doing now to aid recovery? 
 
 

Are there any media/communications issues or requirements that need to be flagged as a result? 
 
Raising awareness of the help available and benefits of early contact.  
 
Signposting to UC, DHP, Council Tax Support, Debt Advice Agencies/CAB 
 

Does the impact have a disproportionate impact on those with protected characteristics? 
 
Financial inequalities will be amplified as a result of the pandemic. People that had poor finances before the virus are those that will be worst affected. 
 
Deprivation indices on ONS website will break this down across the borough. 

 

P
age 91

A
ppendix F



 

 

P
age 92

A
ppendix F



Community Theme Action Plan

Timescale Action
Action to Mitigate or 

Opportunity

Accountable 

organisation

Lead 

Name
Target Start Target End

Resource/Cap

acity required

Priority Essential 

Important 

Desriable

Promotion of One You Kent service to increase number of people making lifestyle changes. 

This will be complimented through the promotion of the Better Health PHE campaign. This 

will be both through the new online delivery method as well as with an aim to return to face 

to face delivery. Action to Mitigate  TWBC

Rebecca 

Bowers 15/06/2020 Ongoing OY team Essential 

Return to face to face delivery in community venues Action to Mitigate TWBC

Rebecca 

Bowers 01/10/2020 Ongoing OY team Essential 

Address the widening gap in health inequalities through targeted work with hard to reach 

clients groups that may have been disproportionately affected by Covid. Includes BAME, 

areas of deprivation, males and learning disabilities (in line with OYK target groups)
Action to Mitigate  TWBC

Rebecca 

Bowers 01/09/2020 Ongoing OY team Essential 

Restart Health Walks across the borough to create more free physical activities alongside the 

social element that Health Walks offer Opportunity TWBC

Rebecca 

Bowers 27/07/2020 01/12/2020 OY team Essential 

Set up a 1:1 walk buddy programme supporting people that do no physical activity to get 

more active. Opportunity TWBC

Rebecca 

Bowers 01/09/2020 Ongoing OY team Desirable 

Promote outdoor gyms by putting on a schedule of events with personal trainer at outdoor 

gyms across the borough Opportunity TWBC

Rebecca 

Bowers 15/09/2020 Ongoing OY team Desirable 

Health Team to receive Mental Health First Aid training
Action to Mitigate  TWBC

Rebecca 

Bowers 01/08/2020 30/09/2020 OY team Important

TWBC staff to receive Psychological First Aid Training - sent to teams in June/July - to review 

numbers that completed this training and any other departments that would benefit
Action to Mitigate TWBC

Rebecca 

Bowers 01/06/2020 Ongoing OY team Important

DfT Emergency Transport fund - KCC will be delivering the following schemes in Tranche 1:

-	One way in High Street, RTW (to allow for wider pavements for pedestrians)

-	Bus gate scheme on Commercial Road in Paddock Wood to facilitate more walking and 

cycling

-	Access only scheme for Reynolds Lane in Southborough to facilitate more walking and 

cycling

-	20mph scheme for RTW town centre 

-	Light segregation on A26 cycle route between RTW town centre and Southborough Opportunity TWBC

Hilary 

Smith 01/08/2020 Ongoing

Economic 

Development 

Manager Important

Improved communciations with GPs on the health prevention services available within West 

Kent. Communication coordinated by the Self Care & Prevention Group, linked with Involve 

and Kent Sport
Opportunity 

Self-care and 

Prevention 

Group

Tony 

Jones 15/08/2020 15/09/2020

Health 

Improvement 

Team Leader Important

Short Term 

within 6 mths

P
age 93

A
ppendix G



Develop a West Kent local offer and recommendations on how we might begin to address 

the widening inequalities gap.

Action to Mitigate  

Self-care and 

Prevention 

Group

Tony 

Jones 01/09/2020 Ongoing

Health 

Improvement 

Team Leader Important

Restart Active Signposting initative which was suspended over the Covid period Action to Mitigate  

Self-care and 

Prevention 

Group

Yvonne 

Wilson 01/09/2020 01/10/2020

Health 

Improvement 

Team Leader Essential 

Physical Activity Clinical Champion to restart the delivery of training to Health Care teams 

across Tunbridge Wells. This will be delivered digitally from the Autumn aiming to increase 

awareness of health benefits of physical activity. This will be supported by the One You Team 

to provide local information on the support available for patients. Opportunity PHE 

Sally 

Retallick 01/10/2020 Ongoing OY team Desirable 

Kent Sport developing Everyday Active website which has database of physical activity 

opportunities across Kent. Accessible for clients with personalised search options and 

abilities to set goals Opportunity Kent Sport

Mike 

Potter 01/08/2020 30/09/2020

Everyday 

Active 

Champion Important

Training available across West Kent for organisations due to the impact of covid on mental 

health 

- Suicide Prevention and Awareness

- Mental Health First Aid Training Action to Mitigate  

West Kent 

Mind

Stevie 

Rice 01/09/2020 01/10/2020 N/A Important

Development of anxiety and stress awareness workshops/tasters and video snippets to 

support the community experiencing these signs Action to Mitigate  

West Kent 

Mind

Stevie 

Rice 01/09/2020 01/10/2020 N/A Important

Digital Befriending scheme to support those with mental health issues who need some 

support to get online and access services, social groups and to connect with friends and 

family Action to Mitigate

West Kent 

Mind

Stevie 

Rice 01/09/2020 01/10/2020 N/A Important

Kent and Medway Healthy Workplaces Programme and award scheme is launching in 

October 2020. This aims to support businesses of all sizes and sectors across Kent and 

Medway with findings ways to support staff health and wellbeing. Opportunity 

Medway 

Council N/A 15/10/2020 Ongoing N/A Important

Social Prescribing Link Workers to return to face to face delivery in GP Surgeries Action to Mitigate Involve Kent Lizzie Lowrey12/01/2020 Ongoing N/A Important

Making Every Contact Count Training to front facing department in TWBC to increase brief 

advice given to residents to make lifestyle changes

1.	Online training module

2.	RB online training offer Opportunity TWBC

Rebecca 

Bowers 01/01/2021 31/03/2021

Health 

Improvement 

Team Leader 

+ staff time 

from various 

departments Important

Development of Exercise on Referral Scheme to improve accessibility due to long waiting list 

in Fusion Sports Centres. Opportunity TWBC

Rebecca 

Bowers 01/01/2021 31/03/2021 OY team Important

Establish links between the primary care MH team and OYK service. Partnership working 

with the recruitment of their Physcial Health Nurses to improve referrals into OYK service - 

recruitment dates TBC Opportunity TWBC

Rebecca 

Bowers 01/01/2021 Ongoing OY team Desirable 

Short Term 

within 6 mths

Medium Term  6 - 

12 mths

P
age 94

A
ppendix G



Link with local community groups across the borough, many of which have been established 

or strengthened due to Covid. This will help the team to work at a community level to 

promote key health messages especially in those areas of deprivation.
Opportunity TWBC

Rebecca 

Bowers 01/09/2020 Ongoing OY team Desirable 

New outdoor gym in Cranbrook to provide free physical activity opportunities in the area Opportunity TWBC

Mark 

Lawrence 01/08/2020 31/03/2021

Everyday 

Active 

Champion Desirable 

Sports Partnership in The Weald (Cranbrook focus) to increase access to physcial activity 

opportunites. Shared best practice and opportunities across these groups to create more 

cohesive approach Opportunity TWBC

Mark 

Lawrence 01/09/2020 31/03/2021

Everyday 

Active 

Champion Desirable 

Promotion of Cycling Prescription scheme with GP Surgeries as part of national Obesity 

Stategy - dates TBC Opportunity TWBC

Rebecca 

Bowers 01/01/2021 31/03/2021 OY team Important

2015 Cycling Strategy is being updated to form a Local Cycling & Walking Infrastructure Plan 

(or LCWIP). Includes design of Low Traffic Neighbourhoods for RTW and PW and also inter-

urban routes between RTW-PW-Tonbridge-RTW Opportunity TWBC

Hilary 

Smith 01/10/2020 31/03/2021

Economic 

Development 

Manager Important

Work in partnership with West Kent Mind on their project for a "Web of Wellbeing" using a 

community centred approach to improve poor mental health and maintain good mental 

health. Tunbridge Wells will be the pilot area for this project subject to successful Comic 

Relief Funding application. This will work in partnership with the OY Team as well as other 

services in the borough. This will focus on a rural area of the borough, or an area of 

deprivation (TBC) Opportunity 

West Kent 

Mind

Stevie 

Rice 01/04/2021 Ongoing

OY team 

support role Desirable 

Community engagement drive specifically to understand the emerging communities of need 

in response to Covid-19 and where our services are now needed most Opportunity 

West Kent 

Mind

Stevie 

Rice 01/04/2021 Ongoing N/A Desirable 

Increased partnership working across council departments through Health in All Policies Opportunity TWBC

Rebecca 

Bowers 01/04/2021 31/03/2022

Health 

Improvement 

Team Leader Important

Increased volunteering opportunities at a community level for mental health services Opportunity

West Kent 

Mind

Stevie 

Rice 01/04/2021 31/03/2022 N/A Desirable

Continue work on West Kent Mind project for a "Web of Wellbeing". Once piloted, replicating 

this in other areas across Tunbridge Wells and West Kent. Opportunity

West Kent 

Mind

Stevie 

Rice 01/04/2021 31/03/2022 N/A Desirable

Medium Term  6 - 

12 mths

Long Term   later 

than 12 

P
age 95

A
ppendix G



T
his page is intentionally left blank



   
 

   
 

Community Theme - Impact Assessment 

Data 
 
Tunbridge Wells Coronavirus Cases 
490 cases as of 03/08/20201 
81 deaths as of 24/07/20202 (deaths that occurred up to 24th July 2020 but were registered up to 1st August 2020) 
 
Health Promotion 
Monthly Referrals into OYK service (2020) 
 

Month Jan Feb March April May June July  August  

Referrals 62 37 23 2 1 11 24 15 

 
Monthly Referrals into OYK service (2019/20 and 2020/21) 
 

 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

2019/20 101 117 112 122 

2020/21 14  

 
Mental Health and Wellbeing  
According to a recent survey by MIND, 46% children and young people and 36% adults describe their mental health as currently poor or very poor3. 
The 2017 Health and Wellbeing JSNA showed the estimated prevalence of mental health disorders for adults over 16 years was 13.9% in Tunbridge 
Wells4 
 
Release the Pressure Call Data 
 

 April  May June July August Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb March 

                                                           
1
 https://coronavirus.data.gov.uk/ 

2
 https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/causesofdeath/datasets/deathregistrationsandoccurrencesbylocalauthorityandhealthboard 

3
 https://www.mind.org.uk/media-a/5889/return-to-play-mental-health-guidance.pdf?utm_source=Scheme+coordinators+Autumn+2017&utm_campaign=360052aa46-

EMAIL_CAMPAIGN_2018_03_20_COPY_01&utm_medium=email&utm_term=0_bd65075e71-360052aa46-422121273 
4
 https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/mh-jsna/data#page/0/gid/1938132922/pat/6/par/E12000008/ati/201/are/E07000116/cid/4/page-options/ovw-do-0 

P
age 97

A
ppendix H



   
 

   
 

2019/20 44 54 39 47 43 28 23 43 29 24 27 21 

2020/21 54 51 59 76         

 Notes: 
1. Unknown location calls from mobiles cannot be included in location data for Kent and Medway therefore this will be an underestimate of the 

true number.  
2. Call volumes for March and April were affected by operational difficulties in home working 
3. The campaign was boosted in Tunbridge Wells in early 2020 due to local car park incidents therefore this may have caused a boost in calls.  

 
Samaritans 
During the period of Covid to date (March-July 2020), Samaritans nationally have received in excess of 500,000 calls. There is demand 24 hours a day, 7 
days per week. Due to confidentially, callers are not asked to give a location and this information is not tracked therefore local Tunbridge Wells data is 
not available.  
 
Wellbeing call data analysis  
Wellbeing calls were conducted by the Health Team from the end of March until the end of July. As part of the Social Isolation Group Evaluation 
Project, residents were asked to rate their wellbeing on scale of 1-10 (1 being low, 10 being high): 
 
Sample: 23 out of 87 residents therefore 26% 
 

 Before Lockdown In the first few weeks During (May-June) 

Average Score 5.86 4.04 5.24 

P
age 98

A
ppendix H



   
 

   
 

 
Table 1 shows the detailed scores of the cohort of 23 prior, in the first few weeks and on the first wellbeing call 
 
 

What does the data identify in terms of impact?  Are there any gaps in the data? 
 
Data available 
There are a number of limitations in the data that is available. This is due to delays in obtaining this data from various sources. A key source for data is 
hospital admissions which currently has a 3-month delay therefore data available at present is April data at the beginning of the pandemic. We are 
working with Kent Public Health Observatory to obtain and analyse trends in the data, and this will be available at a later date. This includes number of 
admissions for: 

- Myocardial infarction (heart attack) 
- Alcohol related harm 
- Intentional self-harm 

 
Mental Health Provision 
It is thought that the pandemic has contributed to increased poor mental health, however it is unknown by how much specifically. This therefore 
causes issues in knowing whether there is sufficient mental health provision to keep up with the increased demand.  The last ‘Mental Health Needs 
Assessment for Adults in Kent: West Kent CCG’ was carried out in 2014 therefore is a few years old and pre-Covid, however it states: 
 “West Kent’s large population can be a challenge in delivering accessible mental health services. It has an aging population and understanding further 
the mental health needs of older people will be important.  West Kent has a long history of health inequalities and this is well documented.  Health 

P
age 99

A
ppendix H



   
 

   
 

inequalities and short life expectancies are a well-known outcome of psycho-social stress, particularly stigmatising when living in an affluent area.  In 
the long-term, this has a corrosive impact on the body and lowers immune systems, leading to physical illness.  If untreated (and compounded by life 
events) this can lead to mental illness.  Therefore, people who have the greatest risk of poor outcomes should be proactively sought out by services 
rather than hoping that they will stumble upon the right provider.  
 
Most people with a mental illness in West Kent have a common mental illness; a large proportion of those with more than one condition. Data is poor: it 
is almost impossible to assess whether there are enough of the right services available. Data that is available points to a high degree of unmet needs.  
Due to pressure on resources it will be vital public health and social care services align with NHS services.”5 
 
Physical Activity 
We have also been unable to obtain local physical activity data for Tunbridge Wells as Kent Sport do not have data at a local level for this time period 
and this will not be available from PHE until later date. A national survey conducted by Sport England provides useful insights into physical activity 
levels in England. Findings include6: 

- A third of adults are doing 30 minutes of more of physical activity on five or more days a week 
- As was the case before the virus, certain demographic groups and audiences are still finding it harder to be active (women, people from lower 

socio-economic groups, older adults, people with long term health condition, illness or disability, and people from some BAME communities) 
- Increased levels of activity as a family 
- During the latest survey wave (19th – 22nd June) it was found that physical activity levels fall as society starts to reopen. The wider public health, 

social and economic impact of coronavirus is likely to have a greater negative impact on the capability, opportunity and motivation to be 
physically active for some groups over others. Overall, activity levels held up relatively well throughout – with a third of adults doing 30 
minutes or more of physical activity (at a level that raised their breathing rate) on five or more days a week.  

- There are positive signs of an appetite to return – 69% of adults say they're looking forward to resuming a sport, exercise or physical activity 
they have not been able to do during lockdown once the restrictions are lifted. Gym work and swimming were most mentioned (reflecting the 
large numbers of the population who normally enjoy taking part in these activities). 

 

Longer Term Impact 

There is also expected to be a longer-term impact on health as a result of COVID-19. Groups already experiencing health inequalities will be most 
affected by the impact of the virus, such as areas of deprivation, BAME and those with long term health conditions.  

                                                           
5
 https://www.kpho.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/43928/MHNAWestKentCCG2014.compressed.pdf 

6
 https://indd.adobe.com/view/793b48d5-bbcd-4de3-a50f-11d241a506b3 

P
age 100

A
ppendix H

https://www.kpho.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/43928/MHNAWestKentCCG2014.compressed.pdf
https://indd.adobe.com/view/793b48d5-bbcd-4de3-a50f-11d241a506b3


   
 

   
 

 

What local knowledge do we have on the impact which is not reflected in the data? 
 
The number of people accessing face to face GP appointments reduced during the pandemic. We have good engagement from GPs in Tunbridge Wells 
therefore if this continues it may have an impact on the number of people accessing services such as OYK. We continue to work with Social Prescribers 
who are conducting telephone consultations with clients.  

 
Overall, what do you think are the biggest risks/consequences of the impact? 
 
1. Access 
 

- Services have moved online to provide digital access in a time that they can’t be face to face with clients. This puts those who are not digitally 
enables at a disadvantage – they may not be aware of the organisations that can support or be unable to access the full-service offer. It is 
important to note that telephone consultations is an alternative method used by services.  

- During the pandemic less people are accessing healthcare for referrals and signposting into available organisations. 
- Closures of gyms and sports clubs due to government guidelines may mean people have not been as physically active during this time. As these 

reopen from the 25th July there is likely to be limitations put on numbers that can access services.  
- The temporary closure free physical activity opportunities such as Health Walks and Outdoor Gyms. 
- Financial difficulties due to job loss or decrease in pay may impact access to opportunities that could improve both mental and physical health 

 
2. Increase in unhealthy behaviours  
 

- Whilst the One You Kent service has continued to operate online during the pandemic, there has been a reduction in availability and referrals 
into the service therefore less people are using public services to address unhealthy behaviours 

- These access issues may impact on a reduction in physical activity 
- Unhealthy eating habits developing 
- Increased alcohol consumption  

 
3. Decline in mental health and the impact on service provision 
 

- There is a suggested negative impact on mental health due to lockdown increasing feelings of social isolation, stress, anxiety, and low mood. 
Access to local mental health services has been disrupted as these were unable to offer face to face or community activities. 

- This impact on mental health means that there is likely to be an increase in demand on Mental Health Services however the increased demand 

P
age 101

A
ppendix H



   
 

   
 

cannot be evidenced. We are talking to Mental Health services such as West Kent Mind to establish this impact. 
- Possibility that those without history of mental health may have suffered for the first time during this pandemic. 
- Shielded population health vulnerabilities may cause anxiety after coming out of lockdown  

 
4. Widening already existing Health Inequalities 
 

- Already existing health inequalities will be amplified as a result of the pandemic. People that had poor outcomes before the virus are those 
that have been worst affected by the virus. This includes areas of deprivation, BAME and those living with long term health conditions.  

 

 

Overall, what do think are the biggest opportunities? 
 
Promoting healthy lifestyles 
 

- There has been government recognition to reduce obesity due to this being a risk factor for COVID-19. 
- Making Every Contact Count (MECC) training could take place for public facing departments in TWBC to enable them to have brief health 

conversations with residents. These short conversations can promote healthy lifestyles and referrals into the OYK service. There is the 
opportunity for this training to be implemented at low cost and in a short timeframe subject to Management Board approval.  

- Coronavirus has brought the importance of adopting healthy behaviours to the forefront which for example physical activity. This is also 
important in promoting prevention of developing long term healthy conditions. Therefore, there is an opportunity to use this as a motivational 
tool. 

- People found new opportunities in physical activity during the virus for example more people walking during lockdown using their 1 hour of 
exercise. People saw the benefits of the exercise and it would be good to draw on this.  

- The 2015 Cycling Strategy is being updated to form a Local Cycling & Walking Infrastructure Plan (or LCWIP). 
 

Community groups  
 

- As things begin to reopen, we are now able to reach out to those communities that are not online such as through using local community 
venues.  

- Community support groups formed as a response to the Coronavirus pandemic such as Paddock Wood Community Support therefore there is 
an opportunity to link it with these groups to reach people at a local level.  

- Linking in with BAME groups  
 
Digitally enabled services 

P
age 102

A
ppendix H



   
 

   
 

 
- Services have now adopted online services in replacement of face to face during the pandemic. Many of these services would not have moved 

to this delivery method otherwise. This may be a positive development, if it helps to improve accessibility for those that are digitally enabled 
such as those living in rural areas of the borough or with work/childcare commitments. There is an opportunity to continue this way of working 
as part of a mixed service offer alongside face to face in the future, but we need to mindful that for some this will highlight digital inequalities. 

 

Are there any quick wins? 
 
Physical activity opportunities 
The cost of physical activity has previously been a barrier to access which can be addressed through measures such as:  

- Promotion of Outdoor Gyms: This is underway at the moment with the Health Team looking to promote these in partnership with Parks 
- Health Walks: Ramblers have given permission for Health Walks to go ahead in groups of 6 so the Health Team are currently exploring these 

opportunities  
- One You Kent exercise opportunities  
- TW Social signposting to free physical activity opportunities 
- Linking in with the Culture Team who are in the early stages of a project on “50 Things” for families to stay busy during the summer holidays. 

This will incorporate being outdoors and being active.  
 
Cycling Strategy  

DfT Emergency Transport Fund. In Tranche 1 of this funding KCC will deliver the schemes: 
- One way in High Street, RTW (to allow for wider pavements for pedestrians) 
- Bus gate scheme on Commercial Road in Paddock Wood to facilitate more walking and cycling 
- Access only scheme for Reynolds Lane in Southborough to facilitate more walking and cycling 
- 20mph scheme for RTW town centre  
- Light segregation on A26 cycle route between RTW town centre and Southborough 

  
TWBC is also working on a one-way scheme for Camden Road – this will allow for wider pavements for pedestrians also.  
  
The team will be putting forward more schemes for Tranche 2 of this funding – these are likely to include the below but are not finalised yet. 

- Route across the Commons – Langton Green/Rusthall to RTW town centre 
- Further improvements to the A26 
- Possibly converting some of the tranche 1 schemes to permanent.  

   
Health Professionals/Networking Opportunities  

P
age 103

A
ppendix H



   
 

   
 

- Working with GP Partners including Kent & Medway CCG and Tunbridge Wells PCN to promote key health messages. This includes Social 
Prescribers 

- Health Professionals and organisations joint working   
- Self-care and Prevention Group Meeting partnership group work focusing on physical activity opportunities across West Kent 

 
One You Kent Service 
The digital One You Kent service is available to those looking to improve health behaviours. This service is well linked in with other organisations and 
can signpost and refer clients as needed, this include identifying the need for referral to mental health services or housing support. 

 
Everyday Active Campaign 
The campaign by Kent Sport has been developed over the past couple of years aiming to provide better information on how people in Kent can 
become more active in their everyday lives, with a focus on the least active group. The website is in the testing phase currently with the aim of 
launching it to the public in September.  

- Offering funding to support clubs and organisations to encourage people to be more active  
- Offering funding to support those effected by COVID to return to action  
- Kent Sport Launching and testing Everyday Active website  

 
Development of Community  

- Better awareness and greater engagement with local community groups and the potential to link-in with these e.g. Paddock Wood Community 
Support / Tunbridge Wells Social Isolation  

- This will open a direct line of contact with those that are harder to reach.  
 
Mental Health 
There are a range of support services already available therefore the continued promotion and partnership working is important: 

- KCC release the pressure campaign  
- West Kent Mind “Community Contact Line” working in July 

- Health Team will receive West Kent Mind Mental Health First Aid Training funded by KCC to support One You Kent clients 
- Psychological First Aid Training has been shared across TWBC – it is unknown what the uptake of this has been to date.  

 
Is there anything we should stop doing now to aid recovery? 
 
Community support has been provided throughout the pandemic and this is drawing to a close at the end of July. This will be a positive step to aiding 
recovery as the teams providing this emergency support are now signposting to longer term support. This will therefore no longer be an emergency 
response but a more sustainable approach. It is hoped that by linking people into local services it will in turn create a link with their community. 

P
age 104

A
ppendix H



   
 

   
 

 
Other changes are relating to government guidance therefore not within our control. 
 
Are there any media/communications issues or requirements that need to be flagged as a result? 
 

- Reaching people that do not have digital access and therefore will not use online communication channels such as email or social media. 
- Town & Country Housing have shared a signposting directory. This will help to create a more joined up way of working when referring to local 

organisations.  

 
Does the impact have a disproportionate impact on those with protected characteristics? 
 
Already existing health inequalities will be amplified as a result of the pandemic. People that had poor outcomes before the virus are those that have 
been worst affected. This includes: 
 
Areas of deprivation 
Areas of deprivation (in the 40% most deprived areas of the country) by Lower Super Output Area (LSOA) are: 
E01024831 – Rusthall 4th 
E01024841 – Sherwood 4th 
E01024842 – Sherwood 4th 
E01024843 – Southborough and High Brooms 4th  
E01024841 – Broadwater 3rd 
E01024840 – Sherwood 2nd 
These areas are most likely to be disproportionately impacted both throughout the pandemic and afterwards. This could include access to services, 
financial and job challenges, and poorer health outcomes. Alongside these small pockets of deprivation, 70% of the boroughs LSOAs are in the top half, 
with a significant number in the 9th and 10th deciles. This means that these small areas of deprivation are surrounded by significant areas of wealth. 
Basic services such as housing, transport and childcare are therefore much more expensive than they would otherwise be, which increases the 
pressures on our more deprived areas. 
The Office of National Statistics data7 shows that these areas of deprivation in Tunbridge Wells did not have a higher number of COVID-19 related 
deaths. This is in contradiction with national data.   

 

                                                           
7
 https://www.ons.gov.uk/releases/deathsinvolvingcovid19bylocalareaandsocioeconomicdeprivationmay2020  

 

P
age 105

A
ppendix H

https://www.ons.gov.uk/releases/deathsinvolvingcovid19bylocalareaandsocioeconomicdeprivationmay2020


   
 

   
 

Black, Asian and minority ethnic (BAME) backgrounds 
BAME has been shown as a risk factor in susceptibility to COVID-19 as well as a factor in community recovery: 

- More likely to have co-morbidities 
- More likely of being frontline workers which may impact on job loss/redundancies 
- More likely to live in poorer area, live in overcrowded housing and inter-generational housing. 8 

 
Long Term Health Conditions 
Those with long term health conditions (LTHC) have been affected as these are a risk factor of COVID-19. This is also the case for those with a high BMI 
and diabetes. This population group was therefore most likely to be shielded, or those that are clinically extremely vulnerable. This shielding may have 
had an impact on mental and physical wellbeing.  
 
Older Adults 
As with LTHC this is a risk factor of COVID-19 with this group being classed as vulnerable and more likely to have been shielding. Therefore, this 
shielding may have had an impact on mental wellbeing through ways such as social isolation and limitations in digital access. In addition to this impact 
on physical health through lower activity levels during shielding therefore muscle weakness and an increased risk of falls.  
 
Young People 
National research shows that “young people who reported that their well-being was being affected were much more likely than either those aged 30 
to 59 years or those aged 60 years and over to report being bored (76%) and lonely (51%); they were also much more likely to say the lockdown was 
making their mental health worse (42%)”9 
 
Learning Disabilities 
Accessibility is an important consideration in the community recovery. As many services have moved online in place of face to face support it has 
removed accessibility of community services during the pandemic.  
 

 

 

                                                           
8
 https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/blog/2020/04/ethnic-minority-deaths-covid-19  

9
 https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/ageing/articles/coronavirusandthesocialimpactsonyoungpeopleingreatbritain/3aprilto10may2020 

P
age 106

A
ppendix H

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/blog/2020/04/ethnic-minority-deaths-covid-19


Community Theme Action Plan

Timescale Action Action to Mitigate 

or Opportunity

Accountable 

Organisation

Lead Name Target Start Target End Resource/Capacity 

required

Priority:

Essential 

Important 

Desirable

Increased  resources due to demand:

3 New Managers

2 New Administrators (Temporary Covid Posts for 6 Months) 

Mitigate DAVSS Henu Cummins Jul-20 Aug-20 Essential

Applied for Emergency Covid Funding from different organisations 

(Kent Community Foundation and Police and Crime 

Commissioners/MOJ - circa £80K) for additional staff resources

Mitigate DAVSS Henu Cummins May-20 Jul-20 Essential

Lottery Fund:  Secured £30K from National Lottery to increase support 

in the Helpline and support for volunteers

Mitigate DAVSS Henu Cummins Aug-20 Feb-20 Essential

Immediate training from West Kent MIND on sucidal awareness 

(National MIND funding to provide assistance to DAVSS Clients and 

Staff). Immediate counselling services made available to DAVSS clients 

via WKM

Opportunity DAVSS Henu Cummins Aug-20 Feb-20 Essential

Youth Engagement:   Multi-Agency District  Contextual Safeguarding 

Meetings - TWBC to attend and to respond as appropriate as a needs 

arise

Opportunity TWBC CSU Aug-20 Mar-20 Important

Youth Engagement:   Out Reach Workers - At key locations such as 

Calverley Park, St Johns Park, Cadogan, Paddock Wood and 

Southborough) - Key ASB hot spots with youths

Opportunity TWBC CSU Jul-20 Aug-20 Important

CCTV to build partnership working with British Transport Police to 

help tackle graffiti and criminal damage in the town

Opportunity TWBC CCTV Jul-20 Sep-20 Important

Noise and nuisance Complaints: No specific action required to 

maintain current service delivery.  Although if current summer peak in 

service demand does not drop as usual projects and service 

development not possible.  Potential to look at replicating some or all 

of automated system used by MBC to triage cases and enable 

complainants to upload video and audio files for screening 

assessment.  Would ease burden primarily on admin team but needs 

to be further explored.  

Opportunity TWBC EH Aug-20 Sep-20 Important

Short Term

6 Months

P
age 107

A
ppendix I



Training programme for 13 new recruited Volunteer Adivisors Mitigate DAVSS Henu Cummins Apr-20 Sep-20 Essential

Recruitment of 10 New Advisors Mitigate DAVSS Henu Cummins Aug-20 Aug-21 Essential

Support to court coordinater in post to manage high demand for 

prohibitive injunctions and court support

Mitigate DAVSS Henu Cummins Jul-20 Jul-21 Essential

Review allocation of TWBC funding towards DAVSS to review 

additional funding in line with the increase demand on the service. 

(£18K currently).  To review a longer term agreement that provides 

for 'guaranteed' funding for longer than the current 1 year and to 

draw up a SLA

Mitigate TWBC Denise Haylett Sep-20 Apr-21 Essential

To review the accommodation needs for voluntary sector partners 

including DAVSS

Mitigate TWBC Denise Haylett Sep-20 Essential

Domestic Abuse Court Hearings - Explore the opporunity with the 

Court Service for hearings to be held locally (Currently travelling to 

Medway/Hastings/Canterbury and Maidstone). Medway court due to 

close. 

Mitigate DAVSS

TWBC

Henu Cummins

Denise Haylett

Sep-20 Essential

Explore opportunities to continue Remote Court Hearings which have 

proved to be beneficial during lockdown

Mitigate DAVSS Henu Cummins Sep-20 Essential

New in house course facilitor currently being recruited to  deliver ACE  

(Adverse Childhood Experience)/RTK (Recovery Toolkit)/Freedom for 

adults and children to help manage long lasting implications of 

DA/Covid and aid recovery

Mitigate DAVSS Henu Cummins Aug-20 Aug-21 Essential

Medium Term  

6 - 12 mths

Long Term

12 Months 

Longer

P
age 108

A
ppendix I



Community Theme - Impact Assessment 

Present data in visual format where possible: 
 

  Indicator Data Source  Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Apr-19 May-19 Jun-19 

Community 

Safety 

Domestic Violence Calls to Police Community Safety Team 172 224 213 193 215 166 

DAVSS - Calls received to Helpline Community Safety Team 255 507 511 301 

DAVSS – High Need Domestic Violence Referrals 
Community Safety Team 11 12 16  Not recorded pre-COVID 

Noise Complaints Community Safety Team 14 9 

Neighbour Disputes Community Safety Team 201 63 

Other ASB incidents Community Safety Team 662 337 

Hate Crime Community Safety Team 96 105 

Environmental 

Health TWBC – Noise Complaints Environmental Health 275 131 

 TWBC – Bonfire complaints Environmental Health 148 23 

 TWBC – other nuisance/pests/drainage etc. Environmental Health 102 62 
 

 
What does the data identify in terms of impact?  Are there any gaps in the data? 
 
Domestic Violence Calls to Police: 
An increase of nine and 47 domestic abuse calls to Kent Police in May and June over the preceding year. 
Impact: A clear increase In June but the impact is unclear without understanding the nature of the calls and any further work 
that may have been picked up by Victim Support or other support agencies. 
Gaps: The nature and severity of the incidents. The number of calls that were repeat victims or repeat perpetrators. 
 
 
 

P
age 109

A
ppendix J



 
DAVSS - Calls received to Helpline: 
An increase of 972 calls to DAVSS helpline during the quarter. 
Impact: A significant increase in helpline calls will have an adverse effect on the service provider and strongly indicates a high 
level of need for advice exacerbated/caused by the lockdown. Unfortunately, DAVSS cannot provide a breakdown of victims 
as their new call management software has not yet been implemented  
Gaps: The reason for the call. 
 
DAVSS – High Need Domestic Violence Referrals: 
Modest month-on-month increase over the three-month period.  
Impact: High need referrals have a greater impact on the service in terms of length and severity of initial call and the 
emotional effect on the call taker. 
Gaps: Data not recorded prior to January 2020. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Referrals 

(Total) 

Referrals 

(Female) 

Referrals 

(Male) 

Std/Med 

Risk 

High 

Risk 

Apr 14 14 0 6 8 

May 21 21 0 18 3 

June 30 30 0 22 8 

July 17 15 2 14 2 

P
age 110

A
ppendix J



Hate Crime: 
A total of 96 CAD calls were received for Q1.  Each of these are then reviewed by the Police of which 60 were then identified 
as Hate Crime and were allocated to Police Officers to investigate.  
 

 Racial Disability Transgender Sexual 
Orientation 

Religious 
Belief 

Disability 
& 
Religious 
Belief 

Racial &  
Disability 

Racial & 
Religious 

Religious  
Belief & 
Sex 
Orientation 

April 
2020 

10 3 1 2      

May 
2020 

15 1   1 1    

June 
2020 

19 3   1  1 2  

July 
2020 

6 3  2 1     

 
 
Noise Complaints (Kent Police): 
No real impact here 
 
Noise and Nuisance Complaints (TWBC): 
Data shows a dramatic increase (over double) in the levels of service demand for Environmental Health in respect of matters 
with a community or neighbourhood impact for the three months selected.  This has been managed due to volume and early 
restrictions on officer visits by re-engineering some processes to encourage residents to assist in gathering evidence and 
adopting more use of ASB powers as opposed to traditional nuisance legislation where applicable.  Both the EH admin team 
and the EP Officers have responded fantastically to this challenge.  The success of these measures means that some are likely 
to be adopted in the long term.  Please note these figures are only for reactive/complaint service requests and do not capture 
planning or licensing consultations or any of the more proactive work undertaken by the team such as with air quality.  The 
majority of these cases relate to residential to residential cases, however July and August have seen an increase in complaints 

P
age 111

A
ppendix J



about commercial premises.  
Impact: It is likely there has been some slippage in the response times to cases and to the response to planning applications 
and other proactive work which will affect both TWBC and MBC.  Projects aimed at income generation have also been 
delayed or not progressed. 
 
Neighbour Disputes (Kent Police): 
An increase of 138 neighbour dispute calls to Kent Police during the quarter. 
Impact: Kent Police Force Control Room will have been severely impacted by all manner of calls during lockdown. An increase 
in this ‘crime type’ was to be expected and will likely tail off over time. Of the 201 calls, 93 were tagged as ‘COVID-19’ 
indicating social distancing/regulation breaches were a factor in the call. 
Gaps: Without a clear understanding of the nature and severity, housing tenure and outcome of the calls it is difficult to 
understand what long-term or ongoing impact the increase will have. 
 
Other ASB incidents (Kent Police): 
An increase of 325 anti-social behaviour calls to Kent Police during the quarter. 
 
CCTV work with partners to monitor and respond to ASB within our town centres to help reduce the fear of crime. To help 
deter crime, help detect crime and provide evidential material for court proceedings. 
 
To provide assistance in the overall management of public health and safety. Help to enhance community safety, assist in 
developing the economic wellbeing in Tunbridge Wells Borough and to encourage greater use of the town centres, shopping 
areas, car parks, and similar locations within our area 
 
Impact: There are a number of sub-categories under ASB. By far the biggest increase was in “Rowdy or nuisance gathering in 
public / impeding public access” with 281 more incidents over the preceding year – 271 of these were tagged as ‘COVID-19’ 
indicating social distancing/regulation breaches were a factor in the call. 
Gaps: As with other data provided by Kent Police, without a deeper understanding of the nature of the call, the severity, the 
discrete location and the response it is difficult to know what impact this increase has had on a family, a road, a community 
or a ward/parish. 
 

P
age 112

A
ppendix J



(AWAIT GRAPH FROM DEBRA LARKIN) 
 
What local knowledge do we have on the impact which is not reflected in the data? 
 
We know that DAVSS have been swamped with additional calls to their helpline (which they increased from three to six hours 
a day, five days a week) and the high need calls have had an impact on the volunteers. DAVSS are looking to increase their 
volunteer numbers and are recruiting more office-based staff to manage the increase in workload. 
 
 
  
  

P
age 113

A
ppendix J



 
Overall, what do you think are the biggest risks/consequences of the impact? 
 
ASB calls increased by 468 over the same period last year. Of the 877 total calls, 412 were tagged ‘COVID-19’. We could 
reasonably expect that ASB, noise and nuisance neighbour/dispute calls will flatten out and return to some form of normal 
over time. Discussions are regularly being held with DA advisors. 
 
Families may have been strengthened or weakened during this time. 
 
Financial hardship and mental health issues may impact the family unit, young people in particular. 
 
For domestic abuse there may be increased risks to victims over the longer term if the lockdown period has had a financial 
impact on the household, particularly for children within the families. The risks of not being able to meet the needs of an 
increased number of victims may also have an impact. Other earlier changes, such as the closure of local courts, will also 
further impact victims and their children. 
 

Overall, what do think are the biggest opportunities? 
 
A key question that will likely be discussed with DA professionals at the West Kent DA Forum, the Quarterly DA 
Commissioners meeting and the Kent DA Chairs forum. 
 
The pandemic offers support services a good opportunity to have deeper discussions with young people about home life, 
mental health, general wellbeing and schooling. Outreach workers should take this opportunity to have more meaningful 
conversations with the hard-to-reach cohort. 
 
  

P
age 114

A
ppendix J



Are there any quick wins? 
 
Not necessarily a quick win but the CSU will be leading on two youth engagement ‘all out’ events in July and August to 
reach young people in public spaces. We will also be adding ‘contextual safeguarding’ to our bi-weekly Youth Diversion 
Forum meeting to better understand the open spaces young people use and the risks associated with these spaces (such as 
car parks, hidden areas within parks, abandoned/derelict premises, train stations. As mentioned above the opportunity to 
start conversations and make them meaningful should not be underestimated. 
 

Is there anything we should stop doing now to aid recovery? 
 
No 
 
Are there any media/communications issues or requirements that need to be flagged as a result? 
 
Signposting to relevant support services will be included in the community safety section of the revamped TWBC website. 
 
The Council’s Community Safety Team will encourage service providers, particularly those who provide support for young 
people and victims (and perpetrators) of domestic abuse, to promote their services widely. We will reinforce relevant 
message amongst our social media followers as appropriate.  
 

Does the impact have a disproportionate impact on those with protected characteristics? 
 
Much of the data provided in the main doesn’t provide a breakdown to protect those of protected characteristics.  Limited 
data in respect to hate crime, but Tunbridge Wells in comparison with other Kent authorities is low. 
  
 

P
age 115

A
ppendix J



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Community Theme - Impact Assessment 

Present data in visual format where possible  
Public, Community & Voluntary Sector – Supporting the community and voluntary sector and town and parish councils and increased 
number of volunteers in recognition of the key role they have played during the pandemic; important role they provide alongside other 
statutory services during recovery and important insight they provide into community issues. To identify and lobby for external funding to 
support the local community needs identified through Covid-19. 

 

P
age 117

A
ppendix K



What does the data identify in terms of impact?  Are there any gaps in the data? 
 
Voluntary Sector National Data 

The Institute for Fundraising, NCVO, and Charity Finance Group produced a report in July to assess the impact of the pandemic on the 
voluntary sector (appendix A). It draws on findings from a survey carried out between April and May this year nationwide, and notes that 
respondents were more likely to be national charities, so the findings are not necessarily extrapolated for smaller charities. Whilst this 
does not give us an accurate picture of circumstances locally, the data can be used to make assumptions about the impacts on local 
charities and the voluntary sector. 
 
The findings were: 
 

 On average charities received 29% less funding during the period than what they had budgeted for. 
o Income trading was 79% lower. 
o Voluntary giving was 14% lower. 
o Government income was 51% higher. 

 

 However, 15% of charities reported an increase in funding during the period. 

 On average, forecasted income was expected to be 24% lower for the year. 

 However, 6% of charities expected it to be higher, and 2% expected no change. 

 69% of charities had used the Job Retention Scheme. 
o On average 50% of staff had been furloughed. 
o 61% said they would not be able to bring back all furloughed staff into existing roles. 

 

 59% said they expected to make redundancies, and 65% said they would move staff to fewer hours. 

 54% said they would not be able to continue to provide all of their services. 

 However, 24% reported a significant increase in demand, and 23% reported an increase in demand. 

 34% of charities said they could continue to operate but with hugely reduced services. 43% said they would continue to operate with 
some reduced services. 5% said they would need to close. 11% said they could operate as normal. 5% said they would increase their 
services. 

 
A sentiment analysis was completed by Pro Bono Economics in August 2020 (appendix B), which highlights that funding challenges were 
the main area of concern for charities. Interestingly, ‘rethinking strategy and offerings’ has not featured as a significant theme over the 
reference period. This is perhaps because it is difficult for charities to rethink strategy and offerings when their core purpose remains the 
same, and during a time of increasing need for that support. 

Voluntary Sector Local Data 

In-depth interviews were undertaken in September with 11 local charities and voluntary organisations (16 were invited) to understand 
their current viability and funding issues, and what issues may occur with service delivery over the coming months. The organisations that 
responded were: 

P
age 118

A
ppendix K



What local knowledge do we have on the impact which is not reflected in the data? 
Voluntary Sector 
The spreadsheet attached at appendix C provides in-depth knowledge of the local voluntary organisations within the TW area. A great deal 
of informal support to individuals has been provided through local church groups, but this information is not well reflected in the data that 
we have available.  
 

Local Councils 

Local Councils have been in regular contact with the Borough Council throughout the response and recovery period, with weekly, and then 
fortnightly meetings held between Chairmen and the Chief Executive.  This was arranged through KALC. Through these meetings Local 
Councils have been able to report and discuss any issues and share best practice. Through these meetings Local Councils have been able to 
report on any viability issues, but at this time, all Local Councils within the area are doing well, and have been able to cope with the impact 
so far. There was of course an impact initially on events that may have raised money during the lockdown period, but since the restrictions 
have been lifted, there has been local reporting of much higher than normal attendance at any events that have been delivered. 
 

P
age 119

A
ppendix K



Overall, what do you think are the biggest risks/consequences of the impact? 
Voluntary Sector 
Without funding, one community interest company (the Forum) may cease to exist all together resulting in a range of specific types of 
support being unavailable. As the service delivery model centres around the benefits received from cultural and music activities, it may be 
difficult for this provision to be accessed elsewhere resulting in some clients missing out on opportunities. 
 
Other organisations have funding secured in the short term. However if the funding situation remains uncertain, this may result in several 
voluntary organisations experiencing severe financial difficulties at the same time. The cumulative effect of this would be likely to restrict 
the Borough Council’s ability to provide help/assistance if the need is too widespread.  
 
The voluntary organisations have reported an increase in need and are expecting levels to continue to increase over the winter period, 
however some have reported difficulties with providing enough volunteers to deliver the service. Where the need is unmet, this may 
result in an escalation of the issues being faced, which will ultimately impact on the number of people needing critical services and 
support provided by government agencies and public authorities. This will be on top of the normal increase we are likely to see as a result 
of the economic downturn and potential new restrictions being imposed due to rising cases. 

 
Local Councils 
Local Councils are in a relatively healthy position following the immediate impacts of the crisis. However, the Parish Enabling Reserve has 
now been spent, which means that this emergency funding can no longer be called upon. Should another emergency occur (such as wide-
spread winter flooding) additional funding will not be available from the Borough Council.  
 
Local Councils are able to raise their precept uncapped however, and the support provided to residents during the crisis was mainly 
through volunteer groups that appear to be well established and able to restart should the need arise. One volunteer group in Hawkhurst 
raised the possibility that they may run out of funding in October (however emergency funding has recently been provided by the Council 
which should help alleviate the situation).  
 
Should it be the case that local community groups run out of funding, those that have been helped would need to find alternative 
provision (which is likely to be through the borough or county council). 

 

P
age 120

A
ppendix K



Overall, what do you think are the biggest opportunities? 
Many voluntary organisations raised the issue that provision of services is disparate within the Borough, and that there is a lack of a strong 
local network. Voluntary organisations have discussed the potential of a ‘community hub’ model, with infrastructure being provided by 
the Borough Council. This will provide a ‘Single Point of Access’ for those seeking support from the organisations and will be able to 
signpost to the most appropriate service. 

 
Are there any quick wins? 
The Borough Council can, through its communication channels and through Councillors, raise the issues discussed by local voluntary 
organisations, and promote their fundraising activities. 
 
Raising the profile of local organisations and providing lobbying support to government can help the organisations to secure funding. 
Communication of fundraising activities to local people can help to improve the effectiveness of this. Spotlights on local voluntary sector 
organisations in Local, through social media and on our website could help to raise awareness.  

 

Is there anything we should stop doing now to aid recovery? 
Nothing identified. 

 

Are there any media/communications issues or requirements that need to be flagged as a result? 
See above under quick wins. 

 

Does the impact have a disproportionate impact on those with protected characteristics? 
Yes. The potential impacts on the voluntary sector may result in less (or no) services being provided for their clients. For the voluntary 
sector organisations that have been surveyed, a high proportion of their client base has the protected characteristic of sex, age, disability 
and/or gender. 
 
Sex: largely female clients for DAVSS and Protection Against Stalking 
Age: largely younger clients for the Forum and Fegans. Older clients for Paddock Wood Community Support, Compaid, Age UK. 
Disability: clients suffering mental health issues for the Forum, the Counselling Centre, Mental Health Resource and Crossways. 
Gender: the Forum have noted that pastoral care is provided to the LGBTQ+ community.    

 

 

P
age 121

A
ppendix K



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Community Theme Action Plan - Voluntary & Local Councils Sectors

Timescale Action Action to Mitigate 

or Opportunity

Accountable 

Organisation

Lead Name Target Start Target End Resource/Capacity 

required

Priority:

Essential 

Important 

Desirable

Continue to attend 2 wkly meetings with KALC/CEx, with recurring Covid-

19 item on the agenda to discuss

Opp TWBC/KALC William Benson Ongoing May-21 1x Cex, 1x HoS

Bi-weekly 1hr 

meetings

Important

Explore the provision of a 'community hub' between voluntary sector 

and TWBC - space and infrastructure

Opp TWBC/IMAGO Jane Clarke Nov-20 None Exploring what is 

possible will involve 

time of 1x HoS. 

Delivery of any 

agreed outcomes 

will be more 

resource intensive 

and is unknown at 

this stage.

Important

Community Hub' - networking

Community Hub' - social prescribing

Risk assess the voluntary groups that have responded and understand 

actions for those in priority need 

Understand what preparations Local Councils have in place to cope with 

rising winter infection levels, local lock downs and emergency events 

such as flooding/snow

Mitigate Winter Preparedness GroupDenise Haylett

Support Local Councils with PPE provision/access? Mitigate

Guide to support to be made public where possible Opp TCHG

Consider providing private space in TH for access to services Mitigate TWBC

Fundraising support - Julie Stones (funding bid support) and Lotto

Digital support - kit, skills (for voluntary sector and volunteers)

Explore whether TWBC can promote volunteering both internally (staff) 

and externally (residents) - those searching for employment may be 

available temporarily

Consider what technological support Local Councils might need

Understand what the local churches are providing and the current 

viability of provision

Communication from TWBC - themed comms to support particular 

projects

Collaborate with VCS to submit joint funding bids
OppDiscuss with Local Councils if the Emergency Reserve needs to be re-

established, and how this will be filled

Mitigate TWBC Lee Colyer

Short Term

6 Months

Medium Term  

6 - 12 mths

P
age 123

A
ppendix L



Promote commitment of the business community to VCS so that they 

(businesses) understand their (VCS) social value (capitalise on the 

generous community mood of some businesses)

Opp

Long Term

12 Months 

Longer

P
age 124

A
ppendix L



Covid-19 Organisational Recovery Strategy: 

 

This Report sits alongside the impact assessments and action plans for the Council’s 

other two strands of activity to promote a local recovery (business and community) 

Background and introduction 

As we have emphasised in the various reports to Cabinet, none of us have ever 

faced a public health challenge of the scale presented by the Covid-19 pandemic in 

our lifetime. The crisis has, is and will continue to impact on residents and 

businesses in the Borough as well as having a dramatic impact on the Council – its 

services, staff, budgets, capacity and priorities. 

Our main initial focus was on our response to the crisis; we then turned our attention 

to the recovery and responding to the various ‘unlocking’ measures and doing all we 

could to support local businesses and residents. More recently, with numbers ticking 

up, our focus is increasingly on supporting Public Health England and KCC in 

preventing the spread of the virus and enforcing the various restrictions that have 

been re-imposed and on preparing to support residents, businesses and the 

voluntary and community sector if further additional restrictions are put in place and if 

support is required for shielded, isolated or vulnerable individuals. 

In managing its response to the Coronavirus Pandemic, the Council has put together 

impact assessments and action plans for activity to support business and residents 

through the recovery. This Strategy sets out the impact on the Council’s services and 

how we propose to plan for the recovery. 

 

The Council’s move from response to recovery 

Details of the Council’s initial response to the Covid-19 Pandemic are set out in a 

report to Cabinet on 25 June. 

Since that date, a number of further changes have taken place in response to the 

changes to government guidance. 

The Council’s Services 

The vast majority of the Council’s services have now been restored since the report 

was considered by Cabinet including garden waste collections, the Council’s leisure 

centres all town centre car parks and planning committee. The Assembly Hall 

Theatre successfully reopened in mid-October with a significantly reduced capacity 

and new safety arrangements in place and this reopening was bolstered with the 

announcement of a successful bid for £500k from Arts Council England. The way in 

which services are delivered has changed considerably with many services being 

delivered virtually and with restrictions placed on face-to-face meetings to ensure the 

safety of staff and members of the public. 

Staff and councillors 

Page 125

Appendix M



The Council developed a three-stage approach to access to the Town Hall. The first 

stage (in line with government advice) saw only essential staff working in the Town 

Hall enabling it to be used as the Borough’s Emergency Centre if so required. The 

second stage saw a limited range of staff who were either unable to work from home 

or who needed to be in the Town Hall. The third stage saw a greater number of staff 

able to return if they wanted to work from the Town Hall (up to a number that was 

assessed to be Covid-secure). 

Since the Cabinet report was drafted, the vast majority of Committee meetings have 

been reinstituted. Whilst Committee meeting continue to be held through Skype, 

Teams or Zoom, the Council has permitted a limited number of councillors to 

(virtually) attend meetings at the Town Hall where there is a need to do so – for 

example inadequate broadband in a rural area. 

The Council continues to engage heavily with staff, councillors and partners with 

fortnightly all-staff briefings presented by the Chief Executive and weekly all-

councillor briefings. The Council has also successfully held a virtual alternative to its 

staff awards ceremony ‘Celebrate’. Externally, the Council continues to engage 

actively with parish and town councils, voluntary and community sector 

organisations, businesses and resident associations. 

The Council’s Finances 

The Council’s ability to deliver services has been significantly impacted by the strain 

on its finances (both increased costs and loss of income). Details of the financial 

consequences of the pandemic are set out elsewhere on this agenda. 

 

Setting a Course for the Future 

Whilst it is clearly important for the Council to chart a course for the future, it is very 

difficult to do this when things are so uncertain in terms of the context in which we 

will be operating, the evolution of the Covid-19 Pandemic, the impact on the local 

economy and society and our financial position. As ever, there will be some things 

that we can control, some things we can influence and some things that we will 

simply have to accept.  

This Organisational Recovery Strategy considers what the Council should be doing 

and thinking about in terms of its plans and priorities, its services, its staff, structures, 

premises and how it works. It looks at three phases: the ‘now’, the ‘next’ and the 

‘new normal’. 

We need to accept that this is not going to be a normal strategy. We can’t write it, 

consult on it, amend it and implement it. We will be operating in a fast-moving, 

dynamic environment – one in which we will have to respond to external events, 

decisions and situations. The Strategy will change and adapt to these events and 

circumstances 

Context 

Page 126

Appendix M



Normally, a Council strategy would set out the context in which it has been 

developed and in which it will be delivered.  With the uncertainty surrounding the 

country and the local area’s public health and economic situation, it is almost 

impossible to predict with any accuracy what will happen. Nationally, the UK is 

clearly in the midst of a ‘second wave’ of the Covid-19 pandemic with numbers of 

cases, hospitalisations and deaths all increasing. Whilst numbers are significantly 

higher in the North East, North West and Midlands, there have been increases 

across the country (including Tunbridge Wells) and some surrounding areas have 

seen sharp upticks which have led to increased restrictions being imposed under the 

Government’s new ‘three tier’ model. We look set to have a difficult Autumn and 

Winter ahead of us with some further restrictions on residents and businesses 

seeming inevitable. It also seems inevitable that these restrictions will have a longer-

term impact on residents and businesses with higher levels of unemployment, debt, 

mental health conditions and other issues (set out in the various Covid-19 impact 

assessments that the Council has produced). The local economy also looks likely to 

be affected with some businesses already closed and the restrictions on social 

interaction likely to take a particularly heavy toll on leisure and hospitality 

businesses. As a destination town and key employment centre this will have a 

significant impact on Royal Tunbridge Wells and the Borough more generally. Set 

against this, businesses have worked very hard to adapt to new models of service 

delivery and to meet the needs of local residents and more residents are working 

locally and showing loyalty to businesses that supported them so successfully in the 

early days of the pandemic. 

 

Looking to the Future: External Issues 

Customer Demand 

For the Council, we are likely to face both further reductions in income and peaks in 

demand. The financial consequences of this are set out elsewhere on this agenda 

but we are likely to see significant pressure on our Revenues and Benefits service, 

our Housing service, Environmental Health service, Economic Development service, 

Gateway and a number of ‘support’ services including Finance, Communications and 

Digital. Our experience has also been that funding has changed from planned, 

predictable allocations to short-term, targeted interventions that often require either 

complex application or administration processes with frequent changes to guidance. 

Based on our experience on the previous ‘lockdown’, other services are likely to be 

affected including Waste and potentially Leisure Centres and the Theatre. The 

Council has already stood its Community Hub back up in anticipation of increased 

demand (relocated from the Assembly Hall to the Gateway) and is in frequent 

communication with voluntary and community sector organisations and parish and 

town councils. 

Policies 

The Council will also need to keep its various policies and procedures under review. 

The Council has already made a number of short-term changes to its policies (for 

Page 127

Appendix M



example so as to facilitate changes of operation for businesses who have moved to 

collection or delivery services or to allow for outside seating) but more fundamental 

changes will be required. The Council had intended to undertake a comprehensive 

engagement exercise to inform the drafting of a new Five-Year Plan but, with 

restrictions on social interaction, capacity focused elsewhere and a highly uncertain 

operating environment, we have replaced this with an interim Strategic Plan (set out 

elsewhere on the agenda). Given the impact of the pandemic on the High Street, the 

Council has also commissioned some further work on this as part of the process of 

developing its Local Plan and whilst the Council has already recognised the need to 

update its Cultural Strategy, the impact of the pandemic on the cultural and leisure 

sectors will accentuate the need for this to be reviewed and revisited. On the issue of 

transport, the Council published a paper entitled ‘Transport Strategy – Context and 

Review’ as part of its Regulation 18 consultation. It was always our intention to turn 

this into a more comprehensive Transport Strategy and we will ensure that the 

Strategy takes account of the current and likely future changes that will arise 

because of the Pandemic. Other plans and strategies may also need to be reviewed 

and updated. 

Performance metrics 

Clearly with such a significant and rapidly evolving challenge as Covid-19 we need to 

keep a close eye on performance indicators to help us understand how the 

pandemic and associated restrictions are impacting on residents and businesses 

and how the Council is performing. In addition to the Council’s normal suite of 

performance indicators, we have pulled together a suite of performance information 

that helps us understand the impact of the pandemic. We report these indicators to 

the Covid-19 Panel on a regular basis. 

Communication and engagement 

The Council has worked hard to ensure that it has communicated widely and 

effectively throughout the pandemic. Full details were given in the June update to 

Cabinet and, since then, the Council has continued to communicate both internally 

and externally including further business briefing sessions, regular meetings with 

parish chairmen, the BID and councillors. The Council has also refreshed and 

relaunched its website which has seen demand grow significantly throughout the 

pandemic and is using its ‘Local’ magazine as a backstop to ensure that residents 

who are unable or unwilling to access the website are kept informed. The Council will 

continue to engage and inform residents using all its communication channels. 

 

Looking to the Future: Internal Issues 

Background 

As noted in the June Cabinet report, it is worth noting that we were well positioned to 

cope with the changes to working practices that were required as a result of the 

pandemic – we had moved a long way to promote flexible working (in terms of both 

HR policies, ICT equipment and organisational culture), we had an enterprise-wide 

Page 128

Appendix M



digital telephony solution and we were in the process of introducing webcasting for 

Committee meetings. Most importantly, the Council has incredibly dedicated and 

flexible staff who have been extraordinary in coping with and responding to the 

challenges posed by the pandemic. 

Accommodation and Facilities 

Throughout the pandemic, the Council has been adhering to government advice. It 

has adopted a three-stage approach which saw only a skeleton staff retained within 

the building during the initial phase of the lockdown followed by a move to allow staff 

who struggled to work from home or who needed access to Town Hall facilities to 

return followed to a more general return (up to numbers that could be maintained in 

a Covid-secure way). The Council will continue to follow government advice in this 

area. It seems likely that the majority of staff will be working from home or largely 

from home for the next six months. 

More generally, the Council has been looking at the issue of staff accommodation for 

some time given the fact that the Town Hall is too large for our needs and expensive 

to run and maintain. Following the decision not to proceed with new accommodation 

as part of the Calverley Square scheme, a cross-party group of councillors was 

looking into this issue. A brief for consultants had been prepared and was due to be 

taken to Cabinet in June but, following the ‘lockdown’ in March 2020, meetings were 

suspended and have only just been reintroduced. 

The pandemic has hugely accelerated pre-existing trends for organisations 

(including the Council) to move to more flexible patterns of working. In a recent 

survey of staff, the proportion of staff who saw themselves as being solely office 

based had decreased from 35 per cent to five per cent and the proportion who saw 

themselves as working flexibly increase from 17 to 40 per cent and the proportion 

who wanted to work mainly from home increased from six to 29 per cent. It is clear 

that the Pandemic has accelerated changes to working patterns by some years. We 

need to take this opportunity to redefine the Council’s accommodation requirements 

in light of the increased demand for flexible and home working and the successful 

way in which the Council has adapted to new ways of working throughout the 

Pandemic. 

ICT 

As noted in the June report to Cabinet, the Council was well prepared for the switch 

to homeworking and, in the main, its systems have performed well. The charts below 

show the significant increase in the use of audio and video conferencing with a 500 

per cent increase in audio calls and instant messaging, a 3,147 per cent increase in 

video and a 2,651 per cent increase in screen sharing. The Council shares its ICT 

services with Maidstone and Swale councils and we have only recently adopted an 

ICT Strategy which placed users and flexible working at its core. Working with Mid 

Kent Services partners, we will need to keep our Strategy, systems and performance 

under review and align them with any future changes to accommodation or working 

practices. 

Page 129

Appendix M



 

Staffing-related issues 

As mentioned above and as set out in the June report, the Council has, in the main, 

adapted well to homeworking. Regular pulse surveys have shown that the majority of 

staff are coping well and have the right technology and equipment to work. However, 

as the length of time spent away from the Town Hall has increased, many staff are 

increasingly missing the social dimension of work and the physical interaction that 

has been a large contributory factor to the Council’s successful culture of 

collaboration and innovation. Some staff are also struggling with homeworking 

because of a lack of space, broadband connectivity or (during lockdown) because of 

childcare responsibilities. 

The changes have also had a big impact on the Council’s environmental footprint. 

Extrapolating the changes we have seen across the course of the year means that 

we will have saved £84,360 in travel  expenses and 48.75 tonnes of CO2 over the 

course of the year. Other specific changes include: a massive reduction in printing, a 

switch to remote meetings and briefings, a large increase in online transactions and 

a reduction in cash payments. 

Looking to the future, the Council was already working on a raft of changes to the 

way in which the Council operates under a ‘Modern Ways of Working’ programme 

put in place to support the move to new, smaller, more flexible office accommodation 

as part of the Calverley Square project. The programme had a number of principles, 

namely: 

 Management by outcomes 

Page 130

Appendix M



 Empowered by technology 
 Digital by default 
 Paperless 
 ‘Flexibility first’ 
 Work takes place at the most effective locations and times 
 Culture – trust-based relationships 

 

The programme had initially been paused in the aftermath of the decision no longer 

to proceed with Calverley Square given the absence of firm plans and requirements 

for office accommodation but the Council’s senior management team have since 

agreed to continue work on a number of the principles of the programme and work is 

under way to re-assess what the Council might need in terms of office 

accommodation in light of our experience over the past six months and a greater 

desire on the part of staff to work more flexibly. It also seems highly likely that a 

combination of financial pressures and political imperatives will lead to decision to re-

appraise the Council’s occupation of the Town Hall. 

Looking forward, the Council will continue to engage with staff (see below) and, in 

particular, explore ways in which it can respond to concerns about wellbeing. It will 

also explore how learning and development can be delivered as effectively as 

possible in a remote environment and will consider what policies need changing or 

introducing in response to new ways of working (both now and into the future). 

Communication and engagement 

The Council has performed pretty well at communicating throughout the crisis. The 

regular ‘pulse’ staff survey demonstrates the importance of talking to staff and the 

fact that staff believe we have done this well (managers scored very highly with their 

efforts to engage staff). Clearly we will need to keep this under review going forward. 

 

Conclusion and Recommendations  

As noted above, this report is the third ‘pillar’ of the Council’s recovery strategy (the 

other pillars focusing on business and the community). It also needs to be read 

alongside the Council’s Strategic Plan and Budget Strategy and the regular updates 

to our financial position. With our operating environment being so uncertain, it is 

difficult to set precise objectives or plans in place but the above narrative coupled 

with the attached action plan sets out the key priorities for the Council in navigating 

our way through and beyond the pandemic. 

Page 131

Appendix M



Council Recovery Strategy Action Plan 

Action Lead Completed 

Assess and prepare for increased demand on the Council’s services including assessing staff who might 
be redeployed to support work needed on the Community Hub and in disbursing grants to businesses. 

  

Review and update the Council’s Strategic Plan JC  

Review and update the Council’s Cultural Strategy NC  

Ensure that the emerging Local Plan and Transport Strategy take account of changes likely to be brought 
about as a result of the Covid-19 Pandemic 

SB/HS In progress 

Continue to engage and communicate with residents, businesses and councillors. Promote key messages 
through Local and the Council’s website and other communication channels 

WB/IH  

Continue to survey staff through ‘pulse surveys’ and more detailed working preference surveys NC In progress 

Survey councillors on future meeting preferences JC  

Support councillors in assessing the Council’s future accommodation requirements and considering the 
future of the Town Hall 

DC In progress 

Keep the ICT Strategy and ICT hardware/software/support under review to ensure that it continues to meet 
the needs of the organisation 

CW In progress 

Continue to take forward the Council’s Modern Ways of Working Programme PT In progress 

Continue to engage staff through regular all-staff briefing sessions, pulse surveys and other mechanisms WB/IH  In progress 

 

 

 

P
age 132

A
ppendix M



 

Page  

1 of 7 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Poverty Task and Finish Group: Terms of Reference 

 

Poverty Task and Finish Group: 

Terms of Reference  

For Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 23 November 2020

 

Summary 

Members: Councillors Pound (Chairman) Atwood, Funnell, Thompson and Woodward. 

Report Author: Mark O’Callaghan – Scrutiny and Engagement Officer 

Classification: Public document (non-exempt) 

Wards Affected: All 

Approval Timetable Date 

Task and Finish Group 29 October 2020 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 23 November 2020 

Recommendations 

Committee recommendations: 

1. That the Poverty Task and Finish Group Terms of Reference be agreed.  

Page 133

Agenda Item 8



 

Page  

2 of 7 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Poverty Task and Finish Group: Terms of Reference 

 

1. Introduction and Background 

1.1 At its meeting on 26 February 2020, Full Council referred the Motion on Notice 

from Councillor Pound to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (FC95/19) 

1.2 The text of the motion was as follows: 

“That this Council, as part of its consideration of how it can play a 

greater role in addressing rising levels of poverty in Tunbridge Wells, 

undertakes a needs analysis and public engagement exercise to fully 

understand the extent of poverty in the top ten most deprived local 

areas in the Borough concentrated in Sherwood, Broadwater, High 

Brooms, Rusthall, Paddock Wood and Cranbrook (as identified in the 

2019 Indices of Multiple Deprivation). This exercise and subsequent 

work will help to inform how the Council and its partners can lift more 

residents out of poverty and identify additional measures that will be 

undertaken to improve the life chances of over 1 in 5 children currently 

growing up in poverty in the Borough.” 

1.3 The next meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee scheduled for 6 April 

2020 was cancelled and all non-essential work was suspended as the Council 

responded to the emerging Coronavirus pandemic. 

1.4 Although the Council continues to focus on the response to, and preparing for 

the recovery from, Coronavirus a degree of normality has been restored and 

some non-emergency work may resume. Any work streams must bear in mind 

that resources continue to be restrained. 

1.5 At its meeting on 12 October 2020, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee agreed 

to establish the Poverty Task and Finish Group in order to commence work to 

give effect to the Full Council resolution. 

1.6 A meeting of the Task and Finish Group was held on 29 October 2020 attended 

by Councillors Pound, Funnel and Thomson with the intention of formulating 

Terms of Reference. The meeting was supported by Jane Clarke, Head of Policy 

and Governance and Mark O’Callaghan, Scrutiny and Engagement Officer. 

Notes of the meeting were subsequently distributed to the absent members for 

comment. 

Considerations of the Task and Finish Group 

1.7 The Task and Finish Group sought to agree a common definition of ‘poverty’ to 

be used and the following points were taken into account: 

Page 134

Agenda Item 8



 

Page  

3 of 7 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Poverty Task and Finish Group: Terms of Reference 

 

 The concept of poverty went beyond just financial considerations and 

included wellbeing and lifestyle aspects. Financial considerations were often 

primary however as it impacted so significantly on many of the other factors. 

 Skinners Company defined poverty as poverty of Resource / Relationships / 

Aspiration. 

 The government’s Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) were a balance of 7 

indicators including income. The IMD was consistent with the resolution of 

Full Council but also it would be a common point of reference between many 

of the agencies dealing with issues related to poverty and, as a generally 

accepted definition, would be less likely to be challenged. 

 Certain aspects of the IMD were not necessarily the best measures and this 

needed to be taken into account. 

 People’s perception of poverty would be different and people’s access to 

support varied by their circumstances and not least by their own pride. 

1.8 The Task and Finish Group sought to establish what would, and would not, be 

within scope of the work to be undertaken. The following items were considered 

to be within scope: 

 What TWBC is doing (key focus) 

 What other agencies are doing – Government, NHS, Police, KCC 

 What the voluntary and community sector are doing 

 TWBC’s role in coordinating others 

 The portfolio holder’s views (Carol Mackonochie as portfolio holder for 

Communities and Wellbeing) 

 The director’s views (Paul Tayor as Director of Change and Communities 

whose directorate included a number of services relating to poverty) 

 A hig- level analysis of what government and national agencies (including 

NHS and Police) were currently doing. 

 A high-level analysis of what TWBC and KCC (particularly the Revenues and 

Benefits services and others in providing assistance for claiming benefits) 

were currently doing. 

 A high-level analysis of the voluntary and community sector. 

 A ‘map’ of how services were linked would be helpful. 

1.9 Work on the high-level analysis has commenced for review at the next meeting 

of the Task and Finish Group. 

2. Terms of Reference 

Membership 

2.1 Membership of the Task and Finish Group would consist of Councillors Pound 

(Chairman), Atwood, Funnell, Thomson and Woodward. 

2.2 The Task and Finish Group may co-opt other members in a non-voting capacity. 

Page 135

Agenda Item 8



 

Page  

4 of 7 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Poverty Task and Finish Group: Terms of Reference 

 

2.3 The Task and Finished Group will be supported by the Head of Policy and 

Governance and the Scrutiny and Engagement Officer. It may also seek further 

support at its discretion but may not incur expenditure. 

Meetings 

2.4 Meetings will commence at the end of November and then fortnightly thereafter. 

2.5 Additional meetings may be arranged as necessary. 

Scope 

2.6 The Task and Finish Group will focus on the top-ten Lower Layer Super Output 

Areas in the Borough and measure ‘poverty’ using the Indices of Multiple 

Deprivation. Finance measures would be taken after housing costs considering 

the particularly high cost of Tunbridge Wells. 

2.7 The Task and Finish Group will identify actions and measures taken by 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council and also take account of what other 

organisations/agencies are doing to address the Indices of Multiple Deprivation. 

2.8 The Task and Finish Group will seek to understand Tunbridge Wells Borough 

Council’s role in co-ordination. 

2.9 The Task and Finish Group will develop recommendations around a public 

consultation and qualitative analysis to understand the causes behind poverty.  

3. Options Considered 

3.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee is asked to endorse the Terms of 

Reference. 

3.2 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee is at liberty to disregard these 

recommendations and take no further action or to instruct the Task and Finish 

Group to pursue an alternative course. 

4. Preferred Option and Reason 

4.1 The Task and Finish Group believes that the Terms of Reference fulfils the brief 

set by Full Council and offer a practical and effective way forward. 

5. Consultation on Options 

5.1 This report is potentially the first step in a process and sets out the initial 

thoughts of the members of the Task and Finish Group. The report itself has not 

Page 136

Agenda Item 8



 

Page  

5 of 7 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Poverty Task and Finish Group: Terms of Reference 

 

been subject to outside consultation prior to presentation to the Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee. 

6. Implementation 

6.1 Subject to approval by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, the Task and 

Finish Group will proceed with its next meeting and commence work. 

7. Appendices and Background Documents 

Appendices: 

 None 

Exempt appendices (if any): 

 None 

Background Papers: 

 None 

 

Page 137

Agenda Item 8



 

Page  

6 of 7 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Poverty Task and Finish Group: Terms of Reference 

 

8. Cross Cutting Issues 

A. Legal (including the Human Rights Act) 

The Local Government Act 2000, section 21 enables an Overview and Scrutiny Committee to 

undertake the following functions: 

(a) Make reports and recommendations to the Executive or Council; 

(b) Review or scrutinise executive decisions; 

(c) Review or scrutinise non-executive decisions; 

(d) Report on any matter affecting the Council’s area. 

The arrangements outlined in this report are in accordance with functions permitted to be 

discharged by the Committee. 

Patricia Narebor, Head of Legal Partnership, 13 November 2020. 

B. Finance and Other Resources 

No budget is assigned to the work of the Task and Finish Group. The Task and Finish Group 

may not incur expenditure, therefore there are no financial implications from this report. 

Mark O’Callaghan, Scrutiny and Engagement Officer, 12 November 2020. 

C. Staffing 

Support to the Task and Finish Group is within existing establishments and therefore there 

are no staffing implications from this report. 

Mark O’Callaghan, Scrutiny and Engagement Officer, 12 November 2020. 

D. Risk Management 

This report does not propose any policy changes and therefore there are no specific 

implications at this time. 

Mark O’Callaghan, Scrutiny and Engagement Officer, 12 November 2020. 

Page 138

Agenda Item 8



 

Page  

7 of 7 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Poverty Task and Finish Group: Terms of Reference 

 

E. Environment and Sustainability 

This report does not propose any policy changes and therefore there are no specific 

implications at this time. 

Mark O’Callaghan, Scrutiny and Engagement Officer, 12 November 2020. 

F. Community Safety 

This report does not propose any policy changes and therefore there are no specific 

implications at this time. 

Mark O’Callaghan, Scrutiny and Engagement Officer, 12 November 2020. 

G. Equalities 

This report does not propose any policy changes and therefore there are no specific 

implications at this time. 

Mark O’Callaghan, Scrutiny and Engagement Officer, 12 November 2020. 

H. Data Protection 

This report does not propose any policy changes and therefore there are no specific 

implications at this time. 

Mark O’Callaghan, Scrutiny and Engagement Officer, 12 November 2020. 

I. Health and Safety 

This report does not propose any policy changes and therefore there are no specific 

implications at this time. 

Mark O’Callaghan, Scrutiny and Engagement Officer, 12 November 2020. 

J. Health and Wellbeing 

This report does not propose any policy changes and therefore there are no specific 

implications at this time. 

Mark O’Callaghan, Scrutiny and Engagement Officer, 12 November 2020. 

 

Page 139

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Page  

1 of 1 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Consultation and Engagement Task and Finish Group: Update 

 

Consultation and Engagement Task 

and Finish Group: Update 

For Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 23 November 2020

 

Verbal Report 

To receive a verbal update. 

Page 141

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Page  

1 of 1 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Work Programme 

 

Work Programme 

For Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 23 November 2020

 

Scheduled items for future meetings 

18 January 2021   (Agenda Publication: 08 January 2021) 

 Portfolio Holder Update: Sustainability (provisional) 

 Budget and Medium Term Financial Strategy Update 
 

29 March 2021   (Agenda Publication: 19 March 2021) 

(rearranged from 5 April) 

 Portfolio Holder Update: Communities and Wellbeing (provisional) 

 Community Safety Partnership Plan 
 

Unscheduled topics 

 Equality Policy Statement and Action Plan 

Page 143

Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Page  

1 of 1 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Urgent Business 

 

Urgent Business 

For Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 23 November 2020

 

Procedural Item 

To consider any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent, for the reasons to be 

stated, in accordance with Section 100B(4) of the Local Government Act 1972. 

Page 145

Agenda Item 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Page  

1 of 1 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Date of the Next Meeting 

 

Date of the Next Meeting 

For Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 23 November 2020

 

Procedural Item 

To note that the next scheduled meeting is Monday 18 January 2021. 

Page 147

Agenda Item 12



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Apologies for Absence
	2 Declarations of Interest
	3 Notification of Persons Registered to Speak
	4 Minutes of the meeting dated 12 October 2020
	5 Items Called-In
	6 Portfolio Holder Update - Finance and Governance
	6 Appendix A - Statement (Cllr Dawlings)

	7 Five Year Plan Update
	7 Appendix A - Business Action Plan
	7 Appendix B - Business Impact Assessment
	7 Appendix C - Housing Action Plan
	7 Appendix D - Housing Impact Assessment
	7 Appendix E - Financial Inclusion Action Plan
	7 Appendix F - Financial Inclusion Impact Assessment
	7 Appendix G - Health Action Plan
	7 Appendix H - Health Impact Assessment
	7 Appendix I - Community Safety Action Plan
	7 Appendix J - Community Safety Impact Assessment
	7 Appendix K - Voluntary and Local Councils Impact Assessment
	7 Appendix L - Vountary and Local Councils Action Plan
	7 Appendix M - Organisational Response IA and Action Plan

	8 Poverty Task and Finish Group: Terms of Reference
	9 Consultation and Engagement Task and Finish Group: Update
	10 Work Programme
	11 Urgent Business
	12 Date of the next meeting

